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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
 

SEC FORM 17-A 
 

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 
 OF THE SECURITIES REGULATION CODE AND SECTION 141 

OF THE CORPORATION CODE OF THE PHILIPPINES 
  
 
1. For the fiscal year ended:  December 31, 2018 
 
2. SEC Identification Number:  97869                3.  BIR Tax Identification No.: 000-486-050-000 
 
4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter: BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. 
 
5.   Manila__________________________           6.        (SEC Use Only) 
      Province, Country or other jurisdiction of 

incorporation or organization 
       Industry Classification Code: 
 

 
7.   No. 12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Avenue 
      Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City, Philippines 
 Address of principal office 
 
8.   (632) 688-1288 
 Issuer's telephone number, including area code 
 
9.   N/A 
      Former name, former address, and former fiscal year, if changed since last report. 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the SRC, or Sec. 4 and 8 of the RSA 
 

Subscribed and Outstanding 
 Title of Each Class No. of Shares  Amount in Pesos  
 Common 2,162,475,312  Php 2,162,475,312.00 
 Total 2,162,475,312    Php 2,162,475,312.00 
 

 Authorized  Outstanding  
 Short Term Commercial Paper Php 15,000,000,000.00  1,764,100,000.00 
 Total Php 15,000,000,000.00           1,764,100,000.00 
 
11. Are any or all of these securities listed on a Stock Exchange.   
 
 Yes [X]       No  [  ] 
 
 If yes, state the name of such stock exchange and the classes of securities listed therein: 

 
 The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc.   Common Shares only 
 
12. Check whether the issuer: 
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the SRC and SRC Rule 17.1 thereunder or 
Section 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 of The Corporation 
Code of the Philippines during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such shorter period that the 
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registrant was required to file such reports); 
 
  Yes [X]  No [  ]  
 

(b)  has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days.   
 
 Yes [X]        No [  ]  
 
13.   Aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates: Php 565,552,145.20 
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PART  I    - BUSINESS &  GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
 
 BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. (the “Company” or the “Parent Company”) is a domestic 
corporation incorporated with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in 1981 under 
Republic Act No. 8556 (the “Financing Company Act”), and listed with The Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 
(“PSE”) on January 6, 1997.  The Company is 88%-owned by BDO Unibank, Inc. (“BDO Unibank”), a 
company incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines.  The Company is the principal business unit of BDO 
Unibank engaged in leasing and financing. 
 
 The Company became a subsidiary of BDO Unibank when BDO Unibank and Equitable PCI Bank, 
Inc. entered into a merger effective May 31, 2007, with BDO Unibank as the surviving entity.  BDO Unibank is 
presently engaged in the banking business as a universal bank. 
 
 BDO Rental, Inc. (“BDO Rental”), formerly Equitable Pentad Rental, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company, is licensed by the SEC to engage in renting and leasing of equipment and real properties.  It 
started commercial operations on June 30, 2005. 
 
 The Company and BDO Rental continue their respective operations up to present. The Company and 
BDO Rental are not under any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings, and have not undertaken any 
material reclassification, consolidation or purchase or a sale of a significant amount of assets not in the 
ordinary course of their respective businesses. 
 
Principal Products/Services 
 
 The Company’s principal business is providing leasing and financing products to individual and 
corporate clients.  
 
 The Company’s leasing products include direct leases, sale-leaseback arrangements, and operating 
leases.  The Company’s financing products include commercial and retail loans, installment paper purchases, 
factoring of receivables and floor stock financing.  Loan availments of clients are used to finance the purchase 
of automobiles, trucks, office equipment, industrial, agricultural and office machinery, real property, and 
operating assets such as receivables and inventories.  
 
 The following is a general description of the Company’s leasing and financing products: 
  
 Leasing Products: 
  

Finance Lease -- A source of medium-term financing for the acquisition of capital equipment 
and is ideal if the client plans to keep the asset up to the end of the term. With just capital 
outlay, the client can use the asset immediately. 

 
Operating Lease – This refers to a short-term lease that does not permit the recovery of the 
investment by the lessor during the initial period of lease.  It is an off-balance sheet transaction 
where rentals are recorded in the lessee's book as expense.  The operating lease product is 
being offered by BDO Rental. 

 
Direct Lease - The Company purchases an asset selected by a client from a supplier and 
leases it to the client.  Through this lease arrangement, the client overcomes budgetary 
constraints, enhances efficiency in cash flow management through rental payments, and 
minimizes the required equity contribution for asset acquisition. 
 
Sale-Leaseback - The Company purchases an asset from a client based on appraised value.  
The Company then “leases back” the asset to the client.  This type of lease arrangement 
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simultaneously provides liquidity to the client and continued use of the asset. 
 

 Financing Products: 
 
Amortized Commercial Loan - The Company provides financing to commercial clients through 
the mortgage of the latter’s equipment or real property. The client is able to avail of longer 
amortization terms as compared to unsecured loans. An amortized commercial loan 
addresses the client’s capital expenditure or permanent working capital need. 
 
Installment Paper Purchase - The Company purchases on a “with recourse basis” the 
installment sales contracts of a client usually engaged in motor vehicle, appliance, or 
equipment dealership at a stipulated discount, thereby providing liquidity to the client. 

 
 Factoring of Receivables - As a variation of the receivables discounting product, the 

Company’s purchase of a client’s short-term receivables is on a “with or without recourse 
basis”, with the Company directly collecting payment from the client’s debtors.  The client 
gains immediate liquidity and transfers responsibility of the collection process to the 
Company.  

 
 Floor Stock Financing - Ideal for transport vehicle and equipment dealers, Floor Stock 

Financing is a revolving short-term credit facility that finances the purchase of inventory 
assets – motor vehicles, trucks, and heavy equipment – from manufacturers. Floor Stock 
Financing will ensure that the client’s inventory is in place when sales opportunities arise, 
without having to self-finance purchase. 

  
          Variations of each leasing or financing products are offered, depending on the nature of the client’s 
business, preferences and financial position. 
 
 As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s leasing and financing products contributed 57.02% and 
31.05% to its gross revenues, respectively, vis-a-vis 2018 projected ratios of 55.84% and 33.40% respectively. 
 
New Product or Services 
 
 There were no publicly announced new products or services. 
 
Sales Contracts 
  
 The Company's business is not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers, the loss of 
any one or more of which would have a material adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries taken as 
a whole.  
 
 None of the Company’s customers account for, or based upon existing orders will account for, 30% or 
more of the Company's sales, and the Company has no existing major sales contracts. 
 
Government Approval   
 

Under the Financing Company Act, only corporations for which a license to engage in the business of 
a financing company has been granted by the SEC may engage in both leasing and financing activities. Apart 
from the foregoing requirement, no other government approval is needed for the Company's and its 
subsidiary’s principal products and services. 

 
Market Position 
 
 The Company occupies a dominant position in the leasing and financing industry. 
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Marketing of Products/Services  
 

The Company markets its products through its head office located at the 39th Floor BDO Corporate 
Center Ortigas, No.12 ADB Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City and its branch network nationwide.  
The Company has an extensive branch network in the leasing and financing industry, with five branches 
located in Cagayan de Oro City (Misamis Oriental), Cebu City (Cebu), Davao City (Davao), Iloilo City (Iloilo) 
and Angeles City (Pampanga). 

 
The Company has a wholly-owned subsidiary, BDO Rental, licensed by the SEC to engage in renting 

and leasing of equipment and real properties.  BDO Rental started its commercial operations on June 30, 
2005. 
  
 As part of the BDO Unibank Group (defined as BDO Unibank and its subsidiaries), the Company is 
able to gain name recognition and marketing referrals provided by BDO Unibank, via the latter’s nationwide 
branches and institutional banking group. BDO Unibank’s well-established presence throughout the country 
helps the Company in understanding the local business environment and finding potential clients.    
 
Competition 
 
 The SEC's licensing requirements allow financing companies to engage in both leasing and financing 
activities.  As a matter of practice, financing companies are classified based on their product specializations 
and target markets.   
 

Some financing companies may focus on consumer leasing and financing, while others, like the 
Company, concentrate on commercial leasing and financing. Among financing companies targeting 
commercial clients, there are differences in the market segment being served, with certain financing 
companies focusing on established prime companies, and others focusing on smaller clients.   

 
The Company competes with other financing companies affiliated with other banks, independent 

financing companies, and other financing companies affiliated with diversified financial services firms. 
However, its key competitors are those firms engaged in servicing the leasing or financing requirements of 
commercial clients in the broader “Top 5,000” Philippine companies, which include small-and medium-
enterprises (SMEs). 

 
 The principal competitors of the Company are Orix Metro Leasing & Finance Corporation, BPI 
Leasing Corporation, LBP Leasing Corporation, Japan PNB Leasing & Finance Corporation, UCPB Leasing 
and Finance Corporation, First Malayan Leasing and Finance, Allied Leasing and Toyota Financial. The 
market strengths of the Company’s competitors are their competitive pricing of interest rates and fast turn 
around time.  However, the Company believes it can effectively compete with other companies by its wide 
branch network, wherein each branch offers the same leasing and financing product lines as the head office. 
 
Sources and Availability of Raw Materials 
 
 The Company is not dependent upon one or la imited number of suppliers/dealers for essential raw 
materials, equipment, energy or other items.  
 
Related Party Transactions         
 

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the Company 
and its subsidiary, BDO Rental, Inc. (the Company and BDO Rental collectively referred to as the “Group”) 
and the Group’s related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  These parties include: 
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(a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, 
or under common control with the Group; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an 
interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant influence over the Group and close 
members of the family of any such individual; and (d) the Group’s retirement plan. 
       In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 

In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into transactions with BDO Unibank and other 
affiliates.  Under the Group’s policy, these transactions are made substantially on the same terms as with 
other individuals and businesses of comparable risks.  
 

Policies and procedures have been put in place to manage potential conflicts of interests arising from 
related party transactions.  Even as the Company’s Executive Committee approves these transactions, the 
Related Party Transactions Committee composed of independent and non-executive directors, reviews the 
terms and conditions of the approved transactions to ensure that these are done on an arms-length basis, that 
no preferential treatment is accorded, and they are negotiated as a regular business transaction in 
accordance with regulations.  These transactions are then elevated to the Board of Directors (the “Board”) 
for confirmation and approval.  Directors and officers who have interest in the transactions abstain from 
participating in the discussion.  The details of the deliberations are included in the minutes of the Board and 
Board Committee meetings. Approved related party transactions are properly tagged for monitoring and 
reporting of exposures.  
 
Intellectual Property 
 

As of December 31, 2018, the Company has no existing or expiring patents, copyrights, licenses, 
franchises, concessions, and royalty agreements. As of even date, the Company is the licensee from BDO 
Unibank of the following registered trademark with the Philippine Intellectual Property Office:  

 
Trademarks  Validity of Registration  

 

 
May 4, 2014 to May 4, 2024 
 

 
Governmental Regulation 
 

The Company does not foresee new changes or amendments to the Financing Company Act that 
would significantly affect the Company’s business. 
 
Research and Development 
 
 The Company, being in the financing business, does not have research and development activities. In 
this regard, it does not incur research and development costs and is not affected by any environmental law. 
 
Employees 
 
 As of December 31, 2018, the Company had 200 employees – 20 senior officers, 89 junior officers 
and 91 rank & file employees. Of the total personnel, Executive Office is composed of two employees; 132 
under the Marketing group; 52 under the Operations group (Comptrollership and Operations); nine under Risk 
and Compliance; three under Treasury; and two under the Company's subsidiary, BDO Rental.   
 
 The Company believes that it has maintained a good relationship with its employees.  Rank & file 
employees receive benefits similar to those granted to the rank & file employees of BDO Unibank, under the 
terms of a Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”) between BDO Unibank and BDOEA-ALU, a legitimate 
labor organization duly registered with the Department of Labor and Employment. The CBA expires on 
October 31, 2020.  Coverage of the CBA includes wage increases, allowances, bonuses, loans and other 
benefits. 
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Risk Factors 
 

Portfolio Concentration Risks 
 
 As of December 31, 2018, 70% of the Company's leasing and financing portfolio consisted of 
exposure in firms in the following sectors: transportation, construction, financial services and entertainment, 
and other community services. The Company maintains a general policy of avoiding excessive exposure in 
any particular sector of the Philippine economy. The Company actively seeks to increase its exposure in 
industry sectors, which it believes possess attractive growth opportunities. Conversely, it actively seeks to 
reduce its exposure in industry sectors where growth potential is minimal.  Although the Company’s leasing 
and financing portfolio is composed of transactions with a wide variety of businesses, the results of operations 
and financial condition of the Company may be adversely affected by any downturn in these sectors as well 
as in the Philippine economy in general. 
 

The Company is exposed to a variety of financial risk, which results from both its operating and 
investing activities. The Company’s risk management is coordinated in close cooperation with the Board and 
focuses on actively securing the Company’s short-to-medium-term cash flows by minimizing the exposure to 
financial markets. 
 
 The Company does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor 
does it write options. The most significant financial risks to which the Company is exposed to are described 
below. 
 
 Risk Management 
 

Risk management of the Company's credit, market, liquidity, and operational risks is an essential part 
of the Company's organizational structure and philosophy.  The risk management process is essentially a top-
down process that emanates from the Board.  The Board approves the overall institutional tolerance risk, 
including risk policies and risk philosophy of the Company. 

 
Foreign Currency Sensitivity 

 
Most of the Company’s transactions are carried out in Philippine peso, its functional currency.  

Exposures to currency exchange rate on financial assets arise from an insignificant portion of the Company’s 
leasing and financing portfolio, cash and cash equivalents and lease deposits which are denominated in US 
dollars. 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 

 The Company follows a prudent policy on managing its assets and liabilities so as to ensure that 
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates are kept within acceptable limits. The current composition of the 
Company’s assets and liabilities results in significant negative gap positions for repricing periods under one 
year.  Consequently, the Company may be vulnerable to increases in market interest rates.  However, in 
consideration of the substantial net interest margins between the Company’s marginal funding cost and its 
interest-earning assets, and favorable lease and financing terms which allow the Company to reprice annually, 
and to reprice at any time in response to extraordinary fluctuations in interest rates, the Company believes 
that the adverse impact of any interest rate increase would be limited.  In addition, during periods of declining 
interest rates, the existence of a negative gap position favorably impacts the Company. 
 

Credit Risk 
 
  The Company manages credit risk by setting limits for individual borrowers, and groups of borrowers 
and industry segments.  The Company maintains a general policy of avoiding excessive exposure in any 
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particular sector of the Philippine economy. 
 
 Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.  
Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to developments affecting a 
particular industry or geographic location 
 

Liquidity Risk 
 
  The primary business of financing companies entails the borrowing and re-lending of funds.  
Consequently, financing companies are subjected to substantial leverage, and may therefore be exposed to 
the potential financial risks that accompany borrowing. 
 
 The Company expects that its continued asset expansion will result in the higher funding 
requirements in the future.  Like most financing companies in the Philippines, the Company does not have a 
license to engage in quasi-banking function, and as such, is precluded from engaging in deposit-taking 
activities.  In addition, it is precluded under the General Banking Act from incurring borrowings from more than 
19 lenders at any one time, which to some extent, restricts its access to the public debt markets. 
 
 The Company believes that it currently has adequate debt funding from banks, other financial 
institutions, and through the issuance of Commercial Papers (“CPs”).  The Company has a license from the 
SEC to issue a total of P15 billion CPs.  
 
 The Company manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments 
for long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflow due in a day-to-day business. 
 
Taxation 
 
 Relevant Tax Regulations 
  
    The Company is governed by the National Internal Revenue Code ("NIRC" or the "Tax Code") and 
abides with all the relevant provisions of the NIRC. The following are the significant Revenue Regulations 
("RR") that were issued in 2018 that apply to the Company. 

 
a) On January 4, 2018, RR No. 1-2018 was issued which provides the rules and regulations 
implementing the documentary stamp tax rate adjustment under Republic Act No. 10963 (the “TRAIN 
Law”).  

 
b) On January 19, 2018, RR No. 6-2018 revoked RR No. 12-2013 relative to the requirements for 
deductibility of certain expenses, thereby reinstating the provisions of Section 2.58.5 of RR No. 14-2002, 
as amended by RR No. 17-2003. 
 
c) On February 20, 2018, RR No. 8-2018 was issued which implements the amended provisions on 
income taxation pursuant to the TRAIN Law. 
 
d) RR No. 11-2018, issued on March 15, 2018, amends certain provisions of RR No. 2-98, as 
amended, to implement further amendments introduced by the TRAIN Law relative to withholding of 
income tax. 
 
e) RR No. 13-2018, issued on March 15, 2018, prescribes the regulations implementing the value-
added tax (VAT) provisions under the TRAIN Law, which further amends RR No. 16-2005 (Consolidated 
VAT Regulations of 2005), as amended. 
 
f) On April 5, 2018, RR No. 14-2018 was issued which amends the provisions of RR No. 11-2018, 
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particularly Sections 2 and 14 relative to withholding of income tax. 
 
g) RR No. 15-2018, issued on April 5, 2018, amends RR No. 8-2018 particularly on the due date for 
updating registration from VAT to Non-VAT. 
 
h) RR No. 19-2018, issued on August 9, 2018, amends RR No. 13- 2018 particularly on the use of 
invoices/receipts of previously registered VAT taxpayers who are now non-VAT taxpayers. 
 
i) On September 14, 2018, RR No. 21-2018 was issued which implements Section 249 (Interest) of 
the Tax Code as amended under the TRAIN Law. 
 

 
Gross Receipts Tax (GRT) / Value-Added Tax (VAT) 

 
 Beginning January 1, 2003, the imposition of VAT on banks and financial institutions became effective 
pursuant to the provisions of Republic Act No. 9010. The Company became subject to VAT based on its gross 
receipts, in lieu of the gross receipts tax (“GRT”) under Sections 121 and 122 of NIRC, which was imposed 
on banks, non-banks financial intermediaries and finance companies in prior years. 
  
 On January 29, 2004, Republic Act No. 9238 was enacted reverting the imposition of GRT on banks 
and financial institutions. This law is retroactive to January 1, 2004. The Company complied with the 
transitional guidelines provided by the Bureau of Internal Revenue (“BIR”) on the final disposition of the 
uncollected Output VAT as of December 31, 2004. 
 
  On May 24, 2005, the amendments on Republic Act No. 9337 was approved amending, among 
others, the GRT on royalties, rentals of property, real or personal, profits from exchange and on net trading 
gains within the taxable year of foreign currency, debt securities, derivatives and other similar financial 
instruments from 5% to 7% effective November 1, 2005. 
 

Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulations 15-2010 and 19-
2011 

 
 The BIR issued RR Nos. 15-2010 and 19-2011 which required certain supplementary information to 
be disclosed as part of the notes to financial statements.  The supplementary information is, however, not a 
required part of the basic financial statements prepared in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards. It is neither a required disclosure under the SEC rules and regulations covering the form and 
content of financial statements under SRC Rule 68. 
 
ITEM 2.   PROPERTIES 
 
 The Company leases its head office premises from BDO Unibank for a period of five years until 
September 30, 2021.  Head office address is at the 39th Floor BDO Corporate Center Ortigas, 12 ADB 
Avenue, Ortigas Center, Mandaluyong City.  In 2018 and 2017, the consolidated rent expense amounted to 
P13.6 million and P13.6 million, respectively. Cagayan de Oro, Davao, Iloilo, Pampanga, and Cebu branches 
also lease their premises from BDO Unibank.  

 
These are the details of the branches’ office premises: 
 
Cagayan: 
• Operates at the 5th Floor BDO Regional Office Lot 6 Blk, Limketkai Commercial Complex, 

Limketkai Avenue, Brgy. 31, Poblacion, Cagayan de Oro City for a period of five years and will 
expire on March 31, 2020.  Monthly rental amounts to P34,926.50 with no escalation clause.   
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Iloilo: 
• Operates at the 2nd Floor, BDO Corporate Center, BDO Valeria Branch, Valeria St., Iloilo City for a 

period of five years and will expire on November 17, 2023. Monthly rental amounts to P11,708.00 
with no escalation clause. 

 
Davao: 
• Operates at the 4th Flr., BDO Davao-Claveria No. 30 C.M. Recto Avenue, Poblacion, Davao City 

for a period of five years and will expire on May 31, 2023. Gross monthly rental amounts to  
P58,836.00 with no escalation clause 

 
Cebu 
• Operates at the Mezzanine Floor, BDO Bldg., Gorordo Ave., Lahug, Cebu City for a period of five 

years and will expire on May 31, 2019 Monthly rental amounts to P46,122.00 with no escalation 
clause. 

 
Pampanga:  
• Operates at the 4th Flr., BDO Angeles-Balibago Branch Building, Ramon Tang Avenue, Diamond 

Subdivision, Balibago, Angeles City for a period of five years and will expire on December 14, 
2023. Gross monthly rental amounts to P82,496.00 with no escalation clause.  

 
 The Company’s facilities, office furniture, fixtures and equipment are in good condition.  Distribution of 
office furniture, fixture and equipment are as follows: Head office – P42.6 million; Cebu – P0.7 million; Davao 
– P0.7 million; Cagayan – P1.3 million; Iloilo – P0.6 million; Pampanga – P1.5 million. 
  
ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
 The Company is party to various legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of its 
operations. No such legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, are expected to have a material 
adverse effect on the Company or its consolidated financial condition. 
 
ITEM 4.   SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS   
 
 There were no matters submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the 
calendar year covered by this report. 
 

PART  II    - OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 5.   MARKET FOR ISSUER’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
  
 On July 15, 2003, the Board approved a program to buy-back shares from the stock market.  The 
Board authorized the Chairman or Vice-Chairman and the President to determine the amount and the timing 
of the program.  The buy-back program was approved on the rationale that the market prices did not reflect 
the true value of the shares and therefore remaining shareholders would benefit from a buy-back into 
treasury.  Purchase of shares are covered by guidelines which include buy-back of shares when the share 
prices is undervalued, the purchase prices shall be at prevailing market prices, and the cash expenditure for 
the buy-back will not adversely affect the liquidity requirements of the Company for its business transactions. 
 
 Total treasury shares as of December 31, 2018 was 62,693,718 shares or a total value of 
P81,776,628. 
 
Dividends  
  

In 2018, the Company declared and paid cash dividends of P0.10 per share for a total cash dividend 
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payment to its stockholders of approximately P216.25 million. This was paid on March 27, 2018 to 
stockholders of record as of March 9, 2018. 
 
 In 2017, the Company declared and paid cash dividends of P0.20 per share for a total cash dividend 
payment to its stockholders of approximately P432.49 million. This was paid on March 29, 2017 to 
stockholders of record as of March 10, 2017. 
 
 Dividends declared by the Company on its shares of stocks are payable in cash or in additional 
shares of stock. The payment of dividends will depend upon the earnings, cash flow and financial condition of 
the Corporations and other factors. 
  
 There are no restrictions that will limit the ability to pay dividends on common equity. 
 
Market Information 
 
 The principal market for the Company’s common equity is the Philippine Stock Exchange. 
 
 The market prices of the Company’s share are as follows: 
 

2019 High Low 2018 High Low 

1st quarter 
 

2.29 
 

2.22 
 

2nd quarter 2.84 2.83 

   3rd quarter 2.58 2.57 

   4th quarter 2.20 2.19 

2017 High Low 2016 High Low 

1st  quarter 3.96 3.95 1st quarter 2.85 2.84 

2nd quarter 4.05 3.90 2nd quarter 4.15 4.00 

3rd quarter 4.08 4.05 3rd quarter 3.85 3.77 

4th quarter 3.89 3.78 4th quarter 3.79 3.79 
 
 As at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the closing price of the Company’s share were at 
P2.28 and P2.15, respectively. 
 
 Total number of stockholders as of March 31, 2019 was 1,112 and as of December 31, 2018 was 
1,116. Common shares outstanding as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 totaled 2,162,475,312. 
 
Holders 
 
  The Company's common stockholders, with their respective shareholdings as of March 31, 2019 are 
as follows:   
  
 Name No. of Shares Held % to Total 
 
    BDO Unibank, Inc.* 1,914,711,807  88.542597% 
                                                
*  Record and beneficial (affiliate and majority stockholder) 
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Various Stockholders    247,763,505   11.457403% 
    2,162,475,312  100.00000% 
 

The top 20 stockholders of the Company as of March 31, 2019 are as follows: 
 

Name of Stockholders Securities Shares Held Total Outstanding 
BDO Unibank, Inc./Banco De Oro Unibank Inc.* Common 1,914,711,807 88.542597% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) Common 246,409,475 11.394787% 
Samuel Uy Chua Common 21,000,000 0.971109% 
Equitable Computer Services, Inc. A/C  Common 12,320,000 0.569717% 
Marylen Castro Mateo Common 3,795,000 0.175493% 
Jesselen Castro Verzosa Common 3,795,000 0.175493% 
Samuel Uy Chua Common 3,011,150 0.139246% 
Constantino Chua Common 2,497,200 0.115479% 
Equitable Computer Services, Inc. Common 2,070,200 0.095733% 
Victor Barranda Common 1,157,475 0.053525% 
Mercury Group of Companies, Inc. Common 1,089,165 0.050367% 
Constantino Chua &/or Willington Chua &/or George  
W. Chua 

Common 1,020,000 0.047168% 

Nardo R. Leviste Common 759,000 0.035099% 
Willington/Constantino Chua/George W. Chua Chua Common 584,430 0.027026% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Foreign) Common 559,714 0.025883% 
Willington Chua Common 508,530 0.023516% 
Pablo Son Keng Go Common 455,400 0.023516% 
Wilson Go Common 438,625 0.020283% 
Lim Chin Ben Common 425,040 0.019655% 
Sysmart Corporation Common 358,835 0.016593% 

 
 
The top 20 stockholders of the Company as of December 31, 2018 are as follows: 
 

Name of Stockholders Securities Shares Held Total Outstanding 
BDO Unibank, Inc/Banco De Oro Unibank Inc./* Common 1,914,711,807 88.542597% 
PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino) Common 246,289,365 11.389233% 
Samuel Uy Chua Common 21,000,000 0.971109% 
Equitable Computer Services, Inc A/C Cequit11 Common 12,320,000 0.569717% 
Marylen Castro Mateo Common 3,795,000 0.175493% 
Jesselen Castro Versoza Common 3,795,000 0.175493% 
Samuel Uy Chua Common 3,011,150 0.139246% 
Constantino Chua Common 2,497,200 0.115479% 
Equitable Computer Services Inc. Common 2,070,200 0.095733% 

                                                
*  Record and beneficial (affiliate and majority stockholder) 
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Victor Barranda Common 1,157,475 0.053525% 
Mercury Group of Companies Common 1,089,165 0.050367% 
Constantino Chua &/or Willington Chua &/or George 
W. Chua 

Common 1,020,000 0.047168% 

Nardo R. Leviste Common 759,000 0.035099% 
Willington / Constantino Chua / George W. Chua 
Chua 

Common 584,430 0.027026% 

PCD Nominee Corporation (Foreign) Common 541,714 0.025050% 
Willington Chua Common 508,530 0.023516% 
Pablo Son Keng Po Common 455,400 0.021059% 
Wilson Go Common 438,625 0.020283% 
Lim Chin Ben Common 425,040 0.019655% 
Sysmart Corporation Common 358,835 0.016594% 

 
Recent Sales of Unregistered or Exempt Securities, Including Recent Issuance of Securities 
Constituting an Exempt Transaction 
 
 There were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including recent issuance of 
securities constituting an exempt transaction. 
 
ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 
 
2018 Compared to 2017 
  
 Gross income for the year ended December 31, 2018 was P3,215.5 million, an increase of P59.0  
million, or 1.9% from P3,156.5 million in 2017. Interest and discounts for the year ended December 31, 2018 
were P1,967.1 million, up by P48.8 million or 2.5% from P1,918.3 million in 2017. Rent Income for the year 
stood at P938.3 million, an increase of P16.1 million or 1.7% from P922.2 million in 2017. The Company’s 
leasing and financing portfolio as of December 31, 2018 was at P34.55 billion. 
 
 Interest and financing charges for 2018 amounted to P1,170.2 million, consisting mainly of finance 
charges from borrowings of P1,164.6 million and interest expense on lease deposits of P5.6 million. The 
increase of P320.1 million in financing charges is attributed to the increase in borrowing rate in 2018. Interest 
expense on leased deposits in 2018 amounted to P5.6 million or an increase of P1.7M from 2017's P3.9 
million. 
 
 Total provision for impairment losses decreased from P63.5 million in 2017 to P1.0 million in 2018. 
This was due to the implementation of PFRS 9. Accounts written off in 2018 amounted to P0.3 million. 
 
 Taxes and licenses amounted to P345.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, an increase 
of P74.3 million, or 27.5% from the P270.8 million reported for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The 
increase was mainly the result of higher Documentary Stamp Taxes in 2018 vis a vis 2017, attributed to the 
implementation of the TRAIN law. 
 
 Salaries and employee benefits expense amounted to P235.7 in 2018 as compared to P227.0 million 
in 2017. Occupancy and equipment related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to 
P911.8 million, an increase of P46.4 million, or 5.4% from December 2017’s P865.4 million.  
  
 Litigation/assets acquired expenses amounted to P14.3 million in 2018, a decrease by P27.3 million 
from P41.6 million in 2017.  
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 Other expenses decreased slightly to P117.0 million in 2018 as compared to P120.5 million in 2017. 
 
 The Company registered a net income of P330.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.  

 
Total assets amounted to P41.5 billion in December 31, 2018, a decrease of P1.3 billion from P42.8 

billion as of December 2017. Following PFRS 9, Available-for-sale securities (AFS) were reclassified to 
Financial assets at fair value through OCI (FVOCI) in 2018. FVOCI decreased from P3.52 billion (AFS) last 
year to P3.6 billion this year due to investment maturities. Leasing and Financing portfolio amounted to P34.6 
billion. Property and Equipment-net amounted to P2.24 billion as of 2018, a slight decrease from last year’s 
P2.26 billion.  Investment properties-net slightly increased to P354.5. Other assets amounted to P711.7 million 
in 2018. 
 
 Income tax payable, accounts payable, and other liabilities decreased to P587.1 million from P932.4 
million last year. 
 
  Lease deposits, amounting to P6.63 billion in 2018, increased by P643.7 million or 10.7% from last 
year's P5.99 billion.  
                                        
 Stockholders’ equity decreased by P99.3 million or 1.8%. 
 
 The Company’s five key performance indicators are as follows:  
 
             December 2018        December 2017 
  Current Ratio       0.42:1      0.38:1 
  Quick asset ratio       0.41:1      0.37:1 
  Debt to Equity Ratio      6.77:1      6.87:1 
  Net Profit Margin    10.29%    18.08% 
  Return on Equity      6.13%    10.57% 
 
 The Current Ratio (computed as current assets divided by current liabilities) and Quick Asset Ratio 
(quick asset divided by current liabilities) decrease from last year's 0.38:1 and 0.37:1, respectively. Debt to 
equity ratio, computed as total liabilities divided by total equity, decreased from 6.87:1 in 2017 to 6.77:1 in 
2018. Net Profit Margin which is computed as net income over gross revenue, declined due to higher 
operating expenses. Return on Equity, which is net income over average equity, declined to 6.13% in 2018. 
 
2017 Compared to 2016 
  
 Gross income for the year ended December 31, 2017 was P3.16 billion, an increase of P302.2  
million, or 10.6% from P2.85 billion in 2016. Interest and discounts for the year ended December 31, 2017 
were P1.92 billion, an increase of P157.6 million or 9% from P1.76 billion in 2016. Rent Income for the year 
ended December 31, 2017 were P922.2 million, an increase of P32.0 million or 3.6% from P890.2 million in 
2016. The increase was due to higher operating lease income from its subsidiary, BDO Rental, Inc. The 
Company’s leasing and financing portfolio as of December 31, 2017 was at P34.54 billion, a P2.73 billion 
increase, or 8.6% from P31.81 billion as of December 31, 2017 with leasing portfolio improving by 7.0% or an 
increase of P1.2 billion. 
 
 Interest and financing charges for 2017 amounted to P850.3 million, consisting mainly of finance 
charges from borrowings of P844.4 million and interest expense on lease deposits of P3.9 million. The 
increase of P176.8 million in financing charges is attributed to the increase in Bills Payable from P27.27 billion 
last year to P30.48 billion this year. Interest expense on leased deposits in 2017 amounted to P3.9 million or 
an increase of P0.7M from 2016's P3.2 million. 
 
 As of December 31, 2017, total provision for impairment losses stood at P50.0 million. There were 
accounts written off in 2017 amounting to P0.3 million. 
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 Taxes and licenses amounted to P268.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, an increase 
of P23.4 million, or 9.5% from P245.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.  The increase was 
mainly the result of higher Documentary Stamp Tax in 2017 vis a vis 2016, by P17.0 million. 
 
 Salaries and employee benefits expense amounted to P227.0 in 2017 as compared to P220.7 million 
in 2016. Occupancy and equipment related expenses for the year ended December 31, 2017 amounted to 
P865.4 million, an increase of P90.2 million, or 11.6% from December 2016’s P775.2 million. This was 
brought about by the operating lease business of BDO Rental. 
  
 Litigation/assets acquired expenses increase by P11.6 or from P30.0 million in 2016 to P41.6 million 
in 2017.  
 
 Other expenses increased to P120.5 million in 2017 as compared to P108.7 million as of 2016. 
 
 The Company registered a net income of P570.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.  
 

Total assets amounted to P42.8 billion in December 31, 2017, an increase of P3.9 billion from the 
P38.9 billion balance of December 2016. Available-for-sale securities increased from P3.52 billion last year to 
P4.64 billion this year brought about by new investments in a corporate issuance. Leasing and Financing 
portfolio increased by 9.4%, representing an increase of P2.94 billion from last year. Property and Equipment-
net amounted to P2.26 billion as of 2017, a slight decrease from last year’s P2.38 billion.  Investment 
properties-net decreased to P354.4 million from 2016’s P426.5 million. Other assets decreased slightly from 
P819.3 million in 2016 to P806.2 million in 2017. 
 
 Income tax payable, accounts payable, and other liabilities increased to P932.1 million from P702.0 
million last year. 
 
  Lease deposits, amounting to P5.99 billion in 2017, increased by P407.9 million or 7% from last year's 
P5.58 billion. This was also due to the increase in volume of lease transactions of the Company. 
                                                        
 Stockholders’ equity increased by P92.9 million or 1.7%, due to Net Income for the year, after 
deducting cash dividends paid out to shareholders. 
 
 The Company’s five key performance indicators are as follows:  
 
   
             December 2017        December 2016 
  Current Ratio       0.38:1      0.41:1 
  Quick aset ratio       0.37:1      0.41:1 
  Debt to Equity Ratio      6.87:1      6.27:1 
  Net Profit Margin    18.08%    19.97% 
  Return on Equity    10.57%    10.78% 
 
 The Current Ratio (computed as current assets divided by current liabilities) and Quick Asset Ratio 
(quick asset divided by current liabilities) decrease from last year's 0.41:1. Debt to equity ratio, computed as 
total liabilities divided by total equity, increased from 6.27:1 in 2016 to 6.87:1 in 2017 because of more 
corporate and bank funding availed of to finance the increase in lease/loan portfolio during the year. Net Profit 
Margin which is computed as net income over gross revenue, declined slightly due to higher operating 
expenses. Return on Equity, which is net income over average equity, declined to 10.57% in 2017. 
 
Policy on Revenue Recognition – Other Income 
  
 Income related to the administration and servicing of loans are recognized as revenue once the 
services are rendered. These are included under Other Income such as Service Fees, Gain on disposal of 
property, share in net income (loss) on equity investment, etc. These are recognized as they are earned. 
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 Key Variable and Other Qualitative and Quantitative Factors 
 
 There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that will have any material impact on the 
Company’s liquidity. 
 
 There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 
company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 
 There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations and other 
relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the reporting 
period. 
 

There were no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected 
to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing 
operations.  There were also no significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s 
continuing operations. 

 
 There are no seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of 
operations. 
 
Internal and Externals Sources of Liquidity 
 
 The Company’s internal liquidity comes from the daily collections from various clients.  External 
sources range from credit facilities extended by various banks, corporate and individual investors.  The 
Company is confident to meet its current and long-term obligations as they mature. 
  
Material Commitments for Capital Expenditures 
 
 There were no material commitments for capital expenditures.  
 
Projections 
 
   Total Assets by end 2019 will be at P40.3 billion, with Net Loans and Other Receivables projected at 
P33.4 billion.  For 2019, total Revenue is estimated at P3.71 billion, with Interest and Financing Charges 
reaching P1.68 billion by the end of the year. Depreciation of assets under Operating Lease will be about 
P862 million. 
 
 Funding will be mainly sourced from the CPs, bank lines and collections. The Company was able to 
renew its license to issue P15 Billion worth of Short Term CPs for 2019. 
 
ITEM 7.   FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements of the Company included in the 2018 Annual Report to Stockholders are 
incorporated herein by reference.  The schedules listed in the accompanying Index to Supplementary 
Schedules are filed as part of this Form 17-A. 

 
Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters 
 
Information on Independent Accountant and Other Related Matters 
 

(1) External Audit Fees and Services 
 

(a)  Audit and Audit-Related Fees 
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The aggregate fees billed for each of the last three fiscal years for professional services 
rendered by the external auditor was P1.009 million for the year 2018, P1.068 million for the 
year 2017 and P0.839 million for the year 2016. These fees cover services rendered by the 
external auditor for audit of the financial statements and other services in connection with 
statutory and regulatory filings for fiscal year 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

 
 (b) Tax fees and other fees 

 
No other fees were paid to the auditing firm of Punongbayan & Araullo, CPAs (“P&A”) for the 
last three fiscal years. 

 
 (c) The Board Audit Committee has the oversight responsibility over the audit function and 

activities of Internal and External auditors. It provides assurance that (1) financial disclosures 
made by the management as presented in the Internal Auditor’s report reasonably reflect the 
financial condition; the results of operation; and the plans and long-term commitments; and 
(2) internal controls are operating as intended and whether modifications are necessary. 

 
The Board Audit Committee has the responsibility to select and recommend to the Board the 
External Auditors. It reviews the audit coverage of the External Auditors and deliberates on 
their audit report prior to endorsement to the Board for approval. It reports to the Board audit-
related matters requiring the Board’s action. 
 

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL    
DISCLOSURE 
 
 In 2018 and 2017, the auditing firm of P&A has been appointed as the Company’s Independent Public 
Accountant. There was no event in the past where P&A and the Company had any disagreement with regard 
to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope 
and procedures. 
 
 

PART  III    - CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 9.   DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT  
  

1. Directors and Corporate Officers 
 
 The Board is empowered to direct, manage and supervise, under its collective responsibility, the 
affairs of the Company. The members of the Board are elected annually by the stockholders to hold office for 
a term of one year and shall serve until their respective successors have been elected and qualified.  
  
 The Board meets monthly to discuss the Company’s operations and approve matters requiring its 
approval. Materials containing matters to be taken up during the Board meeting are distributed to the directors 
at least five days prior to the scheduled Board meeting.  

 
 Below is the list of the incumbent members of the Board and all persons nominated to be part of the 
Board, and the corporate officers and their business experience during the past five years:    
 
TERESITA T. SY 
Chairperson 
68 years old, Filipino 
 

Ms. Sy was elected to the Board of the Company on September 20, 2005 and currently serves as 
Chairperson of the Board. She is also the Chairperson of the Board of Directors of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
where she has been a member since 1977. Concurrently, she serves as the Chairperson and/or Director 
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of various subsidiaries and affiliates of BDO Unibank such as BDO Private Bank, Inc., BDO Capital & 
Investment Corporation, BDO Foundation, Inc., and BDO Life Assurance Company, Inc  Ms. Sy also 
serves as Advisor to the Board of One Network Bank, Inc. (A Rural Bank of BDO).   
 
Ms. Sy is the Vice Chairperson of SM Investments Corporation and Advisor to the Board of SM Prime 
Holdings, Inc.  She also sits as Chairperson of SM Retail, Inc.  She brings to the board her diverse 
expertise in banking and finance, retail merchandising, mall and real estate development.  A graduate of 
Assumption College with a Bachelor of Arts and Science degree in Commerce major in Management.  

 
ROBERTO E. LAPID 
Vice Chairman and President 
62 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Lapid was appointed Vice Chairman of the Company on December 1, 2010, and appointed as its 
President on April 23, 2014.  He is concurrently President and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
BDO Rental, and a member of the Board of Trustees of the Foundation for Carmelite Scholastics.  He was 
formerly the President of Equitable Exchange, Inc. and the Vice Chairman/Director of EBC Investments, 
Inc.  Mr. Lapid holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from the University of the 
Philippines. 

 

JESSE H.T. ANDRES 
Independent Director 
54 years old, Filipino 

 
Atty. Andres was elected to the Board of the Company on September 20, 2005, and is presently the 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, Nomination Committee, and the Related Party 
Transactions Committee, and a member of the Company’s Board Audit Committee and Risk Management 
Committee.  Moreover, he also serves as Independent Director of MMPC Auto Financial Services, Inc. 
and One Network Bank, Inc. (A Rural Bank of BDO).  In September 2004, he was appointed member of 
the Board of Trustees of the Government Service Insurance System where he also served as the 
Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee for six years. He was also Chairman of the Board of 
GSIS Family Bank from June 2007 to October 2010.  Since July 1, 2011, he is the Managing Partner of 
the Andres Padernal & Paras Law Offices. From 1996 to 2003, he was a Partner at PECABAR Law 
Offices, where he became Co-Head of the Litigation Department in 2001. He was also Chief of Staff 
(Undersecretary) of the Office of the Vice-President (2004-2010).  Previously, he was Senior Manager of 
the Philippine Exporters’ Foundation, and Board Secretary of the  Department of Trade and Industry’s 
Garments and Textile Export Board.  Atty. Andres holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the 
School of Economics, University of the Philippines and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of 
the Philippines College of Law.  

 
ANTONIO N. COTOCO 
Director 
70 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Cotoco was elected to the Board of the Company on January 25, 2001.  He is a Senior Executive Vice 
President of BDO Unibank and a member of its Board Credit Committee.  Mr. Cotoco is Chairman of BDO 
Rental, Inc., and he is also director of the following: BDO Remit Limited, Express Padala (Hong Kong) 
Limited, BDO Remit (Macau) Ltd., and BDO Remit (USA), Inc.  Currently, he also serves as a Director of 
OAC Realty & Development Corporation.  For more than 40 years, Mr. Cotoco has been involved in 
investment banking, corporate finance, treasury, consumer banking, credit, business development & 
account management. Mr. Cotoco holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the University 
of the Philippines.     
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MA. LEONORA V. DE JESUS 
Lead Independent Director 
68 years old, Filipino 
 

Ms. De Jesus was elected to the Board of the Company on May 12, 2008.  She is presently the 
Chairperson of the Company’s Board Audit Committee, and a member of the Corporate Governance 
Committee, Nomination Committee, and Related Party Transactions Committee. She is also an 
Independent Director of BDO Capital & Investment Corporation and One Network Bank, Inc. (A Rural 
Bank of BDO). Ms. De Jesus also serves as Director of Risks, Opportunities Assessment and 
Management (ROAM), Inc. and as University President of the Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila.  In 
addition, she is an accredited SEC trainor on corporate governance.  In the past, Ms. De Jesus was an 
Independent Director of Equitable Savings Bank, PCI Capital Corporation, BDO Elite Savings Bank, Inc. 
(formerly GE Money Bank, Inc.), and SM Development Corporation. She was a professorial lecturer at the 
University of the Philippines, Diliman, and at the De La Salle Graduate School of Business and 
Governance. She was also a member of the Board of Governors of the Philippine National Red Cross.  
Ms. De Jesus was a trustee of the Government Service Insurance System from 1998 until 2004, and was 
a member of the cabinets of President Corazon C. Aquino, President Fidel V. Ramos and President 
Joseph E. Estrada.  She holds Bachelor’s, Master’s and Doctorate degrees in Psychology from the 
University of the Philippines.  

 
JECI A. LAPUS 
Non-Executive Director 
65 years old, Filipino 
 

Hon. Lapus was elected as to the Board of the Company on April 23, 2014 and is presently a member of 
the Company’s Related Party Transactions Committee.  He is also a Director of One Network Bank, Inc. 
(A Rural Bank of BDO).  Mr. Lapus also serves as a Trustee of the Local Water Utilities Administration.  
From 2005 to 2006, he was an Independent Director of PCI Leasing and Finance, Inc. (now BDO Leasing 
and Finance, Inc.). He was formerly a Director of PNOC-Exploration Corp.; President of TODO 
Foundation, Inc.; and Vice President & OIC – Finance Administration of the National Agri-Business 
Corporation.  Mr. Lapus was a member of House of Representatives, representing the third district of 
Tarlac from 2007 – 2013, and he also served as a Reserved Officer with rank of Lieutenant Colonel in the 
Philippine Air Force.  Mr. Lapus holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering from the Mapua 
Institute of Technology and passed the Civil Engineering Board in 1975.   

 
VICENTE S. PÉREZ, JR. 
Independent Director 
60 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Pérez was elected to the Board of the Company on April 7, 2017, and is the Chairman of the 
Company’s Risk Management Committee.  He is an Independent Director of BDO Capital & Investment 
Corporation and DoubleDragon Properties Corp., and serves as an independent advisor to the Board of 
BDO Unibank.  He is also a Non-Executive Director of Singapore Technologies Telemedia Pte Ltd. and 
STT Communications Ltd.  Mr. Pérez is currently the Chairman of the Alternergy and SolarPacific, 
Philippine renewable power companies in wind, hydro and solar.  He was Philippine Energy Secretary 
from 2001 to 2005.  Mr. Pérez briefly served in early 2001 as Undersecretary at the Department of Trade 
and Industry and as Managing Head of the Board of Investments.  He was Vice Chairman of the National 
Renewable Energy Board.  He is a member of the advisory boards of Bhutan Foundation, the Yale 
Center for Business & Environment, Geneva-based Pictet Clean Energy Fund, and bio-energy company 
Roxas Holdings, Inc.  Mr. Pérez is Chairman of the National Advisory Council of WWF-Philippines, a 
Trustee of WWF-China and a Board member of WWF-US. Mr. Pérez obtained his Masters in Business 
Administration from the Wharton Business School of the University of Pennsylvania in 1983 and a 
Bachelor’s degree in Business Economics from the University of the Philippines in 1979. He was a 2005 
World Fellow at Yale University where he lectured an MBA class on renewable power at the Yale School 
of Management. 
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LUIS S. REYES, JR. 
Director & Treasurer 
61 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Reyes was elected to the Board of the Company.  on April 18, 2012 and was appointed as Treasurer 
on April 23, 2014.  He is concurrently the Senior Vice President for Investor Relations and Corporate 
Planning of BDO Unibank. He is also the Director and Treasurer of BDO Rental, Director of BDO Strategic 
Holdings, Inc. and BDO Nomura Securities, Inc., and Chairman of Nashville Holdings, Inc.  Before joining 
BDO, Mr. Reyes was a First Vice President of Far East Bank & Trust Company, Trust Banking Group. He 
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business Economics from the University of the Philippines.  

 
NESTOR V. TAN 
Director 
60 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Tan was elected to the Board of the Company on January 23, 2007.  Mr. Tan, the President and Chief 
Executive Officer of BDO Unibank, and concurrently holds the Chairmanship of the following BDO 
Unibank Subsidiaries:  BDO Strategic Holdings Inc. and One Network Bank, Inc. (A Rural Bank of BDO).  
He also concurrently holds vice chairmanships and/or directorships in the following subsidiaries of BDO 
Unibank, Inc.:  BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc., BDO Life Assurance 
Company, Inc, BDO Private Bank, Inc., BDO Remit (USA), Inc., and SM Keppel Land, Inc.  He is also a  
Trustee of BDO Foundation, Inc.,  Chairman of the De La Salle University Board of Trustees, and a 
Director of the Asian School of Business and Technology.  He currently serves as President and Director 
of the Bankers Association of the Philippines and the BAP Credit Bureau.  He is also the Chairman of the 
Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corporation, Bancnet, and the RBB Micro Finance Foundation Board 
of Trustees.   
 
Prior to joining BDO Unibank, Mr. Tan was Chief Operating Officer of the Financial Institutions Services 
Group of BZW, the investment banking subsidiary of the Barclays Group.  His banking career spans 
nearly four decades and includes posts at global financial institutions, among them Mellon Bank (now 
BNY – Mellon) in Pittsburgh PA;  Bankers Trust Company (now Deutsche Bank) in New York, and the 
Barclays Group in New York and London.  He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce from De La Salle 
University and MBA from the Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania.   
     

EXEQUIEL P. VILLACORTA, JR. 
Non-Executive Director 
73 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Villacorta was elected to the Board of the Company on May 24, 2006.  He is currently a Director of 
Premium Leisure Corp. Mr. Villacorta was formerly director of Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. from 2005 to 
2006, EBC Insurance Brokerage, Inc., Maxicare Healthcare Corporation, and Philab Holdings, Inc.  He 
was also the Chairman of EBC Strategic Holdings Corporation, EBC Investments, Inc., Jardine Equitable 
Finance Corporation, Strategic Property Holdings, Inc., PCIB Properties, Inc., Equitable Data Center, Inc. 
and PCI Automation Center, Inc.  He was previously President and CEO of Banco De Oro Universal 
Bank and TA Bank of the Philippines, and was Vice President of Private Development Corporation of the 
Philippines.  He was Senior Advisor and BSP Controller of Equitable PCI Bank, Inc. and PBCom; and 
Advisor to the Board of PCI Capital Corporation.  Mr. Villacorta holds a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Business Administration from De La Salle University and a Master’s degree in Business Management 
from Asian Institute of Management. 

 
WALTER C. WASSMER 
Director 
61 years old, Filipino 
 

Mr. Wassmer was elected to the Board of the Company on November 17, 1999. He is the Senior 
Executive Vice President and Head of the Institutional Banking Group of BDO Unibank.  He is also the 
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Director of BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, and MMPC Auto Financial Services, Inc.  Previously, 
Mr. Wassmer was the Chairman and Officer-In-Charge of BDO Elite Savings Bank, Inc., formerly GE 
Money Bank, Inc. (A Savings Bank), Inc., and held directorships in MDB Land, Inc., Mabuhay Vinyl 
Corporation, and Banco De Oro Savings Bank, Inc. (formerly Citibank Savings, Inc.).  He holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Commerce from De La Salle University.   

 
JOSEPH JASON M. NATIVIDAD 
Corporate Secretary 
46 years old, Filipino 
 

Atty. Natividad was appointed Corporate Secretary of the Company on May 31, 2010.  He is also the 
Assistant Corporate Secretary of BDO Capital & Investment Corporation, BDO Securities Corporation and 
BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc.  He served as Assistant Corporate Secretary of Equitable PCI Bank from 
September 2006 to June 2007, prior to its merger with Banco de Oro.  He serves as the Corporate 
Secretary of the BDO Rental and Agility Group of Companies in the Philippines.  Atty. Natividad is 
currently a Partner of the Factoran & Natividad Law Offices.  He has been in law practice for 21 years, 
largely in the  fields of corporation law and environmental law.  He holds a Bachelor’s degree in 
Management, major in Legal Management, from the Ateneo de Manila University, and obtained his Juris 
Doctor degree from the Ateneo de Manila University School of Law.     
 

MA. CECILIA SALAZAR-SANTOS 
Assistant Corporate Secretary 
Filipino, 53 years old 

 
Atty. Santos was appointed as Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company effective October 1, 2015. 
She is concurrently the First Vice President of BDO Unibank.  She is also the Assistant Corporate 
Secretary of BDO Private Bank, Inc., BDO Rental, and One Network Bank, Inc. (a Rural Bank of BDO).  
Further, she is the Corporate Secretary of BDO Nomura Securities, Inc., BDO Strategic Holdings, Inc., 
Equimark-NFC Development Corporation, and Ivory Homes, Inc.  She was formerly Director and 
Corporate Secretary of PCI Insurance Brokers, Inc., PCI Travel Corporation, and The Executive 
Banclounge, Inc. and The Sign of Anvil, Inc. Atty. Santos has been with BDO Unibank for more than 17 
years, starting as Manager with BDO Unibank’s Legal Department. She is currently assigned at the Legal 
Services Group as Team Head providing legal assistance to BDO’s Support Groups and Subsidiaries and 
in managing BDO’s Intellectual Property (BDO and BDO-related marks). In 2017 and 2018, she was 
included in the World Trademark Review 300:  The World’s Leading Corporate Trademark Professionals.  
She holds a Bachelor of Arts degree major in Economics from the University of Sto. Tomas and finished 
law at San Beda College of Law.  

 
Independent Directors 
 
 The independent directors of the Registrant are Atty. Jesse H.T. Andres, Mr. Vicente S. Pérez, Jr., and 
Ms. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus. 
 
Senior Executive Officers: 
 
 The members of senior management, subject to control and supervision of the Board, collectively 
have direct charge of all business activities of the Company. They are responsible for the implementation of 
the policies set by the Board. The following is a list of the Company's key officers, and their business 
experiences during the past five years: 
 
ANGELITA C. TAD-Y 
First Vice President/Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 
Filipino, 54 years old 
 

Ms. Tad-y was appointed as Chief Risk and Compliance Officer of the Company on December 16, 2017. 
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She is concurrently the Company’s Data Privacy and Information Security Officer. She joined the Asset 
Management Group of BDO Unibank in 2008 and transferred to Risk Management Group from 2010 to 
December 15, 2017.  Prior to BDO Unibank, Ms. Tad-y worked for Philamlife Insurance Company as 
Associate Controller, Asset Management & Compliance Officer for five years, and for JP Morgan Chase 
Bank as Credit Officer for 12 years. Ms. Tad-y earned her Bachelor of Science Degree major in 
Accounting from De La Salle University.  
 

AGERICO MELECIO S. VERZOLA 
First Vice President & Marketing Head 
Filipino, 61 years old 

 
Mr. Verzola was appointed as First Vice President & Marketing Head of the Company on October 1, 2014.  
He is a Director of BDO Rental.  Mr. Verzola has been involved in Credit, Corporate Banking, Commercial 
Banking, Branch Banking and Branch Lending, and Investment Banking over the past 38 years. He 
graduated with a degree of AB Economics from the University of the Philippines School of Economics, 
Diliman, and finished a six-month Advanced Senior Management Course at the Asian Institute of 
Management.  
 

ROSARIO C. CRISOSTOMO 
First Vice President 
Filipino, 50 years old 

 
Ms. Crisostomo joined the Company as Account Officer in October 1993.  She later became a Team Head 
for Metro Manila Marketing and was appointed Head for Metro Manila Marketing Unit 1 in 2017 where she 
manages three marketing teams. She holds a degree in Bachelor in Accountancy from the Polytechnic 
University of the Philippines and is a Certified Public Accountant. 
 

MA. THERESA M. SORIANO 
First Vice President 
Filipino, 49 years old 

 
Ms. Soriano is the current Head of Metro Manila Marketing Unit 2 of the Company, and has been with the 
Company for the last 25 years (since its predecessor PCI Leasing and Finance Inc.) where she rose from 
the ranks from being an Account Officer to a Unit Head. She obtained her baccalaureate degrees in 
Economics and Management of Financial Institutions as well as Masteral Degree in Business 
Administration from De La Salle University.  
 

COSME S. TRINIDAD JR. 
First Vice President  
Filipino, 54 years old 
 

Mr. Trinidad was designated Unit Head for Luzon on October 1, 2016. He joined BDO Risk Management 
Group in 2008 and was seconded to the Company in September 2011. His banking career spans more 
than 25 years covering marketing, account management, credit, risk management and asset 
management. Mr. Trinidad holds a Bachelor's Degree in Fisheries, major in Business Management, 
magna cum laude, and a Master in Business Administration from De La Salle University Graduate School. 

Board and Senior Management Performance 
 
 The Board, through the Corporate Governance Committee, undertakes the evaluation of its 
performance as a collective body, its committees and senior management to determine whether they are 
functioning effectively, pinpoints areas for improvement and ensures that the President is providing effective 
leadership to the Company. 
 
 The assessment criteria used cover, among others, the areas of leadership, stewardship, review and 
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approval of strategic and operational plans, annual budgets, focus on strategic on long-term issues, 
monitoring of financial performance, management succession planning, integrity of financial reporting, review 
of the Company's ethical conduct, defining of roles and monitoring activities of committees. 
 
 It also conducts the Director peer evaluation survey to encourage improved performance and 
effectiveness of directors by identifying areas that need improvement. Each director is requested to rate their 
colleagues on the Board using the prescribed rating scale and questions. The assessment criteria used 
include, among others, the director's understanding of the Company's strategy and vision, organizational 
structure and culture, business and regulatory environments, responsibilities as directors, accountability for 
his/her boardroom actions, contribution to board discussions, independent thinking, strategic insights and 
direction, active participation in committee meetings, financial literacy, time and commitment to board and 
committee duties, and finally, his/her overall contribution to the functioning of the Board. 
  

Survey questionnaires were sent to all members of the Board including Advisers. Upon submission of 
accomplished forms, the Corporate Governance Officer tabulates the responses and prepares the final report 
to the Corporate Governance Committee. In turn, the Committee reviews and approves the report and 
submits to the Board for appropriate action. The Board then issues a resolution noting the results of the 
evaluation and recommendations stated in the final report. 
 
Significant Employee 
 
 There is no person, other than the senior executive officers above, who is expected by the Company 
to make significant contribution to the business. 
 
Family Relationships 
 
 There are no family relationships up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity among 
directors, executive officers, or persons nominated or chosen by the Company to become directors or 
executive officers. 
  
Involvement of Directors and Executive Officers in Certain Legal Proceedings  
 
 To the Company’s knowledge, none of the directors or executive officers is named or is involved 
during the last five years up to January 31, 2019 in any legal proceedings which will have any material effect 
on the Company, its operations, reputation, or financial condition. 
 

To the Company’s knowledge, none of its directors and senior executives have been subject of the 
following legal proceedings during the last five years: 
 

i. bankruptcy petition by or against any business of which such director or senior executive was a 
general partner or executive officer either at the time of bankruptcy or within two years prior to that 
time; 

 
ii. a conviction by final judgment, in a criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign, or being subject to a 

pending criminal proceeding, domestic or foreign; 
 

iii. to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of 
competent jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending 
or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities, commodities or banking 
activities; 

 
iv. being found by a domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or 

comparable foreign body, or a domestic or  foreign exchange or other organized trading, market or 
self-regulatory organization, to have violated the securities or commodities law or regulation, and the 
judgment has not been reversed, suspended or vacated. 
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ITEM 10.   EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
Disclosure and Transparency 
 
 The Company recognizes the need to report material information in a complete, accurate and timely 
manner thru easily accessible medium of communications. Significant items that are disclosed include the 
following: 
 
A. Executive Compensation Policy 
 
 It is the objective of the Company to attract, motivate and retain high-performing executives 
necessary to maintain its leadership position in the industry.  To be competitive in the marketplace, the 
Company offers a remuneration package composed of fixed salary, benefits and long-term incentives.  Below 
are the compensation details of the directors and key executive officers of the Company: 
 
(1) President and four most highly compensated executive officers 

 

in million pesos Year Salary Bonuses Other Annual 
Compensation 

President and four most 
highly compensated 
executive officers 

2019 
(estimate) 17.47 8.78 n.a. 

2018 16.64 8.36 n.a. 
2017 15.84 8.07 n.a. 

Year Name Position/Title 

2018 

Roberto E. Lapid President 
Agerico Melecio S. Verzola First Vice President 

Ma. Theresa M. Soriano First Vice President 
Rosario C. Crisostomo First Vice President 

Angelita C. Tad-y First Vice President 

2017 

Roberto E. Lapid President 
Agerico Melecio S. Verzola First Vice President 

Ma. Theresa M. Soriano First Vice President 
Rosario C. Crisostomo First Vice President 

Cosme S. Trinidad First Vice President 
 

The above compensation includes the usual bonus paid to the Company’s officers.  Except for salaries, 
allowances, retirement benefits provided under the retirement plan of the Group, there is no stock 
option, stock warrant or other security compensation arrangement between the Company and its 
individual officers. 

 
 (2) Compensation of directors and officers as a group 

 

in million pesos Year Salary Bonuses Other Annual 
Compensation 

All other officers and 
directors 

2019 (estimate) 110.49 41.03 n.a. 

2018 105.23 39.08 n.a. 

2017 104.70 36.73 n.a. 
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B.  Compensation of Directors 
 
 Each director is entitled to receive per diem allowance for attending board and committee meetings.  
The Board approves all compensation and remuneration schemes for the senior officers of the Company. As 
provided by law, the total compensation of directors shall not exceed 10% of the net income before income 
tax of the Company during the preceding year. 

 
 There is no distinction on the fee for a committee chairman and member.  The above table contains 
the details of the compensation of directors and officers of the Company.  In view of possible security risks, 
the Company opted to disclose these on an aggregate basis as a group.  Other than these fees, the non-
executive directors do not receive any share options, profit sharing, bonus or other forms of emoluments. 

 
 The Company may grant to the directors any compensation other than per diem by the approval of 
the shareholders representing at least a majority of the outstanding capital stock.  
 
C.  Outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s CEO, executive officers, and all 

officers and directors as a group. 
 

There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s chief executive officer, executive 
officers, and all officers and directors as a group. 
 
D.  Any repricing of warrants or options held by such officers or directors in the last 

completed fiscal year, as well as the basis for each such repricing. 
 
 There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s chief executive officer, executive 
officers, and all officers and directors as a group. 
 
ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
Security Ownership of Certain Record/Beneficial Owners 
 
 As of March 31, 2019, the following are known to the Company to be directly or indirectly the record 
and/or beneficial owners of more than 5% of the Company’s voting securities: 
 

Title of 
class 

Name and Address of 
Record Owner & 

Relationship with Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner & 

Relationship with 
Record Owner 

Citizenship Number of 
Shares Held Percentage 

Common 

 
BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(formerly Banco De Oro 
Unibank, Inc.) 
BDO Corporate Center 
7899 Makati Avenue, Makati City 
 
BDO Unibank, Inc. is the parent 
company of the Registrant 
 

Record and 
beneficial 
(affiliate and 
majority 
stockholder) 

Filipino 1,914,711,807 88.54% 
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Common 

 
PCD Nominee Corp. (“PCD”)  
G/F Makati Stock Exchange 
Building, 6767 Ayala Avenue, 
Makati City 
 
PCD has no relationship with the 
Registrant except as stockholder. 
 
PCD, being a nominee corporation, 
only holds legal title, not beneficial 
ownership of the lodged shares. 
 

Various 
shareholders 
 
No stockholder 
owns more than 
5% of the 
Company’s 
voting securities 
through PCD 

 

 
 

Filipino 
 
 
 
 

Foreigner 

 
 

246.409,475 
 
 
 
 

559,714 
 

 
 

11.395% 
 
 
 
 

0.026% 

 
The persons authorized to vote the shares of BDO Unibank, Inc. (“BDO Unibank”) are Ms. Teresita T. Sy and 
Mr. Nestor V. Tan.   
 
Security Ownership of Management 
   
 As of March 31, 2019, the total number of shares owned by the directors and management of the 
Company as a group is 107,375 Common Shares, which is equivalent to 0.0049651% of the total outstanding 
Common Shares of the Company. The Company’s directors and officers own the following Common Shares: 
  

Title of 
Class Name of Beneficial Owner Position Citizensh

ip 
No. of 
Shares Percentage  

Common Teresita T. Sy 
Chairperson 

Chairperson Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 

Common Roberto E. Lapid 
Vice Chairman & President 

Vice-Chairman & 
President Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 

Common Jesse H.T. Andres Independent 
Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 

Common Antonio N. Cotoco Director Filipino 115 (R) 0.0000053% 
Common Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Independent 

Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Jeci A. Lapus Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. Independent 

Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Luis S. Reyes Jr. Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Nestor V. Tan Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Exequiel P. Villacorta, Jr. Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Walter C. Wassmer Director Filipino 100 (R) 0.0000046% 
Common Rosario C. Crisostomo Vice President Filipino 106,260 (R) 0.0049138% 

      Total   107,375 0.0049651% 
 

Directors and officers of the Company are required to report to the Company any acquisition or 
disposition of the Company’s shares within three business days from the date of the transaction. As 
prescribed by the Disclosure Rules of the PSE, the Company shall disclose to the PSE any acquisition or 
disposition of its shares by its directors and officers within five trading days from the transaction.  

ITEM 12.   CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
1) The Group (defined as the Company and BDO Rental) and Parent Company’s related parties include BDO 

Unibank, related party under common ownership, key management personnel and the retirement benefit 
fund as described in the succeeding pages. 

 
 The summary of the Group and Parent Company’s transactions with its related parties in 2018, 2017 and 
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2016 and the related outstanding balances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are shown in the 
succeeding pages. 

 
           Amount of Transaction   
  Related Party Category    Notes     2018     2017     2016  
 
Ultimate parent company  
 (BDO Unibank) 
 Interest income on savings  
  and demand deposits   (a)    P     0.6   P 0.8   P 0.7 
 Interest expense on bills payable (b)        120.6    141.5    38.0 
 Rent expense   (c)          13.6    12.3    10.5 
 Management fees   (d)          16.0    13.8    2.4 
    Service charges and fees   (e)     1.4     -     -  
 Service fees   (f)            0.1     -     - 

  Employee stock option plan  2.18, 20           8.7     6.3  
  16.9  
 

Subsidiary (BDO Rental) 
 Dividend income   (j)           35.0      120.0    60.0  
 Management fees   (d)            0.4    0.4    0.4 
 Rent income   (c)            0.1    0.1    0.4 
 
Under common ownership 
 Service and charges fees   (g), (k)            4.3    5.0    5.5 
 Interest expense on bills payable (l)          145.0    94.1     -  

  Operating lease income (n)           47.1    -  -  
  Insurance expense (m)           0.3    -  - 

  
Key management personnel  
 Short-term benefits   (h)     58.6    47.5    50.4 
 Loans to officers   (h)            1.7    3.8    5.0 

    
        Outstanding Balance  
   Related Party Category   Notes    2018     2017  
 
 Ultimate parent company 
 (BDO Unibank)    
  Savings and demand deposits (a)  P   269.8   P     453.0 
  Bills payable (b)       2,146.0     4,782.9 
  Employee stock option plan 2.18, 20              8.7      -               
 
 Under common ownership 
  Accounts receivable (k)             0.8          0.8 
  Bills payable (l)        1,988.8             3,901.0  
  Unearned rental income (n)             -                    4.6 
 
 Key management personnel 
  Loans to officers (h)             5.1     7.5 
 
 Retirement benefit fund  
  Shares of stock (i)             1.1     2.0 

 
a) The Group maintains savings and demand deposit accounts with BDO Unibank.  As of December 

31, 2018 and 2017, savings and demand deposit accounts maintained with BDO Unibank are 
included under Cash and Cash Equivalents account in the statements of financial position.  These 
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deposits generally earn interest at annual rates of 0.25% in 2018, 2017 and 2016.  Interest 
income earned on these deposits in 2018, 2017 and 2016 is included as part of Interest and 
Discounts account under Revenues in the statements of income. 
 

b) The Group obtains short-term bills payable from BDO Unibank with annual interest rates ranging 
from 2.2% to 6.5% in 2018, 2.2% to 3.5% in 2017 and 2.2% to 3.0% in 2016.  Total bill availments 
and payments amounted to P34,050.6 and P36,715.7, respectively, in 2018, P33,288.2 and 
P31,087.9, respectively, in 2017, and P21,532.7 and P22,205.6, respectively, in 2016.  These bills 
payable are secured by certain financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI) with fair value of P1,240.1 and P2,066.6 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively.  The amount outstanding from borrowings as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is 
presented under Bills Payable account in the statements of financial position.  Interest expense 
incurred on these bills payable in 2018, 2017 and 2016 is included as part of Interest and 
Financing Charges account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income. 

 
c) The Parent Company leases its head office premises and certain branch offices from BDO 

Unibank for terms ranging from three to five years, renewable for such period and under such 
terms and conditions as may be agreed upon by the Parent Company and BDO Unibank.  
Related rent expense incurred in 2018, 2017 and 2016 is presented as part of Occupancy and 
Equipment-related Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses account in the 
statements of income.  On the other hand, the Parent Company charges BDO Rental for the 
spaces that the latter occupies in the head office premises. Rent charged to BDO Rental in 2018, 
2017 and 2016 is presented as part of Other Income-net account in the Parent Company’s 
statements of income.  There are no outstanding receivables and payables on these transactions 
as of the end of 2018 and 2017. 
 

d) In 2013, the Parent Company entered into a service level agreement with BDO Unibank wherein 
BDO Unibank will charge the Parent Company for certain management services that the former 
provides to the latter.  Management fees paid by the Parent Company to BDO Unibank are shown 
as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of 
income.  Also, the Parent Company charges BDO Rental for the management services it renders 
to BDO Rental.  This is presented as part of Other Income-net account in the Parent Company’s 
statements of income.  There are no outstanding receivables and payables on these transactions 
as of the end of 2018 and 2017. 

 
e) In 2018, the Parent Company sold a portion of its receivables to BDO Unibank.  The Parent 

Company charged BDO Unibank for service charges and fees which are presented as part of 
Other Income-net account in the statements of income.  There are no outstanding receivables and 
payables on these transactions as of the end of 2018.  

 
f) In 2018, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with BDO Unibank on stock transfer 

where BDO Unibank will charge the Parent Company for stock transfer services.  Service fees 
paid by the Parent Company to BDO Unibank are shown as part of Other Expenses account 
under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  There is no outstanding 
receivable and payable on these transactions as of the end of 2018.    

 
g) The Parent Company engaged the services of BDO Capital and Investment Corporation (BDO 

Capital), a wholly owned subsidiary of BDO Unibank, for underwriting services related to the 
Parent Company’s issuance of short-term commercial papers.  Service and charges fees paid by 
the Parent Company to BDO Capital amounting to P2.0 for 2018, P3.2 for 2017 and P4.0 for 2016 
are included as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the 
statements of income.  There are no outstanding payables on this transaction as of the end of 
2018 and 2017. 

 
h) Compensation of key management personnel (covering officer positions starting from Assistant 

Vice President and up) is included as part of Employee Benefits under Operating Costs and 



 

30 

Expenses in the statements of income of the Group and Parent Company.  Short-term employee 
benefits amounting to P58.6 in 2018, P47.5 in 2017 and P50.4 in 2016, include salaries, paid 
annual leave and paid sick leave, profit sharing and bonuses, and non-monetary benefits.  On the 
other hand, retirement benefits expense amounted to P8.7 in 2018, P7.0 in 2017 and P5.7 in 
2016. 

 
The Group also granted loans to officers, which are secured by mortgage on the property, bear 
interest with a range a 7.0% to 9.0% per annum and have terms ranging from 3 to 4 years. 
Outstanding loans to officers are presented as part of Accounts receivable under Loans and 
Other Receivables account.  The Group assessed that these loans are not impaired as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017.   

 
i) The retirement fund holds, as an investment, 519,915 shares of stock of the Parent Company as 

of December 31, 2018 and 2017, which has a market value of P2.19 and P3.82 per share as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.   The retirement fund does not hold any shares of 
stock of BDO Unibank. 

 
j) In 2018, 2017 and 2016, BDO Rental declared cash dividends amounting to P35.0 (received in 

2018) and P120.0 (received in 2017), and P60.0 (outstanding in 2016, received in 2017), 
respectively.  No outstanding receivable on this transaction as of the end of 2018 and 2017. 

 
k) In 2016, the Parent Company earned from BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc. (BDO Insurance) service 

charges and fees for accounts referred and are included as part of Miscellaneous-net under Other 
Income-net account in the statements of income.  This resulted to the outstanding receivable of 
the Parent Company from BDO Insurance in 2018 and 2017 which is recorded as part of 
Accounts receivables under Loans and Other Receivables account in the statements of financial 
position.  The Group assessed that such receivable is not impaired.   

 
l) In 2017, the Parent Company obtains unsecured, short-term bills payable from BDO Strategic 

Holdings Inc. and SM Prime Holdings, Inc with annual interest rates ranging from 2.6% to 5.3% 
and 3.3% to 6.7%, respectively, in 2018, and 2.5% to 2.6% and 2.7% to 3.3%, respectively, in 
2017.  Total bill availments and payments amounted to P4,244.2 and P4,155.4, respectively, in 
2018 and P3,902.4 and P2,991.7, respectively, in 2017 for BDO Strategic Holdings Inc.  Total bill 
availments and payments amounted to P18,000.0 and P20,000.0, respectively, in 2018 and 
P21,000.0 and P18,000.0, respectively, in 2017 for SM Prime Holdings, Inc.  The amount 
outstanding from borrowings is presented under Bills Payable account in the statements of 
financial position.  Interest expense incurred on these bills payable is included as part of Interest 
and Financing Charges account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of 
income.   

 
m) In 2018, the Parent Company paid BDO Life Assurance Company, Inc. for Group Life Insurance of 

the Parent Company’s employees.  Insurance paid by Parent Company is presented as part of 
Occupancy and Equipment Related Expense under Operating Costs and Expenses in the 2018 
statement of income.  No outstanding receivable and payable on this transaction as of the end of 
2018. 

 
n) In 2017, BDO Rental, entered into Operating Lease Agreement with BDO Nomura which will 

commence in 2018.  Prepaid rental made by BDO Nomura is included as part of Other Liabilities 
under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account in the 2017 statement of financial position.  
In 2018, BDO Rental, entered into Operating Lease Agreement with SM Prime Holdings, Inc. and 
Alfamart Trading Philippines, Inc.  Operating lease income earned from these transactions is 
presented as part of Rent account in the Group’s statements of income.  No outstanding 
receivable on this transaction as of the end of 2018.  

   
2) The Company, to finance its lending requirements, borrows funds from BDO Unibank at prevailing 
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market rates.  As of end of December 31, 2018, the Company has a total dollar borrowing amounting 
to USD 10,725,000.00.  The Company’s credit line with BDO Unibank  stood at P20 billion for the year 
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 and P7 billion for the year 2016. 

 
3) The Company maintain current and savings accounts with the Parent Company.  Current accounts 

are non-interest earning while savings accounts earned interest of 0.25% per annum.  
 

4) The Company, in need of IT services to operate its systems, entered into a Service Level Agreement 
(“SLA”) with BDO Unibank, who has the IT facilities and technical competence to develop, maintain, 
and modify IT application software and to direct, supervise, and run the operating system software. IT 
is also included in the Company’s approved SLA which it pays a monthly fee inclusive of all services 
extended by BDO Unibank.  

 
 BDO Unibank shall provide the Company with the following IT services: 
 

Business Continuity Center and telecommunications infrastructure maintenance which includes email 
and network connectivity of BDO Leasing - Head Office and its branches/marketing desks with BDO, 
internet connectivity, transmission line security and authentication (firewall encryption/ decryption 
facilities, etc.), training of BDO Leasing IT personnel; IT voice and data network design, planning, 
project management and project implementation assistance; server administration and maintenance; 
system/application development and maintenance; IT product evaluation and vendor selection; 
equipment procurement and maintenance. 

 
 

PART  IV    - EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES 
 
ITEM 13.   EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES ON SEC FORM 17-C 
  
Reports on SEC Form 17-C  
  
Below is a summary of the various disclosures reported by the Company under SEC Form 17-C for the year 
2018. 
 

Date Reported Items Reported 
 

February 21, 
2018 

 
Press Release 
 
BDO Leasing earns P570 million in 2017 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDO Leasing) registered a net income of P570 million 
in 2017,marking a steady performance versus year-ago. Gross revenues went up by 11 
per cent to P3.2 billion, with gross lease and loan portfolio rising by nine (9) per cent to 
P34.3 billion. However, higher funding and operating costs tempered bottom line 
performance. BDO Leasing ended last year with an asset base of P42.8 billion, an 
increase of ten (10) per cent. Moving forward, the Company will continue to leverage on 
its Parent Company’s extensive market reach and intensify its provincial thrust to tap 
fast-growing and rapidly urbanizing areas outside Metro-Manila. 
 
About BDO Leasing 
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing subsidiary of BDO Unibank, 
Inc. (BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It also provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the country’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability. 
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Date Reported Items Reported 
 

February 21, 
2018 

 
Declaration of Cash Dividends 
 
The Board of Directors of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (the "Corporation"), at its 
regular board meeting held on February 21, 2018, resolved to declare cash dividends in 
the amount of Php0.10 per share to be paid to all stockholders of record as of March 9, 
2018, and payable on March 27, 2018. 
 
 

 
April 13, 2018 

 

 
Press Release 
 
BDO Leasing posts P570 million Profit in 2017  
 
At its Annual Stockholders’ Meeting today, Vice Chairman and President Roberto E. 
Lapid reported that BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. (BDO Leasing) posted a net income 
of P570 million in 2017, marking a steady performance versus year-ago. Gross 
revenues went up by 11 per cent to P3.2 billion, with gross lease and loan portfolio 
rising by nine (9) per cent to P34.5 billion. However, higher funding and operating costs 
tempered bottom line performance.  
Moving ahead, the company will continue to leverage on its Parent Company’s 
extensive market reach, strengthen its provincial presence to penetrate untapped 
markets and support the growth sectors in the economy.  
The company paid cash dividends of P0.10 per share, or a total amount of P216.2 
million, to stockholders last March 27, 2018.  
 
About BDO Leasing  
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing entity of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It likewise provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the industry’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability.  
 

 
April 13, 2018 

 

 
Results of the 2018 Annual Stockholders' Meeting 
 
I. Election of Directors  
 
At the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLF), the 
following were elected as directors for the year 2018-2019: 
 
Regular Directors: 
Mr. Antonio N. Cotoco  
Mr. Roberto E. Lapid  
Mr. Jeci A. Lapus  
Mr. Luis S. Reyes, Jr.  
Ms. Teresita T. Sy  
Mr. Nestor V. Tan 
Mr. Exequiel P. Villacorta, Jr.  
Mr. Walter C. Wassmer  
 
Independent Directors: 
Atty. Jesse H.T. Andres 
Ms. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus 
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Mr. Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. 
 
 
II. Appointment of External Auditor  
 
At the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLF), the 
Accountancy and Auditing Firm of Punongbayan & Araullo, Grant Thornton was 
appointed external auditor of BDOLF for the year 2018. 
 

 
April 13, 2018 

 
 
 

 
Results of the 2018 Organizational Meeting of the Board of Directors 
 
I. Appointment of Corporate Officers  
 
At the organizational meeting of the Board of Directors of BDO Leasing and Finance, 
Inc. (BDOLF) held immediately after the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, the following 
were appointed as Corporate Officers of BDOLF for the year 2018-2019: 
 
Ms. Teresita T. Sy                           Chairperson 
Mr. Roberto E. Lapid                       Vice Chairman & President 
Atty. Joseph Jason M. Natividad     Corporate Secretary 
Atty. Ma. Cecilia S. Santos              Assistant Corporate Secretary 
Mr. Luis S. Reyes, Jr.                      Treasurer 
Ms. Angelita C. Tad-y                      Chief Risk & Compliance Officer 
 
II. Composition of Board Committees  
 
At the organizational meeting of BDOLF, the following were appointed: 
 
Adviser to the Board 
 
Edmundo L. Tan 
 
Executive Committee 
 
1. Nestor V. Tan Chairman 
2. Antonio N. Cotoco Vice Chairman 
3. Teresita T. Sy Member 
4. Roberto E. Lapid Member 
5. Walter C. Wassmer Member 
 
Board Audit Committee 
 
1. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Chairperson/Independent Director 
2. Jesse H.T. Andres Member/Independent Director 
3. Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. Member/Independent Director 
 
Corporate Governance Committee 
 
1. Jesse H.T. Andres Chairman/Independent Director 
2. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Member/Independent Director 
3. Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. Member/Independent Director 
 
 Nomination Committee 
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1. Jesse H.T. Andres Chairman/Independent Director 
2. Antonio N. Cotoco Member/Non-Executive Director 
3. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Member/Independent Director 
 
Risk Management Committee 
 
1. Vicente S. Pérez, Jr. Chairman/Independent Director 
2. Nestor V. Tan Member/Executive Director 
3. Jesse H.T. Andres Member/Independent Director 
 
Related Party Transactions Committee 
 
1. Jesse H.T. Andres Chairman/Independent Director 
2. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus Member/Independent Director 
3. Jeci A. Lapus Member/Non-Executive Director 
Antonio N. Cotoco Adviser 

 
April 25, 2018 

 
 

 
Press Release 
 
BDO Leasing, first privately-owned financial institution to finance modern jeeps  
 
State-of-the-art jeepneys will soon ply the Metro Manila route—and eventually the rest 
of the country—with BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLF) at the driver's seat of this 
trailblazing milestone. 
A subsidiary of BDO Unibank that caters to the leasing and financing market, BDOLF 
became the first privately-owned financial institution in the country to enter into a loan 
agreement to finance modern public utility jeepneys (PUJs), in connection with the 
jeepney modernization program of the government. As of now, Landbank of the 
Philippines and Development Bank of the Philippines are the only two banks that have 
allocated funding specifically for the jeepney modernization program. 
 
Under this program, the government plans to replace all old PUJs aged 15 years or 
older with environment-friendly jeepneys that have safety features to promote safer and 
more environment-friendly transport options. Based on an initial study done by the Land 
Transportation Franchising and Regulatory Board (LTFRB), around 180,000 jeepeys 
nationwide face replacement under the program. 
 
BDOLF partnered with Transport Equipment Aggregator and Management, Inc. (1-
TEAM), a company that manages and consolidates PUVs under a unified management 
system, to provide funding for five units of modern jeepneys or BEEP (shortened name 
for Bagong Jeep). 
 
Incidentally, the BEEPs will be supplied by IKK Ichigan, Inc., a former BDOLF client and 
an existing BDO commercial banking client. 
 
1-TEAM is the first and only fleet management company in the country to consolidate 
around 30 individual PUJs under a single fleet system. Its services include the provision 
of logistical support, manpower selection and training, equipment repair and 
maintenance, and the operation of public land transport services such as but not limited 
to, jeepneys, taxis, buses and UV express vans. 
 
Each BEEP unit is air-conditioned and powered by a Euro IV compliant diesel engine. 
With a size almost as big as a mini bus, each BEEP unit will also have a seating 
capacity of 24 passengers plus driver and will be have various safety features such as a 
speed limiter, closed-circuit television camera, Global Positioning System, dashboard 
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camera, and outfitted with an automated fare collection system. 
 
The units shall be deployed to various SM Mall Terminals to provide public utility 
jeepney shuttle service. At present, a number of PUJ units of 1-TEAM are already 
providing shuttle services from SM Mall Terminals to various end points. Among these 
terminals are SM City Baguio, SM City Clark, SM City Marikina, SM City Sta. Mesa and 
SM City Fairview. 
 
About BDO Leasing 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing entity of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It likewise provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the industry’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability. 

 
May 9, 2018 

 
 

 
Press Release 
 
BDO Leasing earns P90 million Profit in 1Q2018 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDO Leasing) recorded a net income of P90 million in 
1Q 2018, compared P144 million in the comparative period last year. 
 
While the Company's gross revenues rose by four (4) percent year-on-year as lease 
and loan portfolio went up by five (5) per cent, these were offset by higher funding, 
operating and credit costs. In a rising interest rate environment, the increase in yields 
tends to lag behind the increase in funding costs.  
 
Moving ahead, the company will continue to leverage on its Parent Company's 
extensive market reach, strengthen its provincial presence to penetrate untapped 
markets and support the growth sectors in the economy. 
 
About BDO Leasing 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing entity of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It likewise provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the industry’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability. 

 
May 30, 2018 

 
Appointment of Lead Independent Director 
 
At its meeting held on 30 May 2018, the Board of Directors of BDO Leasing and 
Finance, Inc. (the "Corporation") appointed Ms. Ma. Leonora V. De Jesus as Lead 
Independent Director of the Corporation. 
 

 
August 1, 2018 

 
 

 
Press Release 
 

BDO Leasing posts P178 million Profit in 1H 2018 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDO Leasing) posted a net income of P178 million in 
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the first six months of 2018, compared to P282 miilion a year-ago, due to higher funding 
and operating costs. 
 
Gross revenues went up by four (4) percent year-on-year on steady interest income 
from its lease and finance portfolio of P34 billion, augmented by service fees and other 
income. However, this was negated by higher financing charges and lower interest 
margins as well as increased documentary stamp tax (DST) on its commercial paper 
issue following the implementation of the TRAIN law early this year. 
 
Amid a challenging operating environment, the company will continue to strengthen its 
marketing efforts in emerging provincial areas while leveraging on its Parent Company's 
broad market reach to extend leasing and financing services to the growth sectors of 
the economy. Additionally, the company intends to expand and optimize its funding 
sources to match its asset growth and manage its funding costs. 
 
About BDO Leasing 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing entity of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It likewise provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the industry’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability. 
 
 

 
November 7, 

2018 

 
Press Release 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.(BDO Leasing) recorded a net income of P248 million in 
the first nine (9) months of 2018, compared to P406 million in the comparative period 
last year, as larger revenues were offset by higher borrowings costs. 
 
Gross revenues rose by three (3) per cent year-on-year with gross lease and loan 
portfolio up by three (3)  per cent to P35 billion. However, increased financing charges 
due to rising interest rates, as funding costs adjust faster than yields combined with 
higher documentary stamp tax (DST) told on bottom line performance. 
 
Moving forward, the company will continue to leverage on its Parent Company's 
extensive branch network to tap opportunities in high growth provincial areas. 
Additionally, the company intends to expand the optimize funding sources to match 
asset growth and manage funding costs.  
 
About BDO Leasing 
 
BDO Leasing and Finance Inc. is the leasing and financing entity of BDO Unibank, Inc. 
(BDO) which provides its customers direct leases, real estate leases, sale and 
leaseback arrangements as well as receivables factoring. It likewise provides operating 
leases through its wholly owned subsidiary BDO Rental Incorporated. BDO Leasing and 
Finance is among the industry’s dominant players in terms of total assets, capitalization 
and profitability. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these financial 
statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

  
2.1 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements 

 
(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the separate financial 
statements of the Parent Company have been prepared in accordance with Philippine 
Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board, and approved by the Philippine Board of Accountancy.  

 
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement bases specified by 
PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The measurement bases are 
more fully described in the accounting policies that follow. 
 

(b) Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements are presented in accordance with Philippine Accounting 
Standard (PAS) 1, Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Group and the Parent 
Company present the statement of comprehensive income separate from the statement 
of income. 
 
The Group and the Parent Company present a third statement of financial position as 
at the beginning of the preceding period when it applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification of items that 
has a material effect on the information in the statement of financial position at the 
beginning of the preceding period.  The related notes to the third statement of 
financial position are not required to be disclosed. 
 
In 2018, the Group and the Parent Company adopted PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, 
which was applied using the transitional relief allowed by the standard.  This allows the 
Group and the Parent Company not to restate its prior periods’ financial statements.  
Differences arising from the adoption of PFRS 9 in relation to classification and 
measurement and impairment of financial assets are recognized in the opening balance 
of Retained Earnings (or other component of equity, as appropriate) in the current 
year [see Note 2.2(a)(ii)]. 

 
Further, the Group and the Parent Company adopted PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, which was applied using the modified retrospective approach.  
However, such adoption did not result in material retrospective restatements to the 
balance of Retained Earnings as at January 1, 2018 [see Note 2.2(a)(iii)]. 

 
Accordingly, the adoption of these two new accounting standards did not require the 
Group and the Parent Company to present its third statement of financial position. 
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The table below shows the impact of the adoption of PFRS 9 to the total equity of the 
Group and the Parent Company as at January 1, 2018.  

 
       Effects on   
            Net Unrealized 
            Fair Value Gains on     
           Financial Assets       
            At Fair Value   Available-for-     
            Through Other   Sale (AFS)     
      Retained Earnings   Comprehensive   Financial    Total  
   Measurement Category   Free   Reserves  Income (FVOCI)  Assets   Equity  
 
  Balances at December 31, 2017 
   under PAS 39  P  2,618.5 P -  P -  P  169.0 P 5,442.3 
 
  Impact of PFRS 9 [see Note 2.2(a)(ii)] 
  Reversal of allowance for 
   impairment on loans and other 
   receivables   144.8   -   -   -    144.8 
  Appropriation of retained earnings 
   for general loan loss provision 
   per Bangko Sentral ng 
   Pilipinas (BSP) requirement  (  142.6 )  142.6  -   -   -  
  Share on the impact of adoption 
   of PFRS 9 of associate    7.3  -   -   -    7.3 
  Recognition of allowance for  
   impairment on debt securities 
   classified as financial  
   assets at FVOCI  (  1.2 )  -    1.2  -   -  
  Effect of reclassification of AFS 
   financial assets to FVOCI   -   -    169.0 (   169.0 )  -  
 
  Total impact of adoption of PFRS 9    8.3   142.6   170.2 (   169.0 )   152.1 
   
  Balances at January 1, 2018  
   under PFRS 9 (2014)  P  2,626.8 P  142.6 P  170.2 P -  P  5,594.4 

 
(c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
 

These financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the Group’s functional 
and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute amounts except when 
otherwise indicated.   
 
Items included in the financial statements of the Group are measured using the 
Group’s functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Group operates. 
 

2.2 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS 
 

(a) Effective in 2018 that are Relevant to the Group   
 

The Group adopted for the first time the following new PFRS, amendments, 
interpretation and annual improvements to PFRS, which are mandatorily effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018: 

 
 PAS 40 (Amendment) : Investment Property – Reclassification to
    and from Investment Property 
 PFRS 9 : Financial Instruments 
 PFRS 15 : Revenue from Contracts with Customers; 
     Clarifications to PFRS 15  
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International Financial  
Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) 22 : Foreign Currency Transactions and 

    Advance Consideration 
 Annual Improvements to 

  PFRS (2014-2016 Cycle)  
   PAS 28 (Amendments) : Investment in Associates – Clarification on 
      Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
      Classification 
  

Discussed below are the relevant information about these standards, interpretation 
and improvements. 

 
(i) PAS 40 (Amendment), Investment Property – Reclassification to and from Investment 

Property.  The amendment states that an entity shall transfer a property to, or 
from, investment property when, and only when, there is evidence of a change in 
use.  A change of use occurs if property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition 
of investment property.  A change in management’s intentions for the use of a 
property by itself does not constitute evidence of a change in use.  The 
amendment provided a non-exhaustive list of examples constituting change in 
use.  The application of this amendment has no impact on the Group’s financial 
statements. 

 
(ii) PFRS 9, Financial Instruments (issued in 2014).  This new standard on financial 

instruments will replace PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
and PFRS 9 issued in 2009, 2010 and 2013.  This standard contains, among 
others, the following: 

 
 three principal classification categories for financial assets based on the 

business model on how an entity is managing its financial instruments, i.e., 
financial assets at amortized costs, fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) 
and FVOCI; 
 

 an expected credit loss (ECL) model in determining impairment of all debt 
financial assets that are not measured at FVTPL, which generally depends on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition of such financial assets; and, 

 
 a new model on hedge accounting that provides significant improvements 

principally by aligning hedge accounting more closely with the risk 
management activities undertaken by entities when hedging their financial and 
non-financial risk exposures. 
 

The Group’s new accounting policies relative to the adoption of PFRS 9 is fully 
disclosed in Note 2.5. 
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The impact of the adoption of this new accounting standard to the Group’s and 
the Parent Company’s financial statements are as follows: 

 
a. Investment Securities Reclassified to Financial Asset at FVOCI from AFS Financial 

Assets 
 

The Group and the Parent Company reclassified to Financial Assets at 
FVOCI its equity and debt securities amounting to P2,575.0 and P2,067.0, 
respectively, as of January 1, 2018, which were previously classified as AFS 
financial assets.  The related Net Unrealized Fair Value Gains on AFS 
Financial Assets amounting to P169.0 was accordingly reclassified to Net 
Unrealized Fair Value Gains on Financial Assets at FVOCI [see Note 2.1(b)]. 

 
The Group and the Parent Company elected to irrevocably designate its equity 
securities at FVOCI as the assets are now held by the Group for long-term 
investments and are neither held-for-trading nor designated as at FVTPL.  On 
the other hand, the Group’s debt securities were determined that the 
investment objective of the business model is to hold these investments to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and sell but are held for long-term strategic 
investment and are not expected to be traded in the short-to-medium term.  In 
addition, the Group determined the ECL for these securities based on the 
ECL model developed by the Group [see Note 2.2(a)(ii)c].  

 
b. Credit Losses on Loans and Receivables 

 

The application of the ECL methodology based on the stages of impairment 
assessment for loans and other receivables resulted in the reversal of allowance 
for impairment amounting P144.8, with the adjustment credited to the 
opening balance of Retained Earnings Free account [see Note 2.1(b)].  
Moreover, as prescribed by the BSP, the Group appropriated P142.6 for 
general loan loss provisions (GLLP).  Such appropriation is presented under 
Retained Earnings Reserves account [see Notes 2.1(b) and 17.5]. 

 
c. Credit Losses on Investment in Debt Securities 

 
All of the Group’s investment in debt securities reclassified as part of 
Financial Assets at FVOCI as at January 1, 2018 are considered to have low 
credit risk, and the loss allowance recognized was therefore limited to  
12-month expected credit loss.  Management considers ‘low credit risk’ for 
listed bonds to be an investment grade credit rating with at least one reputable 
rating agency.  Other instruments are considered to have low credit risk when 
they have a low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity to meet its 
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.  Nevertheless, due to 
application of ECL methodology, an allowance for impairment was 
recognized on debt securities at FVOCI as at January 1, 2018 amounting to 
P1.2 and was adjusted against the opening balance of Net Unrealized Fair 
Value Gains on Financial Assets at FVOCI [see Note 2.1(b)]. 
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d. Adoption of PFRS 9 of an Associate  
 

The Group recognized its share amounting to P7.3 for the effect of PFRS 9 
adoption by an associate [see Note 2.1(b)]. 

 
The table below summarizes the effects of the adoption of PFRS 9 (2014) in the 
carrying amounts and presentation of the categories of the affected financial 
assets accounts in the statement of financial position as at January 1, 2018.  The 
adoption of PFRS 9 has no significant impact on the Group’s financial liabilities. 

   
         Carrying Value              Carrying Value 
           PAS 39              PFRS 9 
    Measurement Category   Notes   December 31, 2017 Reclassification   Remeasurement   January 1, 2018  
  
   Investment securities: 
   AFS financial assets   a  P 4,642.0 (P 4,642.0 ) P -   P -  
   Financial assets at FVOCI   a   -    4,642.0   -     4,642.0 
     
   Financial assets at amortized cost – 
   Loans and other receivables  
    Gross amount      35,030.8   -     -    35,030.8 
    Allowance for impairment   b  (  706.1 )  -      144.8 ( 561.3 ) 
  
   Total      P 38,966.7  P -   P  144.8 P  39,111.5 

 
(iii) PFRS 15, Revenue from Contract with Customers, together with the Clarifications to  

PFRS 15 (herein referred to as PFRS 15).  This standard replaces PAS 18, Revenue, 
and PAS 11, Construction Contracts, the related Interpretations on revenue 
recognition: IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreement for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and Standing 
Interpretations Committee 31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising 
Services.  This new standard establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining when to recognize revenue and how much revenue to recognize.  
The core principle in the said framework is for an entity to recognize revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount 
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services.   

 
The Group’s significant sources of revenue pertain to its lending and rental 
activities which generate interest income, rent revenue and service fees.  Except 
for certain service fees, significant amount of the Group’s revenues are out of 
scope of PFRS 15.  Recognition and measurement of revenue streams within the 
scope of PFRS 15 did not vary from PAS 18.   

 
The Group’s adoption of PFRS 15 has resulted in changes in its accounting 
policies (see Note 2.14).  The adoption of the new standard has no material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(iv) IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration – Interpretation on 

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.  The interpretation provides 
more detailed guidance on how to account for transactions that include the 
receipt or payment of advance consideration in a foreign currency.  The 
interpretation states that the date of the transaction, for the purpose of 
determining the exchange rate, is the date of initial recognition of the  
non-monetary asset (arising from advance payment) or liability (arising from 
advance receipt).  If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, a date of 
transaction is established for each payment or receipt.  The application of this 
interpretation has no impact on the Group’s financial statements. 



 - 7 - 

(v) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2014-2016 Cycle.  Among the improvements,  
PAS 28 (Amendments), Investment in Associates – Clarification on Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss Classification, is relevant to the Group but had no material impact on 
the Group’s financial statements as these amendments merely clarify existing 
requirements.  The amendments clarify that the option for venture capital 
organization, mutual funds and other similar entities to elect the fair value 
through profit or loss classification in measuring investments in associates and 
joint ventures shall be made at initial recognition, separately for each associate or 
joint venture.  

 
(b) Effective in 2018 that are not Relevant to the Group 

 
The following amendments to existing standards are mandatorily effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 but are not relevant to the Group’s 
financial statements: 

 
 PFRS 2 (Amendments) : Share-based Payment – Classification and 
     Measurement of Share-based Payment 
     Transactions 
  PFRS 4 (Amendments) : Insurance Contracts – Applying PFRS 9 
     with PFRS 4  

 Annual Improvements to 
  PFRS (2014-2016 Cycle)  
 PFRS 1 (Amendments) : First-time Adoption of Philippine 
     Financial Reporting Standards – 
     Deletion of Short-Term Exemptions 

 
(c) Effective Subsequent to 2018 but not Adopted Early 

 
There are new PFRS, interpretation, amendments and annual improvements to existing 
standards effective for annual periods subsequent to 2018, which are adopted by the FRSC.  
Management will adopt the relevant pronouncements presented in the succeeding pages in 
accordance with their transitional provisions. 

 
(i) PAS 19 (Amendments), Employee Benefits – Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement 

(effective January 1, 2019).  The amendments require the use of updated actuarial 
assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder 
of the annual reporting period after the plan amendment, curtailment or 
settlement when the entity remeasures its net defined benefit liability (asset).   
Management is currently assessing the impact of this amendment on the Group’s 
financial statements.   

 
(ii) PAS 28 (Amendments), Investment in Associates – Long-term Interest in 

Associates and Joint Venture (effective from January 1, 2019).  The amendments 
clarify that the scope exclusion in PFRS 9 applies only to ownership interests 
accounted for using the equity method.  Thus, the amendments further clarify 
that long-term interests in an associate or joint venture – to which the equity 
method is not applied – must be accounted for under PFRS 9, which shall also 
include long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the entity’s net 
investment in an associate or joint venture.  Management is currently assessing 
the impact of this amendment on the Group’s financial statements.   
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(iii) PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments – Prepayment Features with 
Negative Compensation (effective from January 1, 2019).  The amendments 
clarify that prepayment features with negative compensation attached to financial 
instruments may still qualify under the “solely payments of principal and 
interests” (SPPI) test.  As such, the financial assets containing prepayment 
features with negative compensation may still be classified at amortized cost or at 
FVOCI.  Management initially assessed that this amendment will not affect the 
Group’s financial statements since it has no financial instruments having 
prepayment features with negative compensation. 

 
(iv) PFRS 16, Leases (effective from January 1, 2019).  The new standard will 

eventually replace PAS 17, Leases, and its related interpretation IFRIC 4, 
Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease.  For lessees, it requires 
to account for leases “on-balance sheet” by recognizing a “right-of-use” asset and 
a lease liability.  The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of 
future lease payments.  For this purpose, lease payments include fixed,  
non-cancellable payments for lease elements, amounts due under residual value 
guarantees, certain types of contingent payments and amounts due during 
optional periods to the extent that extension is reasonably certain.  In subsequent 
periods, the “right-of-use” asset is accounted for similar to a purchased asset 
subject to depreciation or amortization.  The lease liability is accounted for 
similar to a financial liability which is amortized using the effective interest 
method.  However, the new standard provides important reliefs or exemptions 
for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.  If these exemptions are used, 
the accounting is similar to operating lease accounting under PAS 17 where lease 
payments are recognized as expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
or another systematic basis (if more representative of the pattern of the lessee’s 
benefit). 

 
For lessors, lease accounting is similar to PAS 17’s.  In particular, the distinction 
between finance and operating leases is retained.  The definitions of each type of 
lease, and the supporting indicators of a finance lease, are substantially the same 
as PAS 17’s.  The basic accounting mechanics are also similar, but with some 
different or more explicit guidance in few areas.  These include variable 
payments, sub-leases, lease modifications, the treatment of initial direct costs and 
lessor disclosures. 

 
The management plans to adopt the modified retrospective application of 
PFRS 16 where the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard will be 
recognized as an adjustment to the opening balance of Retained Earnings 
account at the date of initial application.  The Group will elect to apply the 
standard to contracts that were previously identified as leases applying PAS 17 
and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.  Management is currently assessing 
the financial impact of this new standard on the Group’s financial statements. 
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(v) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (effective from January 1, 
2019).  The interpretation provides clarification on the determination of taxable 
profit, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits, and tax rates when there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatments.  The core principle of the interpretation 
requires the Group to consider the probability of the tax treatment being 
accepted by the taxation authority.  When it is probable that the tax treatment 
will be accepted, the determination of the taxable profit, tax bases, unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits, and tax rates shall be on the basis of the accepted tax 
treatment.  Otherwise, the Group has to use the most likely amount or the 
expected value, depending on the surrounding circumstances, in determining the 
tax accounts identified immediately above.  Management is currently assessing 
the impact of this interpretation on the Group’s financial statements. 

 
(vi) PFRS 10 (Amendments), Consolidated Financial Statements, and PAS 28 

(Amendments), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associates or Joint Venture 
(effective date deferred indefinitely).  The amendments to PFRS 10 require full 
recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains or losses arising on the 
sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business as defined in PFRS 3, 
Business Combinations, between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  
Accordingly, the partial recognition of gains or losses (i.e., to the extent of the 
unrelated investor’s interests in an associate or joint venture) only applies to 
those sale of contribution of assets that do not constitute a business.  
Corresponding amendments have been made to PAS 28 to reflect these changes.  
In addition, PAS 28 has been amended to clarify that when determining whether 
assets that are sold or contributed constitute a business, an entity shall consider 
whether the sale or contribution of those assets is part of multiple arrangements 
that should be accounted for as a single transaction.  The Group is currently 
assessing the impact of these amendments in its financial statements. 

 
(vii) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2015-2017 Cycle (effective from  

January 1, 2019).  Among the improvements, the following amendments are 
relevant to the Group but had no material impact on the Group’s financial 
statements as these amendments merely clarify existing requirements:   

 
 PAS 12 (Amendments), Income Taxes – Tax Consequences of Dividends.  The 

amendments clarify that all income tax consequence of dividend payments 
should be recognized in profit or loss. 

 
 PAS 23 (Amendments), Borrowing Costs – Eligibility for Capitalization.  The 

amendments clarify that any specific borrowing which remains outstanding 
after the related qualifying asset is ready for its intended purpose, such 
borrowing will then form part of the entity’s general borrowings when 
calculating the capitalization rate for capitalization purposes. 

 
 PFRS 3 (Amendments), Business Combinations, and PFRS 11 (Amendments), 

Joint Arrangements – Remeasurement of Previously Held Interests in a Joint Operation.  
The amendments clarify that previously held interest in a joint operation shall 
be remeasured when the Group obtains control of the business.  On the other 
hand, previously held interests in a joint operation shall not be remeasured 
when the Group obtains joint control of the business. 
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2.3 Basis of Consolidation and Investments in a Subsidiary and an Associate 
 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of the Parent 
Company and its subsidiary, after the elimination of all intercompany transactions.  All 
intercompany assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between entities under the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.  
Unrealized profits and losses from intercompany transactions that are recognized in assets 
are also eliminated in full.  Intercompany losses that indicate impairment are recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

 
The financial statements of the subsidiary and the associate are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the Parent Company, using consistent accounting principles.   

  
(a) Investment in a Subsidiary 

 
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Parent Company has the power to control the 
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than 
one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that 
are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Parent Company controls another entity.  The Parent Company obtains and exercises 
control when (i) it has power over the entity, (ii) it is exposed, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity, and, (iii) it has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the entity, usually through voting rights.  A subsidiary is 
consolidated from the date the Parent Company obtains control.   

 
The Parent Company reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts and 
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of 
controls indicated above.  Accordingly, entities are deconsolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

 
The acquisition method is applied to account for acquired subsidiaries.  Acquisition 
method requires recognizing and measuring the identifiable resources acquired, the 
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, 
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group, if any.  The consideration transferred also includes the fair value 
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.   

 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and subsequent change in the fair 
value of contingent consideration is recognized directly in profit or loss.  

 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the 
acquiree over the acquisition-date fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net 
assets acquired, is recognized as goodwill.  If this is less than the fair value of the net 
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is 
recognized directly as a gain in profit or loss. 

 
Investment in a subsidiary is initially recognized at cost and subsequently accounted 
for using the equity method in the Parent Company’s financial statements. 
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(b) Investment in an Associate 
 

An associate is an entity over which the Parent Company has significant influence but 
which is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.  Investment in an 
associate is initially recognized at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity 
method.   

 
Acquired investment in associate is subject to the purchase method.  The purchase 
method involves the recognition of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities, 
including contingent liabilities, regardless of whether they were recorded in the 
financial statements prior to acquisition.  Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition 
cost over the fair value of the Parent Company’s share of the identifiable net assets of 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition.  Any goodwill or fair value adjustment 
attributable to the Parent Company’s share in the associate is included in the amount 
recognized as investment in an associate. 

  
All subsequent changes to the ownership interest in the equity of the associates are 
recognized in the Parent Company’s carrying amount of the investment.  Changes 
resulting from the profit or loss generated by the associates are credited or charged 
against the Other Income account in the statement of income.  

  
Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the investment in an 
associate will not be recovered (see Note 2.17).  

 
Changes resulting from other comprehensive income of the associate or items 
recognized directly in the associate’s equity are recognized in other comprehensive 
income or equity of the Parent Company, as applicable.  However, when the Parent 
Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Parent Company does not recognize 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.  If the associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes 
recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the 
accumulated share of losses that has previously not been recognized. 

  
Distributions received from the associates are accounted for as a reduction of the 
carrying value of the investment. 

 
In the Parent Company’s financial statements, the investments in a subsidiary and an associate 
(presented as Equity investments under Other Assets account in the statement of financial 
position) are initially carried at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in 
the Parent Company’s share of net assets of the investee, which includes the share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, if any, reduced by any distribution received 
from the investment (see Note 12). 

 
2.4 Segment Reporting 

   
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the Group’s Strategic Steering Committee, its chief operating decision-maker.  The 
strategic steering committee is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments. 
 
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s products 
and service lines as disclosed in Note 4, which represent the main products and services 
provided by the Group. 
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Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines 
requires different technologies and other resources as well as marketing approaches.  All 
inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices. 
 
The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under PFRS 8, Operating 
Segments, are the same as those used in its financial statements. 
 
In addition, corporate assets which are not directly attributable to the business activities of 
any operating segment are not allocated to a segment. 
 
There have been no changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to 
determine reported segment profit or loss. 
 
2.5 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair 
value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental or directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions.  
Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

 
(a) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets in Accordance with  

PFRS 9 
 

Under PFRS 9, the classification and measurement of financial assets is driven by the 
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  The classification and measurement of financial 
assets are described below and in the succeeding pages. 

 
(i) Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following conditions 
are met: 

 
 the asset is held within the Group’s business model whose objective is to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to collect”); 
and, 

 
 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to cash 

flows that are SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 
 

Financial assets meeting these criteria are measured initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs.  They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment in value. 
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Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows, the 
Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent SPPI.  In 
making this assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual cash flows 
are consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e., interest includes only 
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and 
a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement  
[(see Note 3.1(d)].  Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or 
volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related 
financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. 

 
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost are presented in the statement of 
financial position as Cash and Cash Equivalents and Loans and Other Receivables.  
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash. 

 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial assets except for those that are subsequently 
identified as credit-impaired.  For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective 
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after 
deduction of the loss allowance).  The interest earned is recognized in the 
statement of income as part of Interest and Discounts. 

 
(ii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 

 
The Group accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the following 
conditions: 

 
 they are held under a business model whose objective is to hold to collect the 

associated cash flows and sell (“hold to collect and sell”); and, 
 

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; 
however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is held by the 
Group for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified as FVTPL.  The 
Group has designated all equity instruments as at FVOCI on initial application of 
PFRS 9. 

 
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.  
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value, with no deduction for any disposal 
costs.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, including the foreign 
exchange component, are recognized in other comprehensive income, net of any 
effects arising from income taxes, and are reported as Net Unrealized Fair Value 
Gains (Losses) on Financial Assets at FVOCI account in equity.  When the asset is 
disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the Net 
Unrealized Fair Value Gains (Losses) on Financial Assets at FVOCI account is not 
reclassified to profit or loss but is reclassified directly to Retained Earnings 
account, except for those debt securities classified as FVOCI wherein cumulative 
fair value changes are recycled back to profit or loss. 
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Any dividends earned on holding equity instruments are recognized in profit or 
loss as part of Other Income account, when the Group’s right to receive dividends 
is established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
dividend will flow to the Group, and, the amount of the dividend can be measured 
reliably, unless the dividends clearly represent recovery of a part of the cost of the 
investment. 

 
(iii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 

 
Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than  
“hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorized at FVTPL, if any.  
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual cash 
flows are not SPPI are accounted for at FVTPL.  Also, equity securities are 
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity 
investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI at initial recognition.   

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognized in the statements of profit or loss, if any.  The fair values of these 
financial assets are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a 
valuation technique where no active market exists. 

 
The Group can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model for 
managing those financial assets changes.  Accordingly, the Group is required to 
reclassify financial assets: (i) from amortized cost to FVTPL, if the objective of the 
business model changes so that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and,  
(ii) from FVTPL to amortized cost, if the objective of the business model changes so 
that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of the instrument’s 
contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria. 

 
A change in the objective of the Group’s business model will take effect only at the 
beginning of the next reporting period following the change in the business model. 

 
(b) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets in Accordance with PAS 39 

 
Financial assets are assigned to the different categories by management on initial 
recognition, depending on the purpose for which the investments were acquired, and 
their characteristics.  Financial assets other than those designated and effective as 
hedging instruments are classified into the following categories: financial assets at 
FVTPL, loans and other receivables, held-to-maturity investments and AFS financial 
assets.   
 
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on their trade date.  All 
financial assets that are not classified as at FVTPL are initially recognized at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Financial assets carried at FVTPL are 
initially recorded at fair value and the related transaction costs are recognized in profit 
or loss.   
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A more detailed description of the categories of financial assets that are relevant to the 
Group is as follows: 
 
(i) Loans and Other Receivables 

 
Loans and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise when 
the Group provides money, goods or services directly to the debtor with no 
intention of trading the receivables.   

 
The Group’s financial assets categorized as loans and other receivables are 
presented as Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Loans and Other Receivables in the 
statement of financial position.  Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, 
demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of three months or less, readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 

 
Loans and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, less impairment loss, if any. 

 
(ii) AFS Financial Assets 

 
This category includes non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to 
this category or do not qualify for inclusion in any of the other categories of 
financial assets.  The Group’s AFS financial assets include listed equity securities, 
corporate bonds and golf club shares. 

 
All financial assets within this category are subsequently measured at fair value.  
Gains and losses from changes in fair value are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, net of any income tax effects, and are reported as part of 
the Net Unrealized Fair Value Gains on Available-for-sale Financial Assets 
account in equity, except for interest and dividend income, impairment losses and 
foreign exchange differences on monetary assets, which are recognized in profit 
or loss.   

 
When the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, that is, 
when there is a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 
below its cost, the cumulative fair value gains or losses recognized in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and is 
presented as reclassification adjustment within other comprehensive income even 
though the financial asset has not been derecognized. 

 
(c) Effective Interest Rate Method and Interest Income 

 
Under both PFRS 9 and PAS 39, Interest income is recorded using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instrument measured at amortized cost. 
Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at FVOCI under PFRS 9, 
similar to interest bearing financial assets classified as AFS under PAS 39, are also 
recorded by using the EIR method.  The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
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The EIR is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, 
fees and costs that are an integral part of EIR.  The Group recognizes interest income 
using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over 
the expected life of the loan.  Hence, it recognizes the effect of potentially different 
interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the product life 
cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 
 
If expectations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons 
other than credit risk, the adjustment is booked as a positive (negative) adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet with an increase (reduction) in 
Interest income.  The adjustment is subsequently amortized through interest and 
similar income in the statement of income. 

 
The Group calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying 
amount of financial assets other than credit-impaired assets. 

 
For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition 
[see Note 2.5(d)], interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to 
the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).  
If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts 
to the gross basis.  For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, 
interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the 
amortized cost of the asset.  The calculation of interest income does not revert to a 
gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves. 

 
(d) Impairment of Financial Assets Under PFRS 9 

 

From January 1, 2018, the Group assesses its ECL on a forward-looking basis 
associated with its financial assets at amortized cost and debt securities measured at 
FVOCI.  Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on Group’s identification 
of a credit loss event.  Instead, the Group considers a broader range of information in 
assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, including past events, current 
conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect collectability of the future 
cash flows of the financial assets.  
 
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the 
following financial instruments for which they are measured as 12-month ECL: 
 
 debt securities that are identified to have ‘low credit risk’ at the reporting date; and, 
 other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) on which credit risk has 

not increased significantly since their initial recognition. 
 
For these financial instruments, the allowance for credit losses is based on 12-month 
ECL associated with the probability of default of a financial instrument in the next 12 
months (referred to as ‘Stage 1’ financial instruments).  Unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the initial recognition of the financial 
asset, a lifetime ECL (which are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows, 
considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial asset) 
will be recognized (referred to as ‘Stage 2’ financial instruments).  ‘Stage 2’ financial 
instruments also include those loan accounts and facilities where the credit risk has 
improved and have been reclassified from ‘Stage 3’.  A lifetime ECL shall be 
recognized for ‘Stage 3’ financial instruments, which include financial instruments that 
are subsequently credit-impaired, as well as purchased or originated credit impaired 
(POCI) assets. 
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The Group’s definition of credit risk and information on how credit risk is mitigated by 
the Group are disclosed in Note 5.3. 
 
Measurement of ECL 
 
The key elements used in the calculation of ECL are as follows: 
 
 Probability of default (PD) – it is an estimate of likelihood of a borrower defaulting on 

its financial obligation (see Note 5.3) over a given time horizon, either over the next 
12 months (12-month PD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of the 
obligation. 
 

 Loss given default (LGD) – it is an estimate of loss arising in case where a default 
occurs at a given time (either over the next 12 months or 12-month LGD, or over 
the remaining lifetime or lifetime LGD).  It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those 
that the Group would expect to receive, including the realization of any collateral.  It 
is presented as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default. 
 

 Exposure at default (EAD) – it represents the gross carrying amount of the financial 
instruments subject to the impairment calculation; hence, this is the amount that the 
Group expects to be owed at the time of default over the next 12 months  
(12-month EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime EAD).  In case of a loan 
commitment, the Group shall include the undrawn balance (up to the current 
contractual limit) at the time of default should it occur. 

 
The measurement of the ECL reflects: (i) an unbiased and probability-weighted amount 
that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes; (ii) the time value of 
money; and, (iii) reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue 
cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts 
of future economic conditions.   
 
Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit 
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
 
The Group’s detailed ECL measurement, as determined by the management, is 
disclosed in Note 5.3. 

 
(e) Impairment of Financial Assets Under PAS 39 

 
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if, and only 
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a loss event) and that loss event has an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated.   
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Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes 
observable data that comes to the attention of the Group about certain loss events, 
including, among others: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; a breach 
of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; it is 
probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; the 
disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 
difficulties; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the 
estimated future cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition 
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual 
financial assets in the group. 

 
(i) Carried at amortized cost   

 
The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists 
individually for financial assets that are individually significant and individually or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.  If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, the Group includes the asset in 
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 
assesses them for impairment.  Financial assets that are individually assessed for 
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognized are 
not included in a collective assessment of impairment. 

 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and other 
receivables carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any 
impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the 
contract.  When practicable, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of 
an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price. 

 
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a 
collateralized financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from 
foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not 
foreclosure is probable. 

 
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are 
grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics.  Those characteristics 
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by 
being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated. 
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Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for 
impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets 
and historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to 
those in the group. 

 
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to 
reflect the effects of current conditions that did not affect the period on which 
the historical loss experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in 
the historical period that do not exist currently.  

 
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and 
be consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period.  The 
methodologies and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are 
reviewed regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates 
and actual loss experience. 

 
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan 
impairment.  Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures, 
including approval from the management and the BOD, has been completed and 
the amount of the loss has been determined.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off decrease the amount of the impairment loss in profit or 
loss.   

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment is 
recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously 
recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account.  The 
reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds 
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognized at the date of the impairment is reversed.  The amount of the reversal 
is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
In addition, under Section 9(f) of the Rules and Regulations to implement the 
provisions of Republic Act (RA) No. 8556, The Financing Company Act of 1998, a 
100% allowance should be set up for the following:  

 
 Clean loans and advances past due for a period of more than six months; 
 Past due loans secured by collateral such as inventories, receivables, equipment 

and other chattels that have declined in value by more than 50%, without the 
borrower offering additional collateral for the loans; 

 Past due loans secured by real estate mortgage the title to which is subject to an 
adverse claim rendering settlement through foreclosure doubtful; 

 When the borrower, and his co-maker or guarantor, is insolvent or where their 
whereabouts is unknown, or their earning power is permanently impaired; 

 Accrued interest receivable that remains uncollected after six months from the 
maturity date of the loan to which it accrues; and, 

 Accounts receivable past due for 361 days or more. 
 

These requirements and conditions were accordingly considered by the Group in 
the determination of impairment loss provision on assets carried at amortized cost 
particularly loans and other receivables. 
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(ii) Carried at fair value with changes charged to other comprehensive income   
 
In the case of investments classified as AFS financial assets, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in 
determining whether the assets are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for AFS 
financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that 
financial asset previously recognized in other comprehensive income as part of 
equity – is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.  
Impairment losses recognized in other comprehensive income on equity 
instruments are not reversed through other comprehensive income.   

 
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as AFS 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after 
the impairment loss was recognized in profit or loss, the impairment loss is 
reversed through the statement of income. 

 
(iii) Carried at cost 

 
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective 
evidence that any of the unquoted equity securities (investments in perpetual 
notes) which are carried at cost and for which objective evidence of impairment 
exists.  The amount of impairment loss is the difference between the carrying 
amount of the equity security and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.  
Impairment losses on assets carried at cost cannot be reversed. 

 
(f) Derecognition of Financial Assets 
 

(i) Modification of loans 
 

When the Group derecognizes a financial asset through renegotiation or 
modification of contractual cash flows of loans to customers, the Group assesses 
whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms.  
The Group considers, among others: 

 
 If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely 

reduces the contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be 
able to pay; 

 Whether any substantial new terms are introduced that will affect the risk 
profile of the loan; 

 Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial     
difficulty; 

 Significant change in the interest rate; 
 Change in the currency the loan is denominated in; and/or,  
 Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that will 

significantly affect the credit risk associated with the loan. 
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If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognizes the financial asset 
and recognizes a “new” asset at fair value, and recalculates a new effective interest 
rate for the asset.  The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the 
date of initial recognition for impairment calculation, including for the purpose of 
determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.  However, 
the Group also assesses whether the new financial asset recognized is deemed to 
be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the 
renegotiation was driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed 
payments.  Differences in the carrying amount are as gain or loss on 
derecognition of financial assets in profit or loss.  As to the impact on ECL 
measurement, the expected fair value of the “new” asset is treated as the final cash 
flow from the existing financial asset at the date of derecognition.  Such amount is 
included in the calculation of cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset that 
are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to the reporting date 
using the original effective interest rate of the existing financial asset. 

 
If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does 
not result in derecognition, and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount 
based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognizes a 
modification gain or loss in profit or loss.  The new gross carrying amount is 
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows of the original effective 
interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for POCI financial assets).  
As to the impact on ECL measurement, the derecognition of the existing financial 
asset will result in the expected cash flows arising from the modified financial 
asset to be included in the calculation of cash shortfalls from the existing financial 
asset. 

 
(ii) Derecognition of financial assets other than modification 

 
A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group 
of financial assets) is derecognized when the contractual rights to receive cash 
flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and all 
substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to another party.  
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to 
pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a 
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset 
and a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received. 

 
(g) Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities 

 
As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same under PFRS 9 
compared to PAS 39, the Group's financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption 
of PFRS 9.  However, for completeness, the accounting policy is disclosed below and in 
the succeeding page. 
 
Financial liabilities include bills payable, accounts payable and other liabilities (except 
tax-related payables) and lease deposits. 

 



 - 22 - 

Financial liabilities are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
terms of the instrument.  All interest-related charges are included as part of Interest and 
Financing Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement of income. 

 
 Bills payable are raised for support of long-term and short-term funding of 

operations.  They are recognized at proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  
Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and 
direct issue costs, are charged to profit or loss on an accrual basis using the 
effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument 
to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 

 
 Accounts payable and other liabilities are initially recognized at their fair values and 

subsequently measured at amortized cost less settlement payments. 
 

 Lease deposits are initially recognized at fair value.  The excess of the principal 
amount of the deposits over its present value at initial recognition is immediately 
recognized and is included as part of Day-one gains under Other Income account 
in the statement of income.  Meanwhile, interest expense on the amortization of 
lease deposits using the effective interest method is included as part of Interest and 
Financing Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement of 
income. 

 
 Dividend distributions to shareholders are recognized as financial liabilities upon 

declaration by the Group. 
 
(h) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are derecognized from the statement of financial position only 
when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or 
expiration.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognized and the consideration paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
2.6 Property and Equipment 

 
Property and equipment are carried at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and any impairment in value.   
 
The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to working condition for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, major 
improvements and renewals are capitalized while expenditures for repairs and maintenance 
are charged to expense as incurred.   

 
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 
the depreciable assets as follows: 

 
  Transportation and other equipment     3 to 5 years 
  Furniture, fixtures and others    3 to 5 years 

 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the terms of the leases or the estimated useful 
lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.17). 
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The residual values and estimated useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization 
of property and equipment are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
An item of property and equipment, including the related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization and impairment losses, if any, is derecognized upon disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or 
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the 
year the item is derecognized. 
 
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use and no 
further charge for depreciation is made in respect of those assets. 
 
2.7 Non-current Assets Classified as Held-for-Sale 

 
Assets held-for-sale (presented under Other Assets) include chattel or personal properties 
acquired through repossession or foreclosure that the Group intends to sell and will be 
disposed of within one year from the date of classification as held-for-sale.  For real and 
other properties acquired through foreclosure or repossession, the Group included in its 
criteria that there should be an existence of a buyer before a foreclosed or repossessed 
property can be classified as Non-Current Asset Held-for-Sale (NCAHS) [see Notes 3.1(g)]. 

  
The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held-for-sale if its carrying 
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use.  In the event that the sale of the asset is extended beyond one year, the 
extension of the period required to complete the sale does not preclude an asset from being 
classified as held-for-sale if the delay is caused by events or circumstances beyond the 
Group’s control and as long as there is a ready buyer. 
 
Assets classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts, 
immediately prior to their classification as held-for-sale, and their fair values less costs to sell.  
The Group shall recognize an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent  
write-down of the asset at fair value less cost to sell.  Gain for any subsequent increase in fair 
value less cost to sell of an asset is recognized to the extent of the cumulative impairment 
loss previously recognized.  Assets classified as held-for-sale are not subject to depreciation. 
 
If the Group has classified an asset as held-for-sale, but the criteria for it to be recognized as 
held-for-sale are no longer satisfied, the Group shall cease to classify the asset as held-for-
sale. 
 
The gain or loss arising from the sale or remeasurement of held-for-sale assets is recognized 
in profit or loss and included as part of Other Income (Expenses) in the statement of 
income. 
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2.8 Investment Properties 
 

Investment properties are stated at cost.  The cost of an investment property comprises its 
purchase price and directly attributable cost incurred.  This also includes properties acquired 
by the Group from defaulting borrowers that are not held-for-sale in the next  
12 months from the end of the reporting period.  For these properties, the cost at initial 
recognition is the properties’ fair market value at the date of foreclosure.  Investment 
properties, except land, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of ten years. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value.  Depreciation and impairment loss are recognized 
in the same manner as in property and equipment. 
 
The fair values of investment properties, as disclosed in Note 11, are based on valuations 
provided by independent and/or in-house appraisers, which are market value for land and 
building and related improvements and reproduction cost for certain building and 
improvements. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized upon disposal or when permanently withdrawn from 
use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  Any gain or loss on the 
retirement or disposal of investment properties is recognized in profit or loss in the year of 
retirement or disposal. 
 
Direct operating expenses related to investment properties, such as repairs and maintenance, 
and real estate taxes, are normally charged against current operations in the period in which 
these costs are incurred. 
 
2.9 Other Assets 

 
Other assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Group as a result of past events.  
They are recognized in the financial statements when it is probable that the future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the asset has a cost or value that can be 
measured reliably. 
 
Presented as part of other assets are intangible assets pertaining to acquired computer 
software licenses, which are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
install the specific software.  Capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life of five years as the lives of these intangible assets are considered 
finite.  In addition, intangible assets are subject to impairment testing as described in  
Note 2.17.  Costs associated with maintaining computer software and those costs 
associated with research activities are recognized as expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

 
2.10 Offsetting Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount, considered as 
a single financial asset or financial liability, is reported in the statement of financial position 
when the Group currently has legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.  The right of set-off must be available at the end of the reporting period, 
that is, it is not contingent on a future event.  It must also be enforceable in the normal 
course of business, in the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy; 
and, must be legally enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the financial 
instruments. 
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2.11 Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events.  
 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting period, 
including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  Where there are 
a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  When time value of money 
is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their present values using a pretax rate 
that reflects market assessments and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the 
provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.  Provisions are reviewed 
at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
 
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be 
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements.  Similarly, possible 
inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of 
an asset are considered contingent assets, hence, are not recognized in the financial 
statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement that the Group can be virtually certain 
to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset 
not exceeding the amount of the related provision. 
 
2.12 Residual Value of Leased Assets  

 
The residual value of leased assets, which approximates the amount of lease deposit paid by 
the lessee at the inception of the lease, is the estimated proceeds from the disposal of the 
leased asset at the end of the lease term.  At the end of the lease term, the residual value of 
the leased asset is generally applied against the lease deposit of the lessee.  The residual value 
of leased assets is presented as part of Loans and Other Receivables account in the statement 
of financial position. 

 
2.13 Equity 

 
Capital stock represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 
 
Additional paid-in capital includes any premiums received on the issuance of capital stock.  
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional 
paid-in capital, net of any related income tax benefits. 

 
Treasury shares are stated at the cost of reacquiring such shares. 
 
Net accumulated actuarial losses arise from the remeasurement of post-employment defined 
benefit plan. 

 
Net unrealized fair value gains and losses on financial assets at FVOCI (previously as AFS 
financial assets) pertain to cumulative mark-to-market valuation.  
 
Accumulated share in other comprehensive income of associate pertains to changes resulting 
from the Group’s share in other comprehensive income of associate or items recognized 
directly in the associates’ equity. 
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Retained earnings reserves pertain to the appropriation of the Retained Earnings – Free  
account, brought about by cases when the allowance for impairment on ‘Stage 1’ loan 
accounts computed under the requirements of PFRS 9 is less than the 1% GLLP required by 
the BSP.  This is in pursuant to BSP Circular No. 1011, Guidelines on the Adoption of PFRS 9, 
which requires financial institutions to set up GLLP equivalent to 1% of all outstanding  
‘Stage 1’ on the statement of financial position. 
 
Retained earnings free represents all current and prior period results as reported in the 
statement of income, reduced by the amounts of dividends declared. 

 
2.14 Other Income and Expense Recognition 

 
In 2017 and prior years, revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue can be reliably 
measured; it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group; and the 
expenses and costs incurred and to be incurred can be measured reliably.  In 2018, revenue is 
recognized only when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring 
control of the promised services to the customer.  A contract with a customer that results in 
a recognized financial instrument in the Group’s financial statements may be partially within 
the scope of PFRS 9 and partially within the scope of PFRS 15.  In such case, the Group 
first applies PFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in-scope of 
PFRS 9, and then applies PFRS 15 to the residual part of the contract.  Expenses and costs, 
if any, are recognized in profit or loss upon utilization of the assets or services or at the date 
these are incurred.  All finance costs are reported in profit or loss on accrual basis. 

 
The Group also earns service fees related to the Group’s factoring receivables which are 
supported by contracts and approved by the parties involved.  These revenues are 
accounted for by the Group in accordance with PFRS 15.   
 
For revenues arising from various financing services which are to be accounted for under 
PFRS 15, the following provides information about the nature and timing of satisfaction of 
performance obligations in contracts with customers and the related revenue recognition 
policies: 
 
(a) Service fees – Service fees related to the factoring of receivables are recognized as revenue 

at the point when services are rendered, i.e., when performance obligation is satisfied.  
This account is included under Other Income account in the statement of income. 

 
(b) Income from assets sold or exchanged – Income from assets sold or exchanged is recognized 

when the control and title to the properties is transferred to the buyer or when the 
collectability of the entire sales price is reasonably assured.  This account is included 
under Other Income account in the statement of income.  
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2.15 Leases 
 
The Group accounts for its leases as follows: 

 
(a) Group as a Lessor 

  
Finance leases, where the Group transfers substantially all the risk and benefits 
incidental to ownership of the leased item to the lessee, are included in the statement 
of financial position under Loans and Other Receivables account.  A lease receivable is 
recognized at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.  The difference 
between the gross lease receivable and the net investment in the lease is recognized as 
unearned finance income.  Finance income is recognized based on the pattern 
reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding 
in respect of the finance lease. 
 
All income resulting from the receivable is included as part of Interest and Discounts 
in the statement of income.   

 
Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from operating 
leases is recognized as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, or on a systematic basis which is more representative of the time pattern in 
which the use or benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. 

 
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating operating leases are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same basis as the 
rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the year in which they 
are earned. 

 
(b) Group as a Lessee  

 
Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments  
(net of any incentive received from the lessor) are recognized as expense in profit or 
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as maintenance 
and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 
 

The Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on the 
substance of the arrangement.  It makes an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset. 

 
2.16 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 

 
The accounting records of the Group are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign currency 
transactions during the period are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates.   

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement of income. 
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Changes in the fair value of monetary financial assets denominated in foreign currency 
classified as financial assets at FVOCI (previously AFS securities) are analyzed between 
translation differences resulting from changes in the amortized cost of the security and other 
changes in the carrying amount of the security.  Translation differences related to changes in 
amortized cost are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 
2.17 Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 
The Group’s property and equipment, investment properties and other non-financial assets 
and the Parent Company’s investments in a subsidiary and an associate are subject to 
impairment testing.  Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or those not yet available 
for use are tested for impairment at least annually.  All other individual assets are tested for 
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of those assets may not be recoverable.  
 
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, some assets are 
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.   

 
Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s or    
cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amounts which is the higher 
of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  In determining value in use, 
management estimates the expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and 
determines the suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows.  The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s 
latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of asset enhancements.  
Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect 
management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk 
factors.  
 
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the 
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss. 
 
2.18 Employee Benefits 
 
The Group provides post-employment benefits to employees through a defined benefit plan, 
defined contribution plan and other employee benefits which are recognized as follows: 
 
(a) Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan  

 
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount of  
post-employment benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The legal 
obligation for any benefits from this kind of post-employment plan remains with the 
Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have been acquired.  
Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a long-term benefit fund, as 
well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Group’s post-employment defined benefit 
pension plan covers all regular full-time employees.  The post-employment plan is  
tax-qualified, non-contributory and administered by a trustee. 
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The liability recognized in the statement of financial position for a defined benefit plan 
is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period 
less the fair value of plan assets.  The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.  The present value of 
the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using a discount rate derived from the interpolated yields of government 
bonds as calculated by Bloomberg which used BVAL Evaluated Pricing Service to 
calculate the PHP BVAL Reference Rates.  These yields are denominated in the 
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related post-employment liability which are 
published by Philippine Dealing & Exchange Corp. (PDEx). 

 
Remeasurement, comprising of actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions and the return on plan assets 
(excluding interest), is reflected immediately in the statement of financial position with 
a charge or credit recognized in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they arise.  Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of 
the period to the net defined benefit liability or asset and is included as part of Interest 
and Discounts or Interest and Financing Charges.  
 
Past service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period of a plan 
amendment or curtailment. 
 

(b) Post-employment Defined Benefit Contribution Plan 
 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment plan under which the Group pays 
fixed contributions into an independent entity, such as the Social Security System.  The 
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions after 
payment of the fixed contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of defined 
contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.   
 

(c) Termination Benefits 
 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Group recognizes termination 
benefits at the earlier of when it can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits and 
when it recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of PAS 37, 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, and involves the payment of 
termination benefits.  In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees 
expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the 
reporting period are discounted to their present value. 
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(d) Compensated Absences 
 

Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days  
(including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of reporting period.  They are 
included in the Account Payable and Other Liabilities account in the statement of 
financial position at the undiscounted amount that the Group expects to pay as a result 
of the unused entitlement.  Compensated absences convertible to monetary 
consideration accruing to employees qualified under the retirement plan are now 
funded by the Group through its post-employment retirement fund.  Accordingly, the 
related Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account previously set-up for the 
compensated absences is reversed upon contribution to the retirement fund. 
 

(e) Employee Stock Option Plan 
 
BDO Unibank Group grants stock option plan to its senior officers (from vice 
president up), including the officers of the Group, for their contribution to the 
Group’s performance and attainment of team goals.  The stock option plan gives 
qualified employees the right to purchase BDO Unibank’s shares at an agreed strike 
price.  The amount of stock option allocated to the qualified officers is based on the 
performance of the individual officers as determined by the management and is 
determined based on the Group’s performance in the preceding year and amortized 
over five years (vesting period) starting from date of approval of the BOD.  The 
number of officers qualified at the grant date is regularly evaluated (at least annually) 
during the vesting period and the amount of stock option is decreased in case there are 
changes in the number of qualified employees arising from resignation or 
disqualification.  
 
Liability recognized on the stock option plan for the amount charged by the BDO 
Unibank Group attributable to the qualified officers of the Group is included in 
Accrued taxes and other expenses under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 
account in the statement of financial position and the related expense is presented in 
Employee Benefits account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement of 
income (see Notes 15 and 20). 

 
2.19 Borrowing Costs 

 
Borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, except 
to the extent that they are capitalized.  Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (i.e., an asset that takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) are capitalized as part of 
cost of such asset.  The capitalization of borrowing costs commences when expenditures for 
the asset and borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.  Capitalization ceases when substantially 
all such activities are complete. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization. 
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2.20 Income Taxes 
 

Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises current tax and deferred tax not 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any. 

 
Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid at 
the end of the reporting period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.  
All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense 
in profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method, on temporary differences at the end 
of the reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with certain 
exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period 
and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will be 
available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled provided such tax rates have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 
and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Most changes in 
deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax expense in profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
2.21 Earnings Per Share  

 
Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income attributable to equity 
holders of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of common shares 
subscribed and issued during the year, adjusted retroactively for any stock dividend, stock 
split or reverse stock split declared during the current period.  The Group does not have 
dilutive common shares. 
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2.22 Related Party Relationships and Transactions   
 

Related party transactions are transfer of resources, services or obligations between the 
Group and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  These parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the Group; 
(b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of 
the Group that gives them significant influence over the Group and close members of the 
family of any such individual; and, (d) the Group’s retirement plan. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance 
of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 
 
2.23 Events After the End of the Reporting Period 
 
Any post-year-end event that provides additional information about the Group’s financial 
position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the financial 
statements.  Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events, if any, are disclosed when 
material to the financial statements. 
 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements in accordance with PFRS requires 
management to make judgements and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
financial statements and related notes.  Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated 
and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results may 
ultimately differ from these estimates. 

  
3.1 Critical Management Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgements, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements: 

  
(a) Distinguishing Operating and Finance Leases 

 
The Group has entered in various lease arrangements as a lessor.  Critical judgement 
was exercised by management to distinguish each lease arrangement as either an 
operating or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the agreements.  Failure to make 
the right judgement will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets and 
liabilities. 

 
The Group has determined that it has transferred all the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership of the properties which are leased out on finance lease arrangements.  
The Subsidiary’s operations involve operating leases.  The Group has determined that 
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership over the properties which 
are leased out on operating lease arrangements. 
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(b) Application of ECL to Financial Assets at FVOCI (2018) 
 

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for all debt instruments carried at 
FVOCI.  The allowance for impairment is based on the ECLs associated with the PD 
of a financial instrument in the next 12 months, unless there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since origination of the financial instrument, in such case, a 
lifetime ECL for the instrument is recognized. 

 
The Group has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each 
reporting period, whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over 
the remaining life of the financial instrument. 
 

(c) Evaluation of Business Model Applied in Managing Financial Instruments (2018) 
 

Upon adoption of PFRS 9, the Group developed business models which reflect how it 
manages its portfolio of financial instruments.  The Group’s business models need not 
be assessed at entity level or as a whole but shall be applied at the level of a portfolio 
of financial instruments (i.e., group of financial instruments that are managed together 
by the Group) and not on an instrument-by-instrument basis (i.e., not based on 
intention or specific characteristics of individual financial instrument). 

 
In determining the classification of a financial instrument under PFRS 9, the Group 
evaluates in which business model a financial instrument or a portfolio of financial 
instruments belong to taking into consideration the objectives of each business model 
established by the Group (e.g., held-for-trading, generating accrual income, direct 
matching to a specific liability) as those relate to the Group’s investment and trading 
strategies. 
 

(d) Testing the Cash Flow Characteristics of Financial Assets and Continuing Evaluation of the 
Business Model (2018)  

 
In determining the classification of financial assets under PFRS 9, the Group assesses 
whether the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are SPPI on the principal outstanding, with interest representing time value 
of money and credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding.  The 
assessment as to whether the cash flows meet the test is made in the currency in which 
the financial asset is denominated.  Any other contractual term that changes the timing 
or amount of cash flows (unless it is a variable interest rate that represents time value 
of money and credit risk) does not meet the amortized cost criteria.  In cases where the 
relationship between the passage of time and the interest rate of the financial 
instrument may be imperfect, known as modified time value of money, the Group 
assesses the modified time value of money feature to determine whether the financial 
instrument still meets the SPPI criterion.  The objective of the assessment is to 
determine how different the undiscounted contractual cash flows could be from the 
undiscounted cash flows that would arise if the time value of money element was not 
modified (the benchmark cash flows).  If the resulting difference is significant, the 
SPPI criterion is not met.  In view of this, the Group considers the effect of the 
modified time value of money element in each reporting period and cumulatively over 
the life of the financial instrument.   
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In addition, PFRS 9 emphasizes that if more than an infrequent sale is made out of a 
portfolio of financial assets carried at amortized cost, if any, an entity should assess 
whether and how such sales are consistent with the objective of collecting contractual 
cash flows.  In making this judgement, the Group considers certain circumstances 
documented in its business model manual to assess that an increase in the frequency or 
value of sales of financial instruments in a particular period is not necessary 
inconsistent with a held-to-collect business model if the Group can explain the reasons 
for those sales and why those sales do not reflect a change in the Group’s objective for 
the business model. 

 

(e) Impairment of AFS Financial Assets (2017) 
 

The determination when an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired requires 
significant judgement.  In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other 
factors, the significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its 
cost, and the financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, 
including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology and 
operational and financing cash flows. 
 
No impairment loss was recognized in 2017 and 2016 for AFS financial assets.   

 

(f) Distinction Between Investment Properties and Owner-managed Properties 
 

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as investment property.  In making 
its judgement, the Group considers whether the property generates cash flows largely 
independent of the other assets held by an entity.  Owner-occupied properties generate 
cash flows that are attributable not only to the property but also to other assets used in 
the supply process. 
 
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production and supply of 
goods and services or for administrative purposes.  If these portions can be sold 
separately (or leased out separately under finance lease), the Group accounts for the 
portions separately.  If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property is 
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  
Judgement is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a 
property does not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers each property 
separately in making its judgement. 
 

(g) Classification of Acquired Properties and Fair Value Determination of Non-Current Assets  
Held-for-Sale and Investment Properties 

 

The Group classifies its acquired properties as NCAHS if expected that the properties 
will be recovered through sale rather than use, and as Investment Properties if 
intended to be held for capital appreciation or for rental to others.  At initial 
recognition, the Group determines the fair value of the acquired properties through 
internally or externally generated appraisal.  The appraised value is determined based 
on the current economic and market conditions as well as the physical condition of the 
properties. 

  
The Group provides additional criterion for booking real and chattel properties to 
NCAHS such that the real and chattel properties should have a ready buyer before it 
can be booked as NCAHS.  Accounts with no ready buyers were classified as 
Investment Properties for real properties and as Repossessed chattels and other 
equipment under Other Assets account for other properties.   
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(h) Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 

 
Judgement is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and 
contingencies.  Policies on recognition of provisions and contingencies are discussed in 
Note 2.11 and disclosures on relevant provisions are presented in Note 25. 

 
3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
reporting period: 

 
(a) Estimation of Allowance for ECL (2018) 

 
The measurement of the allowance for ECL on financial assets at amortized cost is an 
area that requires the use of significant assumptions about the future economic 
conditions and credit behavior (e.g., likelihood of customers defaulting and the 
resulting losses).  Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation used in 
measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 5.3. 

 
The carrying value of financial assets at FVOCI and Loans and other receivables, and 
the analysis of the allowance for impairment on such financial assets, are shown in 
Notes 8, 9 and 13, respectively.  
 

(b) Determination of Fair Value Measurement for Financial Assets at FVOCI (2018) 
 
The Group carries certain financial assets at fair value which requires the extensive use 
of accounting estimates and judgement.  In cases when active market quotes are not 
available, fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another 
financial instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net base of the instrument.   
 
The amount of changes in fair value would differ if the Group had utilized different 
valuation methods and assumptions.  Any change in fair value of the financial assets 
and financial liabilities would affect other comprehensive income.   
 
The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets at FVOCI and the amounts of fair 
value changes recognized are disclosed in Notes 6 and 8, respectively. 
 

(c) Impairment of Loans and Other Receivables (2017) 
 

Adequate amount of allowance for impairment is provided for specific and groups of 
accounts, where objective evidence of impairment exists.  The Group evaluates the 
amount of allowance for impairment based on available facts and circumstances 
affecting the collectability of the accounts, including, but not limited to, the length of 
the Group’s relationship with the customers, the customers’ current credit status based 
on third party credit reports and known market forces, average age of accounts, 
collection experience and historical loss experience.  The Group also considers the 
loan loss provisioning requirements of the BSP and The Financing Company Act.  The 
methodology and assumptions used in estimating future cash flows are reviewed 
regularly by the Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss 
experience. 
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The carrying value of loans and other receivables and the analysis of allowance for 
impairment on such financial assets are shown in Notes 9 and 13, respectively. 
 

(d) Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment, Investment Properties and Computer Software 
 

The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment, investment 
properties and computer software (classified as Intangible assets under Other Assets) 
based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available for use.  The 
estimated useful lives of property and equipment, investment properties and computer 
software are reviewed periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous 
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal 
or other limits on the use of the assets.   
 
The carrying amounts of property and equipment, investment properties and computer 
software are presented in Notes 10, 11 and 12, respectively.  Based on management’s 
assessment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there is no change in estimated useful 
lives of property and equipment, investment properties and computer software during 
those years.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in estimates brought 
about by changes in factors mentioned above.   
 

(e) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
 

The Group’s policy on estimating the impairment of non-financial assets is discussed 
in detail in Note 2.17.  Though management believes that the assumptions used in the 
estimation of fair values reflected in the financial statements are appropriate and 
reasonable, significant changes in those assumptions may materially affect the 
assessment of recoverable values and any resulting impairment loss could have a 
material adverse effect on the results of operations. 
 
Impairment losses recognized on investment properties and other assets are presented 
in Notes 11, 12 and 13.  No impairment loss is recognized for property and equipment 
(see Note 10). 
 

(f) Determining Fair Value Measurement for AFS Financial Assets (2017) 
 

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial 
instruments where active market quotes are not available.  This requires management 
to develop estimates and assumptions based on market inputs, using observable data 
that market participants would use in pricing the instrument.  Where such data is not 
observable, management uses its best estimate.  Estimated fair values of financial 
instruments may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length 
transaction at the reporting date.   
 
The fair values and the carrying values of the Group’s AFS financial assets are disclosed 
in Notes 6 and 8, respectively. 
 

(g) Fair Value Measurement for Investment Properties 
 

The Group’s land, building and improvements classified under investment properties 
are measured at cost model; however, the related fair value is disclosed at the end of the 
reporting period.  In determining the fair value of these assets, the Group engages the 
services of professional and independent appraisers applying the relevant valuation 
methodologies as discussed in Note 6.   
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For investment properties with appraisal conducted prior to the end of the current 
reporting period, management determines whether there are significant circumstances 
during the intervening period that may require adjustments or changes in the disclosure 
of fair value of those properties. 
 

(h) Determining Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 
 

The Group reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period and 
reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  Management has assessed that deferred tax assets recognized as at  
December 31, 2018 and 2017 may be recoverable.   
 
The carrying value of the deferred tax assets (netted against deferred tax liabilities)  
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is disclosed in Note 22. 

 
(i) Valuation of Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation 

 
The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost of pension and other retirement 
benefits is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in 
calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions include, among others, discount rates, 
and salary increase rate.  A significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions may 
generally affect the recognized expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the 
carrying amount of the post-employment benefit obligation in the next reporting 
period. 
 
The amounts of retirement benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of the 
movements in the estimated present value of retirement benefit obligation, as well as 
significant assumptions used in estimating such obligation are presented in Note 20.2. 
 
 

4. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 
4.1 Business Segments 

 
The Group is organized into different business units based on its products and services for 
purposes of management assessment of each unit.  For management purposes, the Group is 
organized into three major business segments, namely: leasing, financing and others.  These 
are also the basis of the Group in reporting to its chief operating decision-maker for its 
strategic decision-making activities. 
 
The products under the leasing segment are the following: 
 Operating leases; and, 
 Finance leases. 

  
The products under the financing segment are the following: 
 Amortized commercial loans; 
 Installment paper purchases; 
 Floor stock financing; and,  
 Factoring of receivables. 

 
The Group’s products and services are marketed in the Metro Manila head office and in its 
five branches (see Note 1). 
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4.2 Segment Assets and Liabilities 
 

Segment assets are allocated based on their use or direct association with a specific segment 
and they include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating 
cash, and loans and receivables, net of allowances and provisions.  Similar to segment assets, 
segment liabilities are also allocated based on their use or direct association with a specific 
segment.  Segment liabilities include all bills payable and lease deposits.  Segment assets and 
liabilities do not include deferred taxes. 
 
4.3 Intersegment Transactions 
 
Intersegment transactions in 2018 and 2017 pertain to rent income, management fee, as well 
as dividends earned by the Parent Company from BDO Rental.  

 
4.4 Analysis of Segment Information 

 
Segment information and reconciliation can be analyzed as follows: 
    

    Leasing   Financing  Segment Total  Others       Eliminations    Group  
 
 For the Year Ended  
 December 31, 2018 
 
 Statement of Income 
 
 Segment revenues  
  External P  1,833.5  P  998.4 P  2,831.9 P 383.6  P -   P  3,215.5 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -    35.4 (   35.4 )  -  
     1,833.5   998.4   2,831.9   419.0 (   35.4 )   3,215.5 
 
 Segment expenses 
  External   1,593.8   867.9   2,461.7  333.5   -    2,795.2 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -   0.4 (   0.4 )  -  
     1,593.8   867.9   2,461.7  333.9 (   0.4 )  2,795.2 
    
 Segment results P  239.7 P  130.5 P  370.2 P 85.1 ( P  35.0 )   420.3
               
 Tax expense                   89.6 
 
 Net profit                 P  330.7 
  

December 31, 2018 
 

Statement of Financial Position 
 
 Segment assets P  22,254.8 P 14,024.5 P 36,279.3 P -   P -   P 36,279.3 
 Unallocated assets                  5,260.9 
 
 Total assets                 P 41,540.2  
  
 Segment liabilities   20,816.9  14,793.3  35,610.1  -    -   P 35,610.1 
 Unallocated liabilities                   587.1 
              
 Total liabilities                  P 36,197.2
  
 Other segment information :  
  Capital expenditures P  888.9 P -  P  888.9 P 6.2  P -   P  895.1 
  Depreciation and amortization P  861.4 P -  P  861.4 P 20.1  P -   P  881.5 
  Impairment and credit losses P -  P -  P -  P 1.0  P -   P  1.0 
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    Leasing   Financing  Segment Total  Others       Eliminations    Group  
 

For the Year Ended  
  December 31, 2017 
 
 Statement of Income 
 
 Segment revenues  
  External P  1,775.7 P  979.3 P  2,755.0 P 401.5  P -   P  3,156.5 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -   120.4 (   120.4 )  -  
     1,775.7   979.3   2,755.0  521.9 (   120.4 )   3,156.5 
 
 Segment expenses 
  External   1,367.5   815.2   2,182.7  254.5   -     2,437.2 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -   0.4 (   0.4 )  -  
     1,367.5   815.2   2,182.7  254.9 (   0.4 )   2,437.2 
    
 Segment results P  408.2 P  164.1 P  572.3 P 267.0 ( P  120.0 )   719.3 
  
 Tax expense                   148.8 
 
 Net profit                 P  570.5 
 

December 31, 2017 
 
Statement of Financial Position 

 
 Segment assets P 20,498.1 P 15,606.7 P 36,104.8 P  5,897.5 ( P  531.2 ) P 41,471.1 
 Unallocated assets                   1,370.5 
 
 Total assets                  P 42,841.6 
 
 Segment liabilities  19,400.4  17,066.5  36,466.9  -    -   P 36,466.9 
 Unallocated liabilities                    932.4 
 
 Total liabilities                  P 37,399.3
  
 Other segment information :  
  Capital expenditures P  776.5 P -  P  776.5 P  6.1  P -   P  782.6 
  Depreciation and amortization P  814.5 P -  P 814.5 P  21.7  P -   P  836.2 
  Impairment and credit losses P -  P -  P -  P  63.5  P -   P  63.5 
 

For the Year Ended  
  December 31, 2016 
 
 Statement of Income 
 
 Segment revenues  
  External P  1,720.3 P  914.3 P  2,634.6 P 219.7  P -   P  2,854.3 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -   60.7 (   60.7 )  -  
     1,720.3   914.3   2,634.6  280.4 (   60.7 )   2,854.3 
 
 Segment expenses 
  External   1,267.8   673.9   1,941.7  161.9   -     2,103.6 
  Inter-segment  -   -   -   0.7 (   0.7 )  -  
     1,267.8   673.9   1,941.7  162.6 (   0.7 )   2,103.6 
    
 Segment results P  452.5 P  240.4 P  692.9 P 117.80 ( P  60.0 )   750.7 
  
 Tax expense                   180.7 
 
 Net profit                 P  570.0 
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Segment expenses are allocated on the basis of gross income. 
  

 Net segment assets are comprised of the following: 
 
      2018    
     Leasing     Financing   

    
 Receivables  P 15,351.4   P  14,299.2 
 Residual value of leased assets    6,582.4    - 
 Unearned income (  1,618.6 ) (  29.2 ) 
 Client’s equity   -   (  31.6 ) 
     20,315.2    14,238.4 
 Equipment under lease   2,246.1    -   
     22,561.3    14,238.4  
 Allowance for impairment (  306.5 ) (  213.9 ) 

 
    P 22,254.8  P  14,024.5 

   
      2017    
     Leasing     Financing   

    
 Receivables  P 13,951.7   P  16,022.8 
 Residual value of leased assets    5,974.4    -  
 Unearned income (  1,361.1 ) (  19.4 ) 
 Client’s equity   -   (  33.3 ) 
     18,565.0    15,970.1 
 Equipment under lease   2,249.5    -   
     20,814.5    15,970.1  
 Allowance for impairment (  316.4 ) (  363.4 ) 

 
    P 20,498.1  P  15,606.7 
 
The Group’s bills payable, including payable to BDO Unibank, amounting to P28,977.8 and 
P30,478.3 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, is allocated between the leasing 
and financing segments based on the carrying amounts of receivables of these segments.  
Deposits on lease amounting to P6,632.3 and P5,988.6 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, are included in the leasing segment. 
 
 

5. RISK MANAGEMENT  
 

Management of the Group’s credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risk are 
essential parts of the Group’s organizational structure and philosophy.  The risk 
management process is essentially a top-down process that emanates from the BOD.   
The BOD approves the overall institutional tolerance risk, including risk policies and risk 
philosophy of the Group. 
 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which results from both its operating 
and investing activities.  The Group’s risk management is coordinated in close cooperation 
with the BOD, and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short-to-medium term  
cash flows by minimizing the exposure to financial markets.  The Group does not engage in 
the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write options.  The most 
significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described in the succeeding 
pages. 
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5.1 Foreign Exchange Risk 
 

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in Philippine pesos, its functional currency.  
Exposures to currency exchange rates on financial assets arise from a portion of the Group’s 
leasing and financing portfolio, cash and cash equivalents and lease deposits which are 
denominated in United States (U.S.) dollars.   
 
The Group’s foreign-currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities translated 
into Philippine pesos at the closing rate at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 
     2018    2017   

    
 Cash and cash equivalents  P 5.0   P 7.0 
 Loans and other receivables    722.5   746.6 
 Bills payable (  565.6 ) (  600.7 ) 
 Lease deposits (  131.2 ) (  136.8 ) 
 
    P 30.7   P 16.1  

 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the currency exchange rates used to translate U.S. dollar 
denominated financial assets and financial liabilities to the Philippine pesos is approximately 
P52.58 and P49.9, respectively. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity with 
regard to the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities and the U.S. dollar – Philippine 
peso exchange rate.  It assumes a +/-11.8% change and +/-10.8% change of the Philippine 
peso/U.S. dollar exchange rate at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  These 
percentages have been determined based on the average market volatility in exchange rates in 
the previous 12 months at a 99% confidence level.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the 
Group’s foreign currency financial instruments held at the end of each reporting period. 

 
  2018     2017  
 Depreciation  Appreciation   Depreciation  Appreciation 

  of Peso   of Peso   of Peso   of Peso  
 

 Profit before tax  P   3.6  ( P  3.6)  P  1.7   (P  1.7 ) 
 Equity       2.5  (     2.5)    1.2   (  1.2 ) 

 
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume of 
foreign currency denominated transactions.  Nonetheless, the analysis above is considered to 
be representative of the Group’s currency risk. 
 
5.2 Interest Rate Risk 
 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group is exposed to changes in market interest rates 
through its bills payable and a portion of BDO Leasing’s loans and other receivables, which 
are subject to periodic interest rate repricing.  All other financial assets and financial liabilities 
have fixed rates. 
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The Group follows a prudent policy on managing its assets and liabilities so as to ensure that 
exposure to fluctuations in interest rates are kept within acceptable limits.  The current 
composition of the Group’s assets and liabilities results in significant negative gap positions 
for repricing periods under one year.  Consequently, the Group is vulnerable to increases in 
market interest rates.  However, in consideration of the substantial net interest margins 
between the Group’s marginal funding cost and its interest-earning assets, and favorable 
lease and financing terms which allow the Group to reprice annually, and to reprice at 
anytime in response to extraordinary fluctuations in interest rates, the Group believes that 
the adverse impact of any interest rate increase would be limited. 
 
In addition, during periods of declining interest rates, the existence of a negative gap position 
favorably impacts the Group. 
 
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net result for the year and equity to a 
reasonably possible change in interest rates for bills payable of +/-1.5% at December 31, 
2018 and +/-0.6% at December 31, 2017 and variable rate loans and other receivables of 
+/-2.9% at December 31, 2018 and +/-2.4% at December 31, 2017.  These changes are 
considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions for 
the past 12 months at a 99% confidence level.  The calculations are based on the Group’s 
and Parent Company’s financial instruments held at the end of each reporting period.  All 
other variables are held constant.  

 
     Increase in     Decrease in  
    _ Interest Rate     Interest Rate     
2018: 
  Loans and other receivables   +2.9%     -2.9%   
 Bills payable   +1.5%     -1.5%  

 
 Group/Parent Company 

   Increase (decrease) in:     
    Profit before tax    P 11.1   (  P 11.1 ) 
    Equity        7.7   (       7.7 ) 

 
2017: 
  Loans and other receivables   +2.4%     -2.4%   
 Bills payable   +0.6%     -0.6%  

 
 Group/Parent Company 

   Increase (decrease) in:     
    Profit before tax    P 0.3   (  P 0.3 ) 
    Equity      0.2   (        0.2 ) 

 
5.3 Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty in a transaction may default and arises from 
lending, treasury, and other activities undertaken by the Group.  Risk Management Unit 
(RMU) undertakes several functions with respect to credit risk management including credit 
analysis, risk ratings for corporate accounts, and development and performance monitoring of 
credit risk rating and scoring models for both corporate and consumer loans.  It also ensures 
that Group’s credit policies and procedures are adequate to meet the demands of the 
business.   
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RMU also subjects the loan portfolio to a regular portfolio quality review, credit portfolio 
stress testing, and rapid portfolio reviews based on specific and potential events that may 
affect borrowers in particular geographic locations or industries.   
 
The Group structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of 
risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to industry segments.  
Such risks are monitored on a regular basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review.  
Approval for credit limits are secured from the Credit Committee. 

 
Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 
potential borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these 
lending limits when appropriate.  Exposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining 
collateral or corporate and personal guarantees. 

 
5.3.1 Exposure to Credit Risk  

 
Loan classification and credit risk rating are an integral part of the Group’s management of 
credit risk.  On an annual basis, loans are reviewed, classified as necessary, and rated based on 
internal and external factors that affect its performance.  On a monthly basis, loan 
classifications of impaired accounts are assessed and the results are used as basis for the 
review of loan loss provisions.   

 
The Group’s definition of its loan classification and corresponding credit risk ratings are as 
follows:  

 
 Current/Unclassified : Grades AAA to B 
 Watchlisted  : Grade B- 
 Loans Especially Mentioned :  Grade C 
 Substandard : Grade D 
 Doubtful : Grade E 
 Loss : Grade F 

   
Once an account is Watchlisted or Adversely Classified, the resulting risk rating grade is 
aligned based on the above classification. 

 
(a) Unclassified 

 
These are individual credits that do not have a greater-than-normal risk and do not 
possess the characteristics of adversely classified loans.  These are credits that have the 
apparent ability to satisfy their obligations in full and therefore, no loss in ultimate 
collection is anticipated.  These are adequately secured by readily marketable collateral 
or other forms of support security or are supported by sufficient credit and financial 
information of favorable nature to assure repayment as agreed.  

  
(b) Watchlisted  
 

Since early identification of troublesome or potential accounts is vital in portfolio 
management, a “Watchlisted” classification of credit accounts is maintained.  These 
accounts are not adversely classified but they require more than normal attention to 
prevent these accounts from deteriorating to said category.  
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Past due or individually impaired financial assets comprise accounts under the following risk 
ratings:  
 
(c) Adversely Classified 

 
(i) Loans Especially Mentioned (LEM) 

 
It is an adverse classification of loans/accounts that have potential weaknesses and 
deserves management’s close attention.  These potential weaknesses, if left uncorrected, 
may affect the repayment of the loan and thus increase credit risk to the Group.   

 
(ii) Substandard 

 
Accounts classified as “Substandard” are individual credits or portions thereof, that 
have well-defined weakness/(es) that may jeopardize repayment/liquidation in full, 
either in respect of the business, cash flow or financial position, which may include 
adverse trends or developments that affect willingness or repayment ability of the 
borrower.  

 
(iii) Doubtful 

 
Accounts classified as “Doubtful” are individual credits or portions thereof which 
exhibit more severe weaknesses that those classified as “Substandard” whose 
characteristics on the basis of currently known facts, conditions and values make 
collection or liquidation highly improbable, however, the exact amount remains 
undeterminable as yet.  Classification as “Loss” is deferred because of specific pending 
factors, which may strengthen the assets.  

 
(iv) Loss 

 
Accounts classified as “Loss” are individual credits or portions thereof, which are 
considered uncollectible or worthless, and of such little value that their continuance as 
bankable assets are not warranted although the loans may have some recovery or 
salvage value.   

 
This shall be viewed as a transitional category for loans and other credit 
accommodations, which have been identified as requiring write-off during the current 
reporting period even though partial recovery may be obtained in the future. 

 
In addition to the above, credit portfolio review is another integral part of the Group’s 
management of credit risk.  This exercise involves the conduct of periodic post approval 
review of individual credits whose main objective is to help monitor and maintain sound and 
healthy risk asset portfolio.  Parameters of the credit portfolio review are structured so as to 
reflect both sides of the risk management equation such as credit quality and process.  This 
function actuates the philosophy that credit quality is derived from sound risk management 
process.  The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit 
ratings. 
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5.3.2 Credit Quality Analysis 
 

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of Loans and Other 
Receivables, debt investment securities at FVOCI (2018) and AFS debt securities (2017).  
Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table represent gross 
carrying amounts.  In 2018, the Group and the Parent Company has no financial instruments 
that are POCI assets. 
 
The following table shows the exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 for 
each internal risk grade and the related allowance for impairment: 

 
 Group 

          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  
 

Receivables from customers - corporate 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 24,881.0  P  0.4 P 33.1  P 24,914.5 P 27,078.6 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    539.9   33.4  22.1  595.4  252.8 
 Grade C : LEM     -   21.7  33.0  54.7  376.8 
 Grade D : Substandard    -   0.4  207.1  207.5  217.6 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   283.9  283.9  173.8 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   312.4  312.4  193.6 

      25,420.9  55.9  891.6  26,368.4  28,293.2 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 111.3) ( 1.8) (   333.4 ) (  446.5) (   541.6 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 25,309.6   P 54.1   P 558.2   P 25,921.9   P 27,751.6 

 

Receivables from customers - consumer 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 7,937.5  P -  P 36.9  P 7,974.4 P 5,998.3 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    -   -   -   -   -  
 Grade C : LEM     -    70.7  11.1   81.8  -  
 Grade D : Substandard    -   -   33.2   33.2   214.5 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   42.8  42.8   72.1 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   116.9  116.9  54.6 

      7,937.5  70.7   240.9  8,249.1   6,339.5 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 23.7) ( 3.2) (   47.0 ) (  73.9) (  138.2 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 7,913.8   P 67.5   P  193.9   P 8,175.2   P  6,201.3 

 

Other receivables 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 243.0  P -  P -   P 243.0 P 359.5 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    -   -   -   -   -  
 Grade C : LEM     -   -   -   -   -  
 Grade D : Substandard    -   12.4  4.6  17.0  7.4 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   2.3  2.3  3.9 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   23.6  23.6  27.3 

      243.0  12.4  30.5  285.9  398.1 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 0.7) ( 0.3) (   29.4 ) (  30.4) (   26.3 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 242.3   P 12.1   P 1.1   P 255.5   P 371.8 
 

Debt investment securities at FVOCI 

(2018) /AFS debt securities (2017) 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 1,119.8  P -  P  -  P 1,119.8 P 1,175.0 
 

 Parent Company 

          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  
 

Receivables from customers - corporate 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 24,881.0  P  0.4 P 33.1  P 24,914.5 P 27,078.6 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    539.9   33.4  22.1  595.4  252.8 
 Grade C : LEM     -   21.7  33.0  54.7  376.8 
 Grade D : Substandard    -   0.4  207.1  207.5  217.6 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   283.9  283.9  173.8 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   312.4  312.4  193.6 

      25,420.9  55.9  891.6  26,368.4  28,293.2 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 111.3) ( 1.8) (   333.4 ) (  446.5) (   541.6 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 25,309.6   P 54.1   P 558.2   P 25,921.9   P 27,751.6 
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 Parent Company 

          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  

 

Receivables from customers - consumer 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 7,937.5  P -  P 36.9  P 7,974.4 P 5,998.3 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    -   -   -   -   -  
 Grade C : LEM     -    70.7  11.1   81.8  -  
 Grade D : Substandard    -   -   33.2   33.2   214.5 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   42.8  42.8   72.1 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   116.9  116.9  54.6 

      7,937.5  70.7   240.9  8,249.1   6,339.5 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 23.7) ( 3.2) (   47.0 ) (  73.9) (  138.2 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 7,913.8   P 67.5   P  193.9   P 8,175.2   P  6,201.3 
 

Other receivables 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 80.8  P -  P  -  P 80.8 P 241.3 
 Grade B- : Watchlisted    -   -   -   -   - 
 Grade C : LEM     -   -   -   -   - 
 Grade D : Substandard    -   9.4  4.6  14.0  7.4 
 Grade E : Doubtful    -   -   2.3  2.3  3.9 
 Grade F : Loss    -   -   23.5  23.5  27.4 

      80.8  9.4  30.4  120.6  280.0 
Expected credit loss allowance    ( 0.7) (  0.3) (   29.2 ) (  30.2) (   26.3 ) 
 
Carrying amount     P 80.1   P 9.1   P  1.2   P 90.4   P  253.7 

 
Debt investment securities at FVOCI 

 (2018)/AFS debt securities (2017) 

 Grades AAA to B : Current   P 1,119.8  P -  P  -  P 1,119.8 P 1,175.0 

 
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties 
are reputable institutions with high quality external credit ratings. 

 
5.3.3 Concentrations of Credit Risk 

 

The Group and the Parent Company monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by 
geographic location.  An analysis of concentrations of credit risk (net of allowance) at the 
reporting date is shown below. 

 
        2018   2017  
        Cash and   Loans and   Financial   Cash and   Loans and   AFS  
        Cash   Other   Assets  at   Cash   Other   Financial 
        Equivalents   Receivables    FVOCI*   Equivalents   Receivables     Assets*  
 

Group 
 
 Concentration by sector: 
  Financial intermediaries  P  274.6   P 842.2   P -    P 457.7   P 2,653.6   P -  
  Manufacturing    -     3,587.3    -     -     3,228.3    - 
  Transportation, communication and energy   -     5,700.0    -     -     4,528.5    -   
  Wholesale and retail trade and                            
   personal activities   -     5,263.5    -     -     4,559.8    -   
  Real estate, renting and business activities   -     5,710.6     1,119.8    -     5,483.7    1,175.0  
  Agriculture, fishing and forestry   -     183.3    -     -     242.9    -  
  Other community, social and 
   personal activities   -      13,065.7    -     -     13,627.9    -  
   
 
          P 274.6   P 34,352.6   P  1,119.8    P 457.7   P 34,324.7   P 1,175.0  
 

Parent Company 
 
 Concentration by sector: 
  Financial intermediaries  P  228.5   P 842.2   P -    P 376.8   P 2,653.6   P - 
  Manufacturing    -     3,587.3    -     -     3,228.3    - 
  Transportation, communication and energy   -     5,700.0    -     -     4,528.5    -   
  Wholesale and retail trade and                            
   personal activities   -     5,263.5    -     -     4,559.8    -   
  Real estate, renting and business activities-   -     5,710.6     1,119.8    -     5,483.7    1,175.0 
  Agriculture, fishing and forestry   -     183.3    -     -     242.9    - 
  Other community, social and 
   personal activities   -     12,900.6    -                -     13,509.8    -  
   
 
          P 228.5   P 34,187.5   P 1,119.8   P 376.8   P 34,206.6   P 1,1175.0  
 
 *Financial Assets at FVOCI (2018)/AFS Financial Assets (2017) do not include equity securities. 
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5.3.4 Collateral Held as Security and Other Credit Enhancements 
 

The Group holds collateral against loans and other receivables in the form of mortgage 
interests over real and personal properties.  Estimates of fair value are based on the value of 
collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and are periodically updated. 

 
Estimate of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against the 
following credit exposures as of December 31 follows: 
 
     2018     2017   

 
  Receivable from customers –  
  corporate 
  Real property  P 5,742.6   P 7,914.5  
  Personal property   40,755.5    47,554.2  
 
    P 46,498.1   P 55,468.7 
 

Receivable from customers –  
  consumer 
  Real property  P 13,511.0   P 10,064.8  
  Personal property   539.6    480.7  

 
    P 14,050.6   P 10,545.5  
 
  Other receivables 
  Real property  P 113.6   P 103.9  
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no collateral is held for cash and cash equivalents and 
financial assets at FVOCI. 
 
The Group’s manner of disposing the collateral for impaired loans and receivables is 
normally through sale of these assets after foreclosure proceedings have taken place.  Aside 
from the foregoing, there are no other credit enhancements on the Group’s financial assets 
held as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
(a) Receivable from Customers – Corporate 

 
The general creditworthiness of a corporate customer tends to be the most relevant 
indicator of credit quality of a loan extended to it.  However, collateral provides 
additional security and the Group generally requests that corporate borrowers provide it.  
The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating 
charges over all corporate assets and other liens and guarantees.   

 
While the Group is focused on corporate customers’ creditworthiness, it continuously 
and regularly updates the valuation of collateral held against all loans to corporate 
customers.  Most frequent updating, however, is required when the loan is put on a 
watch list and the loan is monitored more closely.  The same applies to credit-impaired 
loans, as the Group obtains appraisals of collateral to provide input into determining the 
management credit risk actions.   
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At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired  
(loans under Stages 2 and 3) receivables from corporate customers amounted to  
P612.3 and P485.2, respectively, and the value of identifiable collateral  
(mainly commercial properties) held against those loans and advances amounted to 
P656.0 and P1,423.1, respectively.  For each loan, the value of disclosed collateral is 
capped at the nominal amount of the loan that it is held against.   

 
(b) Receivable from Customers – Consumer 

 
The general creditworthiness of an individual customer tends to be the most relevant 
indicator of credit quality of a loan extended to it.  However, collateral provides 
additional security and the Group generally requests that individual borrowers provide it.  
The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating 
charges over all individual assets and other liens and guarantees.   

 
While the Group is focused on individual customers’ creditworthiness, it continuously 
and regularly updates the valuation of collateral held against all loans to individual 
customers.  Most frequent updating, however, is required when the loan is put on a 
watch list and the loan is monitored more closely.  The same applies to credit-impaired 
loans, as the Group obtains appraisals of collateral to provide input into determining the 
management credit risk actions.   
 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired  
(loans under Stage 2 and 3) receivables to individual customers amounted to  
P261.4 and P282.7, respectively, and the value of identifiable collateral  
(mainly commercial properties) held against those loans and advances amounted to  
P495.7 and P397.0, respectively.  For each loan, the value of disclosed collateral is 
capped at the nominal amount of the loan that it is held against.  
 

(c) Other Receivables 
 

The general creditworthiness of an individual customer tends to be the most relevant 
indicator of credit quality of a loan extended to it.  However, collateral provides 
additional security and the Group generally requests that individual borrowers provide it.  
The Group may take collateral in the form of a first charge over real estate, floating 
charges over all individual assets and other liens and guarantees.   

 
While the Group is focused on individual customers’ creditworthiness, it continuously 
and regularly updates the valuation of collateral held against all loans to individual 
customers.  Most frequent updating, however, is required when the loan is put on a 
watch list and the loan is monitored more closely.  The same applies to credit-impaired 
loans, as the Group obtains appraisals of collateral to provide input into determining the 
management credit risk actions.   
 
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the net carrying amount of credit-impaired  
receivables to individual customers amounted to P1.6 and P9.2, respectively, and the 
value of identifiable collateral (mainly commercial properties) held against those loans 
and advances amounted to P4.5 and P4.3, respectively.  For each loan, the value of 
disclosed collateral is capped at the nominal amount of the loan that it is held against.  
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5.3.5 Amounts Arising from Expected Credit Losses 
 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether Loans and Other Receivables and debt 
investment securities at FVOCI are credit-impaired (referred to as Stages 2 and 3 financial 
assets).  A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 

 
The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the 
likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations 
between counterparties.  The Group measures credit risk using PD, LGD and EAD. 

 
(a) Significant Increase in Credit Risk 

 
When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and expert credit assessment and including forward-looking 
information (FLI). 

 
The objective of the assessment is to identify whether a significant increase in credit risk 
has occurred for an exposure by comparing: 

 
 the remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date; with  

 

 the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated at the time of 
initial recognition of the exposure (adjusted where relevant for changes in 
prepayment expectations). 

 
The Group uses the following criteria in determining whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk: (i) quantitative test based on movement in PD; and  
(ii) qualitative indicators, such as substantial decline in sales or intermittent delays in 
payment; 

 
(i) Credit risk grading 

 
The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that 
is determined to be predictive of the risk of default and applying experienced credit 
judgement.  Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that 
are indicative of risk of default.  These factors vary depending on the nature of the 
exposure and the type of borrower. 

 
The credit grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default increases 
exponentially at each higher risk grade so, for example, the difference PD between an 
AAA and AA rating grade is lower than the difference in the PD between a B and B- 
rating grade. 

 



 - 50 - 

(ii) Generating the term structure of PD 
 

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD 
for exposures.  The Group collects performance and default information about its credit 
risk exposures analyzed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product and borrower as 
well as by credit risk grading.  For some portfolios, information from external credit 
reference agencies is also used.   

 
The Group employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and generate the 
term structure of PD estimates.  
 
(iii) Determining whether credit risk has significantly increased 

 
The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition at each reporting date.  Determining whether an increase in credit risk is 
significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and the borrower.  
What is considered significant varies across financial assets of the Group.  

 
The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial 
recognition based on qualitative factors linked to the Group’s risk management 
processes that may not otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely 
basis.  This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such 
as substantial decline in sales and intermittent delays in payments. 

 
If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to 
initial recognition, then the loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured 
as 12-month ECL. 

 
(b) Definition of Default 

 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:  

 
 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without 

recourse by the Group to actions such as realizing security (if any is held);  
 the borrower is more than 90 days past due on any material credit obligation to the 

Group; or 
 it is becoming probable that the borrower will restructure the asset as a result of 

bankruptcy due to the borrower’s inability to pay its credit obligations.  
 

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Group considers indicators that are 
qualitative (e.g. breaches of covenant) and, quantitative (overdue or non-payment). 

 
Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default as well as their 
significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances. 
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(c) Forward-looking Information 
 

The Group incorporates FLI into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an 
instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement 
of ECL. 

 
The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for 
each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has 
estimated relationships between macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit 
losses. 

 
The relevant macro-economic variables for selection generally include, but are not 
limited to, gross domestic product growth, unemployment rate, foreign exchange, stock 
market index, oil prices and interest rates. 

 
Predicted relationships between the key macro-economic indicators and default and loss 
rates on various portfolios of financial assets have been developed based on analyzing 
historical data over the past 10 to 15 years.  

 
The significance of the selected macro-economic variables as predictors of default may 
change over time as historical information is added.  As such, the generated 
macroeconomic models are updated at least on an annual basis. 

 
Management has also considered other FLIs not incorporated within the above 
economic scenarios, such as any regulatory, legislative, or political changes, but are not 
deemed to have a significant impact on the calculation of ECL.  Management reviews 
and monitors the appropriateness of FLIs at least annually. 

 
(d) Modified Financial Assets 

 
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including 
changing market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a 
current or potential credit deterioration of the customer.   

 
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in 
derecognition, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased 
significantly reflects comparison of its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based 
on the modified terms with the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial 
recognition and the original contractual terms. 

 
When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognized and allocated to 
Stage 1 (assuming it is not credit-impaired at that time). 

 
The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as 
‘restructuring’) to maximize collection opportunities and minimize the risk of default.  
Under the Group’s restructuring policy, loan restructuring is granted on a selective basis 
if the debtor is currently in default on its debt; or if there is a high risk of default, there 
is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original 
contractual terms and the debtor is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. 
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The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest 
payments and amending the terms of loan covenants.  Consumer and corporate loans 
and are subject to restructuring.  The Group’s Credit Committee regularly reviews 
reports on restructured activities. 

 
For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s restructuring policy, the estimate of 
PD reflects whether the modification has improved or restored the Group’s ability to 
collect interest and principal and the Group’s previous experience of similar action.  As 
part of this process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against 
the modified contractual terms and considers various behavioral indicators. 

 
Generally, restructuring is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit  
risk and an expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is  
credit-impaired.  A customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment  
behaviour over a period of time before the exposure is no longer considered to be  
credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss 
allowance reverts to being measured at an amount equal to Stage 1. 

 

(e) Measurement of ECL 
 

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of PD, LGD and 
EAD. 

 
ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD 
and EAD.  Lifetime ECL is calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and 
EAD.   

 
The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed in Note 5.3.5(a)(ii) under the 
heading “Generating the term structure of PD”. 

 
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default.  The Group estimates LGD 
parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted 
counterparties.  The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the 
claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the 
financial asset.  LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios and, for 
real estate lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices.  They are calculated on 
a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor. 

 
EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives 
the EAD from the current exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the 
current amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortization. The EAD 
of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default.  EAD is 
determined by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points 
in time using scenario and statistical techniques. 

 
As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 
financial assets, the Group measures ECL considering the risk of default over the 
maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s extension options) over 
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the 
Group considers a longer period.   
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Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial 
instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk characteristics that include: 
 
 instrument type; 
 credit risk gradings; 
 collateral type; 
 LTV ratio for retail mortgages; 
 date of initial recognition; 
 remaining term to maturity;  
 industry; and 
 geographic location of the borrower. 

 
The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular 
group remain appropriately homogeneous. 

 
For portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, external 
benchmark information (e.g. PD from external credit rating agencies, Basel LGD) is 
used to supplement the internally available data.  The portfolios for which external 
benchmark information represents a significant input into measurement of ECL 
include exposures to foreign borrowers and low default borrower segments. 

 
(f) Loss Allowance 

 
The following tables show the reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of 
the loss allowance by class of financial instrument.  Comparative amounts for 2017 
represent the allowance account for credit losses and reflect the measurement basis 
under PAS 39. 

 

 Group 

          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  
 

Receivables from customers – 

corporate 

  Balance at January 1   P 129.0 P 22.7 P 324.8 P 476.5 P 537.3 
  Transfers to:       
   Stage 1       -    -    -     -    -  
   Stage 2     (  0.4 )  0.4     -     -    - 
   Stage 3     (  0.7 ) ( 0.5 )  1.2   -    - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance   (  27.0 ) ( 14.2 )  35.0 (   6.2 )   17.8 
  New financial assets originated         46.0   -    0.6   46.6   13.5 
  Derecognition of financial assets   (  35.6 ) ( 6.6 ) ( 27.9 )(   70.1 ) ( 26.7 ) 
  Write-offs       -    -    ( 0.3 )(   0.3 ) ( 0.3 ) 
  

  Balance at December 31    P 111.3   P 1.8   P  333.4   P 446.5   P  541.6 
 

Receivables from customers – 

 consumer 

  Balance at January 1   P 15.2 P 1.9 P 41.4 P 58.5 P 85.7 
  Transfers to:       
   Stage 1       9.0   (  1.5 ) ( 7.5 )   -    - 
   Stage 2       5.5   (  7.2 )  1.7   -    - 
   Stage 3     (  0.5 ) ( 0.3 )  0.8   -    - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance   (  9.3  )  3.4   14.5    8.6   46.3 
  New financial assets originated    4.9  6.9  3.4  15.2  11.2 
  Derecognition of financial assets   (  1.1 )   -   ( 7.3 )(   8.4) (  5.0 ) 
  

  Balance at December 31    P 23.7   P 3.2   P  47.0   P 73.9   P  138.2 
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          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  
 

 Other receivables 
  Balance at January 1   P 0.4  P 0.2 P 25.7  P 26.3 P 5.0 
  Transfers to: 
   Stage 1     (  0.1 )  -    0.1    -    - 
   Stage 2      -    (  0.2 )   0.2  -    -  
   Stage 3      -   -   -   -   - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance    -   -    3.0   3.0   21.3 
  New financial assets originated    0.8  0.3  8.0  9.1  - 
  Derecognition of financial assets   (  0.4 )  -  (  7.6) (    8.0 )  -  
  

Balance at December 31    P 0.7   P 0.3   P  29.4   P 30.4   P  26.3 
 

 Parent Company 

          2018   2017  
     Stage 1    Stage 2   Stage 3   Total    Total  
 

Receivables from customers – 

corporate 

  Balance at January 1 [see Note 2.2(d)]   P 129.0 P 22.7 P 324.8 P 476.5 P 537.3 
  Transfers to:       
   Stage 1       -    -    -     -    -  
   Stage 2     (  0.4 )  0.4     -     -    - 
   Stage 3     (  0.7 ) ( 0.5 )  1.2   -    - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance   (  27.0 ) ( 14.2 )  35.0 (   6.2 )   17.8 
  New financial assets originated         46.0   -    0.6   46.6   13.5 
  Derecognition of financial assets   (  35.6 ) ( 6.6 ) ( 27.9 )(   70.1)  ( 26.7 ) 
  Write-offs       -    -    ( 0.3 )(   0.3)  ( 0.3 ) 
  

  Balance at December 31    P 111.3   P 1.8   P  333.4   P 446.5   P  541.6 
 

Receivables from customers – 

 consumer 

  Balance at January 1 [see Note 2.2(d)]   P 15.2 P 1.9 P 41.4 P 58.5 P 85.7 
  Transfers to:       
   Stage 1       9.0   (  1.5 ) ( 7.5 )   -    - 
   Stage 2       5.5   (  7.2 )  1.7   -    - 
   Stage 3     (  0.5 ) ( 0.3 )  0.8   -    - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance   (  9.3  )  3.4   14.5    8.6   46.3 
  New financial assets originated    4.9  6.9  3.4  15.2  11.2 
  Derecognition of financial assets   (  1.1 )   -   ( 7.3 )(   8.4) (  5.0 ) 
  

  Balance at December 31    P 23.7   P 3.2   P  47.0   P 73.9   P  138.2 
 
 

Other receivables 

  Balance at January 1 [see Note 2.2(d)]   P 0.4  P 0.2 P 25.7  P 26.3 P 5.0 
  Transfers to: 
   Stage 1     (  0.1 )  -    0.1    -    -  
   Stage 2      -    (  0.2 )   0.2  -    -  
   Stage 3      -   -   -   -   - 
  Net remeasurement of loss allowance    -   -    3.0   3.0   21.3 
  New financial assets originated     0.8  0.3  7.8  8.9  - 

 Derecognition of financial assets   (  0.4 )  -   (  7.6) (    8.0 )  -  
  
  Balance at December 31    P 0.7   P 0.3   P  29.2   P 30.2   P  26.3 
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5.3.6 Impaired Financial Assets – Comparative Information Under PAS 39 
 

The Group holds collateral against loans and other receivables in the form of mortgage 
interests over real and personal properties.  Estimates of fair value are based on the value of 
collateral assessed at the time of borrowing, and are periodically updated especially when a 
loan is individually assessed as impaired.   

 
  2017  
     Group   Parent  
 

Individually impaired:           
 Grade C: EM P 376.8 P 376.8 
 Grade D: Substandard  217.6  217.6 
 Grade E: Doubtful  173.8  173.8 
 Grade F: Loss  196.0  196.0 
 Gross amount  964.2  964.2 
 
Collectively Impaired –  
 Unclassified  6,737.1  6,619.0 
 
Past due but not impaired:             
 Aging of past due             
  Below 30 days  77.8  77.8 
  30-60 days  7.9  7.9 
  61-90 days  30.1  30.1 
  91-180 days  23.4  23.4 
  More than 180 days  -   -  

   Gross amount  139.2  139.2 
 

Neither past due nor impaired           
 Grade B: Watchlisted  253.0  253.0 
 Unclassified  26,937.3  26,937.3 
 Gross amount  27,190.3  27,190.3 
 
Total gross amount  35,030.8  34,912.7 
Allowance for impairment (  706.1 ) (  706.1 ) 
 
Carrying amount P 34,324.7 P 34,206.6 

 
5.4 Liquidity Risk 
 
The primary business of financing companies entails the borrowing and relending of funds.  
Consequently, financing companies are subject to substantial leverage, and are therefore 
exposed to the potential financial risks that accompany borrowing. 
 
The Group expects that its continued asset expansion will result in higher funding 
requirements in the future.  Like most financing companies in the Philippines, the Group 
does not have a license to engage in quasi-banking function, and as such, it is precluded 
from engaging in deposit-taking activities.  In addition, it is precluded under the General 
Banking Act from incurring borrowings from more than 19 lenders at any one time, which 
to some extent, restricts its access to the public debt markets. 
 
The Group believes that it currently has adequate debt funding from banks, other financial 
institutions, and through the issuance of Short-Term Commercial Papers (STCPs).  The 
P15.0 billion STCP licenses have been renewed in 2017.  In 2018, the Group renewed the 
P15.0 billion STCP licenses. 
 
The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing 
payments for short-term and long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in its 
day-to-day business. 
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Presented below and in the succeeding page are the financial assets and financial liabilities as 
of December 31, 2018 and 2017 analyzed according to when these are expected to be 
recovered or settled.   

 
          Group        
    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 

2018 
 
Financial assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  P 274.6   P -    P -    P -    P 274.6 
 Financial assets at FVOCI   -     -     1,107.3    2,484.6    3,591.9 
 Loans and other receivables   1,843.3    3,317.6    13,128.5    16,063.2    34,352.6 

 
    P 2,117.9   P 3,317.6   P 14,235.8   P 18,547.8   P 38,219.1 

  
Financial liabilities  
 Bills payable  P 23,396.3   P 3,765.6   P 1,815.9   P -    P 28,977.8 
 Accounts payable and     

 other liabilities    539.8    -     -     -     539.8 
 Lease deposits   620.2    1,058.1    3,210.2    1,743.8    6,632.3  
 
    P 24,556.3   P 4,823.7   P 5,026.1   P 1,743.8   P 36,149.9 
 

  
         Parent Company      

    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 
Financial assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  P 228.5   P -    P -    P -    P 228.5 
 Financial assets at FVOCI   -     -     1,107.3    2,484.6    3,591.9  
 Loans and other receivables   1,832.6    3,163.1    13,128.5    16,063.3    34,187.5 

 
    P 2,061.1   P 3,163.1   P 14,235.8   P 18,547.9   P 38,007.9 

  
Financial liabilities   
 Bills payable  P 21,142.4   P 3,765.6   P 1,815.9   P -   P 26,723.9 
 Accounts payable and      

 other liabilities    427.4    -     -     -     427.4  
 Lease deposits   603.3    1,052.9    3,179.2    1,707.0    6,542.4 
 
    P 22,173.1   P 4,818.5   P 4,995.1   P 1,707.0   P 33,693.7 

 
    
          Group        
    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 

2017 
 
Financial assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  P 457.7   P -    P -    P -    P 457.7 
 Available-for-sale financial assets   2,079.4    -     -     2,562.6    4,642.0 
 Loans and other receivables   4,478.2    8,145.4    13,544.9    8,156.2    34,324.7 

 
    P 7,015.3   P 8,145.4   P 13,544.9   P 10,718.8   P 39,424.4 

  
Financial liabilities  
 Bills payable  P 28,544.7   P 1,531.1   P  402.5   P -    P 30,478.3 
 Accounts payable and    

 other liabilities    790.3    -     -     -     790.3 
 Lease deposits   542.9    1,311.7    2,747.3    1,386.7    5,988.6 
 
    P 29,877.9   P 2,842.8   P 3,149.8   P 1,386.7   P 37,257.2 
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         Parent Company      
    One to    Three   One to    More     
    Three   Months to   Three   Than Three    

    Months   One Year   Years   Years   Total  
 
2017 
 
Financial assets  
 Cash and cash equivalents  P 376.8   P -    P  -    P  -    P  376.8 
 Available-for-sale financial assets   2,079.4    -     -     2,562.6    4,642.0 
 Loans and other receivables   4,360.1    8,145.4    13,544.9    8,156.2    34,206.6 

 
    P 6,816.3   P 8,145.4   P 13,544.9   P 10,718.8   P 39,225.4 

  
Financial liabilities   
 Bills payable  P 26,485.5   P 1,390.3   P  402.5   P -    P 28,278.3 
 Accounts payable and       

 other liabilities    586.5    -     -     -     586.5 
 Lease deposits   535.1    1,294.5    2,719.3    1,369.2    5,918.1 
 
    P 27,607.1   P 2,684.8   P 3,121.8   P 1,369.2   P 34,782.9 

 
The Group and the Parent Company’s maturing financial liabilities within the one to three 
month period pertain mostly to bills payable due to various private entities.  Maturing bills 
payable are usually settled through repayments.  When maturing financial assets are not 
sufficient to cover the related maturing financial liabilities, bills payable and other currently 
maturing financial liabilities are rolled over/refinanced or are settled by entering into new 
borrowing arrangements with other counterparties. 
 
5.5 Price Risk 
 
The Group is exposed to the changes in the market values of financial assets at FVOCI 
(2018)/AFS financial assets (2017) held as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.  The Group 
manages its risk by identifying, analyzing and measuring relevant or likely market price risks.  
To manage its price risk arising from its financial assets at FVOCI (2018)/AFS financial 
assets (2017), the Group does not concentrate its investment in any single counterparty. 
 
If the prices of financial assets at FVOCI (2018)/AFS financial assets (2017) changed by  
+/-2.3% at December 31, 2018 and +/-2.0% at December 31, 2017, then other 
comprehensive income would have increased/decreased by P54.3 in 2018 and by P64.8 in 
2017.  The analysis is based on the assumption on the change of the correlated equity indices, 
with all other variables held constant. 
 
 

6. CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES 
 
6.1 Carrying Amounts and Fair Values by Category 

 
The following table summarizes by category the carrying amounts and fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  Where fair value is presented, such fair value is determined 
based on valuation techniques described in the succeeding pages. 
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  Group     Parent  
  Carrying      Carrying     
  Amounts   Fair Values   Amounts   Fair Values  

 2018 
 
 Financial Assets 
  At amortized cost:   

  Cash and cash equivalents  P 274.6   P 274.6   P 228.5   P 228.5 
  Loans and other receivables   34,352.6    33,668.7    34,187.5    33,503.6 
      34,627.2    33,943.3    34,416.0    33,732.1 
 Financial assets at FVOCI   3,591.9    3,591.9    3,591.9    3,591.9 
 
     P 38,219.1   P 37,535.2   P 38,007.9   P 37,324.0 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost: 
  Bills payable  P 28,977.8    P 28,326.6    P 26,723.9   P 26,088.1  
  Accounts payable and 
   other liabilities   539.8    539.8    427.4     427.4 
  Lease deposits   6,632.3    5,299.9    6,542.4    5,218.7 
 
     P 36,149.9   P 34,166.3   P 33,693.7   P 31,734.2 

 
 2017 
 
 Financial Assets 
  Loans and receivables:   

  Cash and cash equivalents  P 457.7   P 457.7   P 376.8   P 376.8 
  Loans and other receivables   34,324.7    33,524.1    34,206.6    33,406.0 
      34,782.4    33,981.8    34,583.4    33,782.8 
 AFS financial assets*   3,242.0    3,242.0    3,242.0    3,242.0 
 
     P 38,024.4    P 37,223.8   P 37,825.4   P 37,024.8 

 
Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost: 
  Bills payable  P 30,478.3    P 30,341.7    P 28,278.3   P 28,156.3  
  Accounts payable and 
   other liabilities   790.3    790.3    586.5     586.5 
  Lease deposits   5,988.6    4,869.5    5,918.1    4,805.0 
 
     P 37,257.2   P 36,001.5   P 34,782.9   P 33,547.8 
 
*Unquoted AFS financial assets of the Group and the Parent Company amounting to P1,400.0 in 2017 have no available  
fair value data; hence, are excluded for the purpose of this disclosure.  

 
The methods and assumptions used by the Group in estimating the fair value of the financial 
instruments are as follow: 
 
(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

     
The fair values of cash and cash equivalents approximate carrying amounts given their 
short-term maturities. 
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(ii) Financial Assets at FVOCI (2018)/AFS Financial Assets (2017) 
 
The fair value of financial assets at FVOCI/AFS financial assets is determined by direct 
reference to published price quoted in an active market for traded securities.  On the 
other hand, unquoted AFS securities in 2017, are carried at cost because the fair value 
cannot be reliably determined either by reference to similar financial instruments or 
through valuation technique.  In 2018, unquoted security is determined based on pricing 
model developed by applying benchmark pricing curves which are derived using the 
yield of benchmark security with similar maturities (i.e., corporate bonds or notes). 
 

(iii) Loans and Other Receivables 
 

The estimated fair value of loans and other receivables represents the discounted amount 
of estimated future cash flow expected to be received.  Expected cash flows are 
discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. 

 
(iv) Bills Payable 
  

The estimated fair value of bills payable represents the discounted amount of estimated 
future cash flows expected to be paid.  Expected cash flows are discounted at current 
market rates to determine fair value. 
 

(v) Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities 
 

Fair values approximate carrying amounts given the short-term maturities of the 
liabilities.  
 

(vi) Lease Deposits 
 
Lease deposits are carried at amortized cost which represents the present value, hence, 
their fair values. 
 

6.2 Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures 
 

6.2.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 
  

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a recurring or 
non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for which 
fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS, are categorized into three 
levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the fair value.  The fair value 
hierarchy has the following levels. 

  
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that an entity can access at the measurement date; 
 

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from 
prices); and, 

 
 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs).  
 



 - 60 - 

The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the 
lowest level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 
 
For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry 
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
For investments which do not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined by 
using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to the 
current market of another instrument which is substantially the same after taking into 
account the related credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 
 
When the Group uses valuation technique, it maximizes the use of observable market data 
where it is available and relies as little as possible on entity specific estimates.  If all 
significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in Level 2.  Otherwise, it is included in Level 3. 
 
6.2.2 Financial Instrument Measured at Fair Value 

 
The following table shows the fair value hierarchy of the Group and Parent Company’s class 
of financial assets measured at fair value in the statements of financial position on a 
recurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.  For the purpose of this disclosure, the 
investments in unquoted equity security classified as AFS financial assets in 2017  
(see Note 8) amounting to P1,400.0, in the Group and Parent Company’s financial 
statements, is measured at cost less impairment charges because the fair value cannot be 
reliably measured and therefore, are not included.   

  
   Note   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
 December 31, 2018  

 
 Financial assets at FVOCI:   
 Equity securities  8  P 1,240.2 P 1,231.9 P -  P 2,472.1 
 Debt securities     1,119.8  -   -   1,119.8 
 
      P 2,360.0 P 1,231.9 P -     P 3,591.9 

   
 December 31, 2017  

 
 AFS financial assets:   
 Equity securities – quoted  8  P 2,067.0 P -  P -  P 2,067.0 
 Debt securities     1,175.0  -   -   1,175.0 
 
      P 3,242.0 P -  P -     P 3,242.0 
 

The Group and the Parent Company has no financial liabilities measured at fair value as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 

There were neither transfers made between Levels 1 and 2 nor changes in Level 3 instruments in 
both years. 
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6.2.3 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for Which Fair Value is 
Disclosed 

 
The following summarizes the fair value hierarchy of the Group and the Parent Company’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value in the statements of 
financial position but for which fair value is disclosed. 
 

     Group  
   Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
  December 31, 2018 
   
  Financial assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents  7  P 274.6 P -  P    -  P 274.6  
 Loans and other receivables  9   -   -   33,668.7  33,668.7 
  
      P 274.6 P -  P 33,668.7  P 33,943.3 

 
Financial liabilities: 

  Bills payable  14  P -  P -  P 28,326.6  P  28,326.6 
  Accounts payable and other              
   liabilities  15   -   -   539.8   539.8 
  Lease deposits  16   -   -        5,299.9         5,299.9 
  
       P -  P -  P 34,166.3  P 34,166.3 
   

 December 31, 2017 
   
  Financial assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents  7  P 457.7 P -  P    -  P       457.7 
 Loans and other receivables  9   -   -   33,524.1  33,524.1 
  
      P     457.7 P -  P 33,524.1  P 33,981.8
  

Financial liabilities: 
  Bills payable  14  P -  P -  P 30,341.7  P  30,341.7 
  Accounts payable and other               
   liabilities  15   -   -   790.3   790.3 
  Lease deposits  16   -   -         4,869.5        4,869.5 
  
       P -  P -  P 36,001.5  P 36,001.5 
 
     Parent Company  
   Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
  
  December 31, 2018 
   
  Financial assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents  7  P  228.5  P -  P -  P 228.5 
 Loans and other receivables  9   -   -   33,503.6  33,503.6 
  
      P 228.5 P -  P 33,503.6 P 33,732.1 
 
  Financial liabilities: 
  Bills payable  14  P -   P -  P 26,088.1 P 26,088.1 
  Accounts payable and other  
   liabilities  15   -   -   427.4  427.4 
  Lease deposits  16   -   -   5,218.7  5,218.7 
  
        P -  P -  P 31,734.2 P 31,734.2 
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     Parent Company  
   Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
 
  December 31, 2017 
   
  Financial assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents  7  P       376.8  P -  P -  P 376.8   
 Loans and other receivables  9   -   -   33,406.0  33,406.0 
  
      P 376.8  P -  P 33,406.0 P 33,782.8 
  
  December 31, 2017 
 
  Financial liabilities: 
  Bills payable  14  P -   P -  P 28,156.3 P 28,156.3   
  Accounts payable and other  
   liabilities  15   -   -   586.5  586.5 
  Lease deposits  16   -   -   4,805.0  4,805.0 
  
        P -  P -  P 33,547.8 P 33,547.8 
 

There have been no significant transfers among Levels 1 and 2 in the reporting periods. 
 
Summarized below are the information on how the fair values of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities are determined. 

 
(a) Financial Instruments in Level 1 

 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 
market prices at the end of the reporting period.  A market is regarded as active if 
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.  The Group 
acquired fixed rate corporate bonds classified as financial assets at FVOCI  
(previously AFS financial assets) and are carried at Level 1.  The fair value of the bonds 
is determined to be the current mid-price, which is computed as the average of ask and 
bid prices as appearing on Bloomberg.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group 
also holds preferred shares which are listed in the PSE and are designated as financial 
assets at FVOCI (previously classified as AFS financial assets) and are also are carried at 
Level 1.  The quoted market prices used by the Group are the closing share prices of 
the said preferred shares in the PSE as of the reporting period. 
 

(b) Financial Instruments in Level 2  
 

The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined by 
using valuation techniques or by reference to the current market value of another 
instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based on the expected cash 
flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.  When the Group uses 
valuation technique, it maximizes the use of observable market data where it is available 
and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.  If all significant inputs required 
to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included 
in Level 2.  Otherwise, it is included in Level 3.  The Group holds unquoted equity 
securities designated as FVOCI, where the fair value is determined based on the prices 
of benchmark debt securities which are also quoted in an active market or bond 
exchange. 
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(c) Financial Instruments in Level 3 
 

The Group classifies financial instruments that have no quoted prices or observable 
market data where reference of fair value can be derived; hence, fair value is determined 
based on their discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be 
received or paid, or based on their cost which management estimates to approximate 
their fair values. 
 

6.2.4 Fair Value Measurement for Non-Financial Assets 
 
Details of the Group and Parent Company’s investment properties and the information about 
the fair value hierarchy as of December 31 are shown below. 
   

   Group  
   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
2018 
 

 Land P -  P -  P 751.2 P 751.2 
  Building and improvements  -   -   52.1  52.1 

         
  P -  P -  P 803.3 P 803.3 

 
2017 
 

 Land P -  P -  P 670.5 P 670.5 
  Building and improvements  -   -   43.8  43.8 

         
  P -  P -  P 714.3 P 714.3 

  
   Parent Company  
   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
2018 

 
 Land P -  P -  P 525.1 P 525.1 

  Building and improvements  -   -   52.1  52.1 
         

  P -  P -  P 577.2 P 577.2 
 
2017 

 
 Land P -  P -  P 435.0 P 435.0 

  Building and improvements  -   -   43.8  43.8 
         

  P -  P -  P 478.8 P 478.8 
 
The fair value of the investment properties of the Group and Parent Company as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, under Level 3 measurement, was determined on the basis of a 
valuation carried out on the respective dates by either an independent or internal appraiser 
having appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the 
relevant locations.  To some extent, the valuation process was conducted by the appraisers 
in discussion with the management of the Group and the Parent Company with respect to 
determination of the inputs such as size, age, and condition of the land and buildings and 
the comparable prices in the corresponding property location.  In estimating the fair value 
of the properties, management takes into account the market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the assets in its highest and best use.  Based on management’s 
assessment, the best use of the investment properties of the Group and the Parent 
Company indicated above is their current use.   
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The foregoing fair value as determined by the appraisers were used by the Group and Parent 
Company in determining the fair value of discounted cash flows of the Investment 
Properties.  
 
The fair value of these investment properties were determined based on the following 
approaches: 
 
(a) Fair Value Measurement for Land 

 
 The Level 3 fair value of land was derived using the observable recent prices of the 

reference properties, which were adjusted for differences in key attributes such as 
property size, zoning and accessibility. 

 
(b) Fair Value Measurement for Buildings and Improvements 

 
  The Level 3 fair value of the buildings and improvements was determined using the 

replacement cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct an 
asset of comparable usage, constructions standards, design and lay-out, adjusted for 
obsolescence.  The more significant inputs used in the valuation include direct and 
indirect costs of construction such as but not limited to, labor and contractor’s profit, 
materials and equipment, surveying and permit costs, electricity and utility costs, 
architectural and engineering fees, insurance and legal fees.  These inputs were derived 
from various suppliers and contractor’s quotes, price catalogues, and construction price 
indices.  Under this approach, higher estimated costs used in the valuation will result in 
higher fair value of the properties.    

 
There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year for its non-financial 
assets.  Also, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value hierarchy in 2018 and 
2017. 
 
6.3 Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
 
Currently, all financial assets and financial liabilities are settled on a gross basis; however, each 
party of the lease agreement will have the option to settle such amount on a net basis in the 
event of default of the other party.  As such, the Group and the Parent Company’s residual 
value of leased assets amounting to P6,582.4 and P5,974.4 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively (see Note 9), can be offset by the amount of lease deposits amounting to 
P6,542.4 and P5,918.1 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 16). 
 
Moreover, the Group and the Parent Company’s bills payable amounting to P226.2 and 
P1,414.9 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, can be offset by the amount of 
financial assets at FVOCI with fair value of P1,240.1 and P2,066.6 as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017, respectively, and certain loans receivables with carrying value amounting to  
P268.5 and P1,045.7, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Notes 8 and 9). 
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7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include the following components as of December 31: 
 
  Group     Parent Company  

  2018   2017   2018   2017  
 

  Cash on hand and in banks  P 270.3   P 453.5   P 224.2   P 372.6 
  Cash equivalents   4.3    4.2    4.3    4.2 
 
       P 274.6   P 457.7   P 228.5   P 376.8 
  

Cash in banks earn interest at rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents 
represent a special savings account and time deposit with average maturity of 35 to 90 days 
and annual interest rates ranging from 0.25% to 2.63% in 2018, 0.3% to 1.5% in 2017 and 
0.3% to 1.2% in 2016. 

 
 
8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVOCI (2018)/AFS FINANCIAL ASSETS (2017) 
 

The composition of financial assets of the Group and the Parent Company as of  
December 31 pertains to the following: 

 
     2018    2017  
 
Equity securities: 
 Smart Communication Inc. 
  perpetual notes (Smart Notes)  P  1,400.0  P 1,400.0 
 San Miguel Corporation  
  preferred shares (SMC Shares)   1,232.1    1,232.1 
 First Gen Corp. Series “F”      
  preferred shares (First Gen Shares)   -     680.0 
 Other equity investments   0.8     0.8 
     2,632.9    3,312.9 
 
Debt securities:  
 8990 Holdings Inc. fixed rate bonds 
  (8990 Holdings Bonds)   937.2    937.2 
 Sta. Lucia Land Inc. fixed rate bonds 
  (Sta. Lucia Bonds)   200.0    200.0 
     1,137.2    1,137.2 
     3,770.1    4,450.1 
 Accumulated unrealized fair 
   value gains (losses) – net  (  190.7 )   179.4 
 Accrued interest receivable   12.5    12.5 
 
    P 3,591.9  P 4,642.0 
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A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of financial assets is as follows: 
 
     2018    2017   
  
 Balance at beginning of year   
  As previously stated   P -    P 3,521.6 
  Effect of adoption of PFRS 9 
  (see Note 2)   4,642.0    -  
  As restated   4,642.0     3,521.6 
 Redemption/maturity (  680.0 ) (  251.2 ) 
 Fair value losses - net (  370.1 ) (  28.4 ) 
 Additions   -     1,400.0  
  
 Balance at end of year     P 3,591.9   P 4,642.0  

 
In March 2017, the Group acquired Smart Notes amounting to P1,400.0 at an initial interest 
rate of 5.6%.  The Smart Notes are perpetual in nature and have no fixed redemption date. 
 
SMC Shares bear an annual dividend rate of 8.0%.  The 8990 Holdings and Sta. Lucia Bonds 
carrying fixed rates of 6.2% and 6.7%, respectively, both with a term of five years and three 
months.  The First Gen Shares carry a dividend rate of 8.0% per annum and are cumulative, 
non-voting, non-participating and non-convertible.  In July 2018, the First Gen Shares was 
redeemed.  No gain or loss was recognized by the Parent Company on the redemption. 
 
Dividend income earned from these financial assets are recorded as Dividend income 
account under Other Income-net in the statements of income (see Note 18).  
 
The Group and the Parent Company recognized fair value losses of P370.1, P28.4, P4.7 in 
2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.  From January 1, 2018, fair value losses are recorded as 
part of items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss in the statements of 
comprehensive income, except for debt securities wherein fair value losses are recorded as 
part of items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.  The fair values of these 
financial assets have been determined based on quoted prices in active markets (see Note 6). 
 
As part of the Group’s transition to PFRS 9, the Group recognized an impairment loss for 
debt securities which was credited to the balance of Net Unrealized Fair Value Gains 
(Losses) on Financial Assets at FVOCI account as at January 1, 2018 amounting to P1.2  
[see Note 2.1(b)].  During 2018, the Group recognized an additional impairment loss on 
financial assets at FVOCI amounting to P0.8, which is presented as part of Impairment and 
credit losses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statement of income and 
are offset to the fair value losses on debt instruments at FVOCI under items that are 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
The Group and the Parent Company recognized a gain on disposal of AFS financial assets 
amounting to P1.5 in 2016, which is recorded as part of Miscellaneous under Other Income 
(see Note 18).  There was no disposal of financial assets in 2018 and 2017. 
 
Certain financial assets with face amount of P1,232.1 and P1,912.1 as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017, respectively, were used as collateral to secure the payment of certain bills payable 
(see Note 14).   
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9. LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

This account consists of the following: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
  2018   2017   2018   2017  

 
 Receivables from customers: 

 Finance lease receivables  P  15,351.4   P 13,951.7    P 15,351.4   P 13,951.7  
 Residual value of leased  
  assets   6,582.4    5,974.4    6,582.4    5,974.4  
 Unearned leased income (             1,618.6 ) (  1,361.1 )  ( 1,618.6) (  1,361.1 ) 
      20,315.2    18,565.0     20,315.2    18,565.0  

 
 Loans and receivables  
  financed   14,299.2     16,022.8    14,299.2    16,022.8  
 Unearned finance income (  29.2 ) (  19.4 ) (  29.2) (  19.4 ) 
 Client’s equity (  31.6 ) (  33.3 ) (  31.6) (  33.3 ) 
      14,238.4     15,970.1      14,238.4    15,970.1  
 
Other receivables: 
 Accounts receivable   209.7    297.8    55.4                 188.4 
 Accrued interest receivable   63.9    97.6    63.9    97.6  
 Sales contract receivable   33.1    36.1    33.1    36.1  
 Dividends receivable    32.1      55.5     32.1     55.5  
 Accrued rental receivable    11.0     8.7    -     -   
      349.8    495.7    184.5    377.6  
      34,903.4    35,030.8    34,738.1    34,912.7  
Allowance for impairment (  550.8 ) (  706.1 ) (  550.6) (  706.1 ) 
 
     P 34,352.6   P 34,324.7   P 34,187.5    P 34,206.6  

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 83.4% and 82.6%, respectively, of the total receivables 
from customers of the Group are subject to periodic interest repricing.  Remaining 
receivables from customers earn annual fixed interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 16.5% in 
2018, 4.0% to 17.7% in 2017 and 4.0% to 19.6% in 2016. 
 
The breakdown of total loans as to secured and unsecured follows: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
  2018   2017   2018   2017  

 
Secured 
 Chattel mortgage  P 22,517.4   P 20,674.0   P 22,517.4   P 20,674.0 
 Real estate mortgage   2,144.7    2,492.2    2,144.7    2,492.2  
 Others   163.9    245.8    163.9    245.8 
      24,826.0    23,412.0    24,826.0    23,412.0 
Unsecured   9,526.6    10,912.7    9,361.5    10,794.6 
 
     P 34,352.6   P 34,324.7   P 34,187.5   P 34,206.6 
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An analysis of the Group’s and Parent Company’s finance lease receivables as of  
December 31, 2018 and 2017 is shown below. 
 
     2018     2017   
 
 Maturity of gross investment in: 
 Finance lease receivables 
  Within one year  P 1,336.8   P 1,589.9 
  Beyond one year but not           
   beyond five years    13,960.5    12,341.2  
  Beyond five years    54.1     20.6  
     15,351.4    13,951.7  
 
 Maturity of gross investment in: 
 Residual value of leased assets            
  Within one year   1,749.2    1,862.9 
  Beyond one year but not          
   beyond five years    4,828.5     4,106.8 
  Beyond five years    4.7     4.7 

      6,582.4    5,974.4  
 
  Gross finance lease receivables   21,933.8    19,926.1  

 Unearned lease income (  1,618.6 ) (  1,361.1 ) 
   
  Net investment in  
   finance lease receivables  P 20,315.2   P 18,565.0  

 
An analysis of the Group’s and Parent Company’s net investment in finance lease receivables 
follows: 

 
     2018     2017  
 
 Due within one year  P 3,011.2   P 3,370.8 
 Due beyond one year but not  
 beyond five years   17,255.2    15,172.4 
 Beyond five years    48.8     21.8 

 
     P 20,315.2   P 18,565.0 
 

Past due finance lease receivables amounted to P416.0 and P475.8 as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017, respectively. 
 
An analysis of the Group’s and Parent Company’s loans and receivables financed follows: 
 
     2018     2017  
 
 Due within one year  P 1,983.7   P 1,793.2 
 Due beyond one year but not  
 beyond five years   6,217.3    8,227.2 
 Beyond five years    6,037.4     5,949.7 

 
     P 14,238.4   P 15,970.1 
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Past due loans and receivables financed amounted to P688.2 and P411.2 as of  
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
An analysis of other receivables follows: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
     2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
Within one year    P 317.3 P 460.1 P 152.0 P 342.0 
Beyond one year     32.5  35.6  32.5  35.6 
 
    P 349.8 P 495.7 P 184.5 P 377.6 

 
Interest and discounts in the statements of income consist of interest on: 
   
  Group  

             2018     2017     2016  
 
Loans and receivable financed      P 998.4   P 979.3   P 834.4 
Finance lease receivables       895.2    853.5    835.8 
Financial assets at FVOCI       71.6    -     -  
Interest on defined benefit plan       1.3    3.1    3.1 
Cash and cash equivalents       0.6    0.8    0.8 
AFS financial assets       -     81.6    86.6 

           
             P 1,967.1   P 1,918.3   P 1,760.7 

 
  Parent Company  

            2018     2017     2016  
 
Loans and receivables financed      P 998.0   P 978.9   P 834.1 
Finance lease receivables       895.2    853.5    835.8 
Financial assets at FVOCI       71.6    -     -  
Interest on defined benefit plan       1.3    3.1    3.1 
Cash and cash equivalents       0.6    0.8    0.8 
AFS financial assets       -     81.6    86.6 

           
             P 1,966.7   P 1,917.9   P 1,760.4 

 
Interest income recognized on impaired loans and receivables amounted to P10.3 in 2018, 
P8.2 in 2017 and P9.8 in 2016. 
 
The changes in the allowance or impairment are summarized below.  

 
  Group  

            2018     2017     2016   
 

  Balance at beginning of year                  
   As previously reported       P 706.1   P 629.0   P 580.1 
   Effect of adoption of PFRS 9 (see Note 2)   (   144.8)   -     -   
   As restated       561.3    629.0    580.1 
  Reversal of impairment losses     (  10.4)   -     -  
  Impairment losses during the year      0.2    63.5    50.0 
  Accounts written-off     (   0.3) (  0.3 ) (   1.1 ) 
  Reclassification (see Note 11)       -    13.9  -  
   
 Balance at end of year      P 550.8   P 706.1   P 629.0  
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  Parent Company  
            2018     2017     2016   

 
  Balance at beginning of year                  
   As previously reported       P 706.1   P 629.0   P 580.1 
   Effect of adoption of PFRS 9 (see Note 2)   (   144.8)   -     -   
   As restated       561.3    629.0    580.1 
  Reversal of impairment losses     (  10.4)   -   - 
  Accounts written-off     (   0.3) (  0.3 ) (   1.1 ) 
  Impairment losses during the year      -     63.5    50.0 
  Reclassification (see Note 11)       -    13.9  -  
   
 Balance at end of year      P 550.6   P 706.1   P 629.0  

 
Certain loans and receivables with carrying amount of P268.5 and P1,045.7 as of  
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, were used as collateral to secure the payment of 
certain bills payable (see Note 14). 
 
In 2018 and 2017, the BOD approved the write-off of certain loans and receivable financed 
and finance lease receivables with a total carrying amount of P0.3 for each year. 
 
 

10. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The gross carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation and amortization of property and 
equipment at the beginning and end of 2018 and 2017 are shown below. 

     

   Transportation   Furniture,       
  and Other   Fixtures   Leasehold    
  Equipment   and Others   Improvements   Total  

 
 Group 

 
 December 31, 2018 

 Cost   P 4,439.4   P 47.6   P 1.3   P 4,488.3 
 Accumulated depreciation  
  and amortization (  2,193.4 ) (  38.7 ) (  1.3 ) (  2,233.4 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P 2,246.0   P 8.9   P -    P 2,254.9 

  
 December 31, 2017 

 Cost   P 4,385.5   P 41.4   P 1.3   P 4,428.2 
 Accumulated depreciation  
  and amortization (  2,136.0 ) (  34.7 ) (  0.9 ) (  2,171.6 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P 2,249.5   P 6.7   P 0.4   P 2,256.6 

  
 January 1, 2017 

 Cost   P 4,015.8   P 35.3   P 20.0   P 4,071.1 
 Accumulated depreciation  
  and amortization (  1,640.9 ) (  29.8 ) (  19.2 ) (  1,689.9 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P 2,374.9   P 5.5   P 0.8   P 2,381.2 
 
Parent Company  

 
 December 31, 2018 

 Cost   P -    P 47.6   P 1.3   P 48.9 
 Accumulated depreciation  
   and amortization   -   (  38.7 ) (  1.3 ) (  40.0 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P -    P 8.9   P -    P 8.9  

 
 December 31, 2017 

 Cost   P -    P 41.4   P 1.3   P 42.7 
 Accumulated depreciation  
   and amortization   -   (  34.7 ) (  0.9 ) (  35.6 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P -    P 6.7   P 0.4   P 7.1  
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   Transportation   Furniture,       
  and Other   Fixtures   Leasehold    
  Equipment   and Others   Improvements   Total  

 
 January 1, 2017 

 Cost   P -    P 35.3   P 20.0   P 55.3 
 Accumulated depreciation  
   and amortization   -   (  29.8 ) (  19.2 ) (  49.0 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount  P -    P 5.5   P 0.8   P 6.3 
 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property and equipment at the beginning and 
end of 2018 and 2017 is shown below. 
 

   Transportation   Furniture,       
  and Other   Fixtures   Leasehold    
  Equipment   and Others   Improvements   Total  
 

 Group 
 
 Balance at January 1, 2018, 
  net of accumulated  
  depreciation and  
  amortization  P 2,249.5   P 6.7   P 0.4   P 2,256.6  
 Additions   888.9    6.2    -     895.1  
 Disposals (  107.1 )   -     -   (  107.1 ) 
      Reclassifications  
   (see Notes 12.6 and 12.7)   76.1    -     -     76.1  
 Depreciation  

 and amortization charges 
 for the year (  861.4 ) (  4.0 ) (  0.4 ) (  865.8 ) 
 

          Balance at December 31, 2018,  
  net of accumulated  
    depreciation and  
  amortization  P 2,246.0   P 8.9   P -    P 2,254.9 
  

Balance at January 1, 2017, 
  net of accumulated  
  depreciation and  
  amortization  P 2,374.9   P 5.5   P 0.8   P 2,381.2  
 Additions   776.5    6.1    -     782.6  
 Disposals (  82.7 )   -     -   (  82.7 ) 
      Reclassifications (see Note 12.6) (  4.7 )   -     -   (  4.7 ) 
 Depreciation  

 and amortization charges 
 for the year (  814.5 ) (  4.9 ) (  0.4 ) (  819.8 ) 
 

          Balance at December 31, 2017,  
  net of accumulated  
    depreciation and  
  amortization  P 2,249.5   P 6.7   P 0.4   P 2,256.6 
 

Parent Company  
 
 Balance at January 1, 2018, 
 net of accumulated  
 depreciation and  
 amortization  P -    P 6.7   P 0.4   P 7.1 
 Additions    -     6.2    -      6.2 
 Depreciation  

and amortization charges 
for the year   -   (  4.0 ) (  0.4 ) (  4.4 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2018,  
 net of accumulated  
   depreciation and  
 amortization  P -    P 8.9   P -    P 8.9 
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       Transportation          Furniture,       
  and Other   Fixtures   Leasehold    
  Equipment   and Others   Improvements   Total  

 
Parent Company  

 
 Balance at January 1, 2017, 
 net of accumulated  
 depreciation and  
 amortization  P -    P 5.5   P 0.8   P 6.3 
 Additions    -     6.1    -      6.1 
 Depreciation  

and amortization charges 
for the year   -   (  4.9 ) (  0.4 ) (  5.3 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2017,  
 net of accumulated  
   depreciation and  
 amortization  P -    P 6.7   P 0.4   P 7.1 
  

The cost of fully depreciated assets that are still being used in operations amounted to  
P33.2 and P51.7 for the Group as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and  
P33.2 and P20.9 for the Parent Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
 
Depreciation and amortization charges for 2018, 2017 and 2016 are included as part of 
Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses account in the statements of income. 

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the net book value of transportation and other 
equipment leased out by the Group (nil for the Parent Company) under operating lease 
arrangements amounted to P2,246.0 and P2,249.5, respectively. 

 
In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Group disposed of certain equipment with carrying value of 
P107.1, P82.7 and P51.1, respectively, resulting in a gain on sale of P24.8, P6.0 and  
P10.7, respectively (see Note 18).   

 
 
11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

 

Investment properties include land, and building and improvements held for rentals and 
capital appreciation. 

 
The carrying amounts and accumulated depreciation at the beginning and end of 2018 and 
2017 are shown below and in the succeeding pages. 
  

                 Building and      
            Land    Improvements     Total  
 

 Group  
 
December 31, 2018 
 Cost         P  358.4   P  40.0   P  398.4   
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   19.6) (  19.6 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     ( 23.4 ) (   0.9 ) (  24.3 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  335.0   P  19.5   P  354.5 
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                 Building and      
            Land    Improvements     Total  
 

 Group  
 
December 31, 2017 
 Cost         P  369.9   P  38.9   P  408.8   
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   29.0 ) (  29.0 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     ( 24.5 ) (   0.9 ) (  25.4 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  345.4   P  9.0   P  354.4 

                      
January 1, 2017 
 Cost         P  462.5   P  63.5   P      526.0  
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   54.4 ) (         54.4 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     ( 44.5 ) (          0.6 ) (         45.1 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  418.0   P  8.5   P  426.5 

 
 Parent Company  

 
December 31, 2018 
 Cost         P  132.3   P  40.0   P  172.3  
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   19.6) (   19.6 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     (  23.4 ) (   0.9 ) (   24.3 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  108.9   P  19.5   P  128.4 
 
December 31, 2017 
 Cost         P  143.8   P  38.9   P  182.7  
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   29.0 ) (   29.0 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     (  24.5 ) (   0.9 ) (   25.4 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  119.3   P  9.0   P  128.3 
                      
January 1, 2017 
 Cost         P  236.4   P  63.5   P  299.9  
 Accumulated depreciation and amortization     -   (   54.4 ) (   54.4 ) 
 Accumulated impairment     (  44.5 ) (   0.6 ) (   45.1 ) 
 
 Net carrying amount      P  191.9   P  8.5   P  200.4 

 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts at the beginning and end of 2018 and 2017 of 
investment properties is shown below. 
 

                 Building and       
            Land     Improvements    Total  
 

 Group  
 
 Balance at January 1, 2018, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 345.4    P 9.0   P 354.4  
Additions         0.8     13.9    14.7  
Disposals      (   11.6 ) (  1.6 ) (  13.2 ) 
Reclassifications (see Note 12.5)       0.4    -     0.4   
Depreciation and amortization 
 charges for the year       -   (  1.8 )  (  1.8 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2018, 
 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 335.0   P 19.5   P 354.5  
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                 Building and      
            Land    Improvements     Total  
 

 Group  
 
 Balance at January 1, 2017, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 418.0    P 8.5   P 426.5  
Additions         1.0     3.7    4.7  
Disposals       ( 93.6 ) (  0.4 ) (  94.0 ) 
Reclassifications       20.0  (  0.3 )   19.7   
Depreciation and amortization 
 charges for the year       -   (  2.5 )  (  2.5 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2017, 
 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 345.4   P 9.0   P 354.4  

  
Parent Company  

 
 Balance at January 1, 2018, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 119.3   P 9.0   P 128.3  
Additions         0.8    13.9     14.7  
Disposals       ( 11.6 ) (  1.6 ) (  13.2 ) 
Reclassifications (see Note 12.5)       0.4    -     0.4  
Depreciation and amortization 
 charges for the year       -    (  1.8 )  (  1.8 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2018, 
 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 108.9   P 19.5   P 128.4  

 
 Balance at January 1, 2017, 

 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 191.9   P 8.5   P 200.4  
Additions         1.0    3.7     4.7  
Reclassifications       20.0  (  0.3 )   19.7  
Disposals       ( 93.6 ) (  0.4 ) (  94.0 ) 
Depreciation and amortization 
 charges for the year       -    (  2.5 )  (  2.5 ) 
 

 Balance at December 31, 2017, 
 net of accumulated depreciation 
 and amortization and impairment      P 119.3   P 9.0   P 128.3  

 
The appraised values of the investment properties as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 follow 
(see Note 6.2.4): 
 
    Group  
     2018     2017  
 
 Land    P  751.2   P  670.5 
 Building and improvements    52.1     43.8 
 

     P  803.3   P  714.3 
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      Parent Company   
     2018     2017  
 
 Land    P  525.1   P  435.0 
 Building and improvements    52.1     43.8 
 
     P  577.2   P  478.8 
 
Fair values have been determined based on valuations made by independent and/or  
in-house appraisers, which are the market value for land and building and related 
improvements and reproduction cost for certain building and improvements.  Valuations 
were derived on the basis of recent sale of similar properties in the same area as the 
investment properties and taking into account the economic conditions prevailing at the 
time the valuations were made.  In addition, there are certain significant assumptions that are 
considered in the valuation of these properties, based on the following: (a) extent, character 
and utility of the properties; (b) sales or listing of prices for similar properties; (c) highest  
and best use of the property; and (d) accumulated depreciation for depreciable properties.  
Internal appraisals were made for all properties with book value of P5.0 or less, while 
external appraisals were made for all properties with book value exceeding P5.0.  
 
Direct operating expenses incurred, such as real property taxes, insurance and security 
services, amounted to P4.7, P4.2 and P4.9 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, by the 
Group, and P3.1, P1.3 and P1.5 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, by the Parent 
Company, and was recognized as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs 
and Expenses in the Group’s and Parent Company’s statements of income. 
 
Depreciation and amortization charges amounting to P1.8, P2.5 and P3.9 for 2018, 2017 and 
2016, respectively, are included as part of Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses 
account in the statements of income.  There were no impairment losses recognized in 2018, 
2017 and 2016. 
 
Gain on sale of investment properties of the Parent Company, recorded as Gain on sale of 
investment properties as part of Other Income, amounted to P17.4, P59.1, and P9.5 in 2018, 
2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 18). 
 
 

12. OTHER ASSETS 
 

Other assets consist of the following: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
  Notes   2018   2017   2018   2017   

 
  Deferred input VAT 12.1  P 259.7   P 269.1   P -    P -  
  Equity investments 12.2   235.3    266.6     721.0     797.8 
  Deferred tax assets – net  22   126.2    110.1     126.2     110.1 
  Prepaid expenses 12.3   40.4    27.8     40.2     27.6 
  Retirement benefit asset 20   26.3    25.8    26.3    25.8  
  Intangible assets – net 12.4   15.5    29.4     15.5     29.4 
  Non-current assets  
   held-for-sale - net 12.5   3.6    9.8    3.6    9.8 
   Repossessed chattels and 
   other equipment - net 12.6    0.5     4.7    -     -  
  Miscellaneous – net 12.7    4.2     62.9     3.9     3.9 
 
                    P 711.7   P 806.2   P 936.7   P 1,004.4 
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The current and non-current portion of this account is shown below: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
     2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
Current     P  151.8 P  137.9 P  58.8 P  39.3 
Non-current      559.9   668.3   877.9   965.1
           
    P  711.7 P  806.2 P  936.7 P 1,004.4 

 
12.1 Deferred Input VAT 
 
Deferred input VAT pertains to the VAT due or paid by the Group on purchases of capital 
assets for lease in the ordinary course of business wherein the application against the output 
VAT is amortized over the useful life of the asset or 60 months, whichever is shorter.  

 
12.2 Equity Investments 

 
Equity investments consist of the following: 

 
  Group     Parent Company  

 %        
  Interest        

  Held   2018   2017   2018   2017     
 
   Subsidiary –                    
    BDO Rental 100%  P -    P -    P 485.7   P  531.2 
   Associate –                   
    MMPC Auto  
    Financial Services  
    Corp. (MAFSC) 40%                235.3     266.6    235.3     266.6 
                         
        P  235.3   P  266.6   P  721.0  P  797.8 

 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of equity investments is as follows: 

 
  Subsidiary     Associate  

     2018   2017   2018   2017     
 
  Acquisition costs   P 250.0   P  250.0   P  300.0   P 300.0 
  Accumulated equity in total  
   comprehensive income: 
    Balance at beginning of year, 
     as previously reported    281.2    380.9  (   33.4) (  19.9 ) 
    Share on adjustments due 
     to the adoption of PFRS 9   -     -     7.3    -  
    Balance at beginning of year, 
     as restated   281.2    380.9  (   26.1) (   19.9 ) 
    Dividend income (  35.0) (  120.0 )   -     - 
    Share in net profit (loss)  (  10.5 )    20.3  (   39.0) (   20.0 ) 
    Share in other  
     comprehensive income    -     -     0.4    -   
    Share in 2016 net operating 
     loss carry-over    -     -     -    6.5  
         235.7     281.2  (  64.7) (   33.4 ) 
 
        P  485.7   P  531.2   P  235.3   P  266.6 

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company holds 250 million common shares of 
BDO Rental representing 100% ownership. 
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On January 28, 2016, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with Sojitz Corporation, 
JACCS Co., Ltd. and Mitsubishi Motors Philippines Corporation, which resulted in the 
incorporation of MAFSC, as an associate of BDO Leasing.  MAFSC is registered with the SEC 
on May 31, 2016, to engage in extending credit facilities to individual and corporate buyers of 
Mitsubshi vehicles in the Philippines and commercial and industrial enterprises.  Its principal 
office is located at 38th Floor, Robinsons Equitable Tower, ADB Avenue cor. Poveda St., 
Ortigas Center, Pasig City.     

 
MAFSC started its commercial operations on June 1, 2016.  The Parent Company owns 40% of 
MAFSC by making a capital contribution of P300.0 and has exercised significant influence over 
MAFSC in 2016.  The Parent Company recognized share in MAFSC’s net loss in 2018 and 
2017 and is presented as part of Miscellaneous under Other Income account in the Parent 
Company’s statements of income (see Note 18). 

 
The summarized financial information in respect of the Group and Parent Company’s equity 
investments are set out below. 

 
         Total   Total         
        Assets   Liabilities   Revenues    Net Loss  

 
December 31, 2018 
 

   BDO Rental  P 2,944.1 P 2,458.4 P 974.1 (P 10.5 )
    
   MAFSC   P 7,727.9 P 7,139.6 P 789.2 (P 97.6 ) 

 
         Total   Total       Net Profit  
        Assets   Liabilities   Revenues    (Loss)  

 
December 31, 2017 
 

   BDO Rental  P 3,007.7 P 2,476.5 P 922.2  P 20.3 
    
   MAFSC   P 3,719.1 P 3,052.6 P 224.3 (P 50.1 ) 
 

A reconciliation of the above summarized financial information to the carrying amount of the 
investment in MAFSC is shown below. 

 
     2018     2017  
 
 Net asset of MAFSC   P  588.3   P  666.5 
 Proportion of ownership interest    40%     40% 
 

     P  235.3   P  266.6 
 

In 2018 and 2017, the Group and Parent Company have assessed that no impairment loss is 
necessary to be recognized for the equity investments. 

 
12.3 Prepaid Expenses 

 
In 2017, creditable withholding taxes of BDO Rental, Inc. amounting to P109.2, previously part 
of Prepaid Expenses, have been reclassified to Accounts receivable (see Note 9).  There was no 
similar transaction in 2018.   
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12.4 Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible Assets represent the unamortized cost of the leasing system of the Parent Company 
that was used starting 2015.  Amortization expense on intangible assets amounted to  
P13.9, P13.9, and P13.5 in 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively, and is included as part of 
Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses account in the statements of income. 

 
12.5 Non-current Assets Held-for-Sale 

 
The gross carrying amounts and accumulated impairment losses of non-current assets  
held-for-sale are shown below. 

 
     2018     2017  

 
   Cost  P 5.8    P 15.5  
   Accumulated impairment (  2.2 ) (  5.7 ) 
  
     P 3.6   P 9.8  

 
A reconciliation of the carrying amounts of non-current assets held-for-sale at the beginning 
and end of 2018 and 2017 is shown below. 
 

      2018     2017  
   Balance at January 1, net of 
    accumulated impairment  P 9.8   P 0.4 
   Additions   1.3    16.4 
   Disposals (  7.1 ) (  1.3 ) 
   Reclassifications (see Note 11) (  0.4 ) (  5.7 ) 
 
   Balance at December 31, net of 
    accumulated impairment  P 3.6   P 9.8  

 
12.6 Repossessed Chattels and Other Equipment 
 
Repossessed chattels and other equipment of the Group include certain transportation 
equipment returned to BDO Rental which were reclassified from property and equipment to 
other assets at year-end (see Note 10).  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Parent 
Company had no remaining repossessed chattels and other equipment. 
 
No depreciation expense and impairment loss was recognized on repossessed chattels and other 
equipment in 2018, 2017 and 2016. 

 
12.7 Miscellaneous Assets 

 
In 2017, Miscellaneous assets includes computer equipment and licenses amounting to  
P58.8, which are not yet fully installed and operational.  In March 2018, the Group purchased 
additional computer equipment and licenses amounting to P18.0.  In July 2018, such computer 
equipment and licenses were reclassified from other assets to property and equipment 
(see Note 10), and were leased out by the Group under an operating lease agreement with  
BDO Nomura Securities, Inc. (BDO Nomura) [see Note 21(n)].  
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13. ALLOWANCE FOR IMPAIRMENT 
 

Changes in the allowance for impairment are summarized below. 
  
  Group   Parent Company  
   Notes   2018   2017   2018   2017  
 Balance at beginning of year: 
 Loans and other receivables  9  P  706.1 P  629.0 P  706.1 P  629.0 
 Investment properties  11    25.4   45.1   25.4   45.1 
 Other assets  12.5    5.7  0.1    5.7  0.1  
 Balance before adoption of PFRS 9     737.2  674.2  737.2  674.2 
 Effect of adoption of PFRS 9  2.2(ii)  ( 144.8)   -   ( 144.8 )   -  
 
 Balance as restated     592.4  674.2  592.4  674.2 
  
 Reversals    ( 10.4)   -   ( 10.4 )   -   
 Adjustments    ( 4.6 ) ( 28.1 ) (  4.6) (  28.1 ) 
 Write-offs     ( 0.3 ) ( 0.3 ) (  0.3 ) (  0.3 ) 
 Impairment losses - net   0.2  63.5  -   63.5 
 Reclassification      -     27.9   -     27.9 
                    
      ( 15.1 )   63.0  ( 15.3 )   63.0 
 

 Balance at end of year: 
 Loans and other receivables   9   550.8   706.1   550.6  706.1 
 Investment properties  11    24.3   25.4   24.3  25.4 
 Other assets  12.5    2.2  5.7  2.2  5.7 
 
     P  577.3 P  737.2 P  577.1 P 737.2 
 
 
14. BILLS PAYABLE 

 
This account consists of:  
 

  Group     Parent Company  
   2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
Borrowings from: 
 Banks  P 25,452.6   P 19,783.2   P 23,207.6   P 17,592.2 
 Others   3,385.5    10,626.9    3,385.5    10,626.9 
Accrued interest   139.7    68.2    130.8    59.2 
 
     P 28,977.8   P 30,478.3   P 26,723.9   P 28,278.3 
 

The maturity profile of this account is presented below. 
 
  Group     Parent Company  

     2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
Within one year    P 27,161.9 P 30,075.8 P 24,908.0 P 27,875.8 
Beyond one year     1,815.9  402.5  1,815.9  402.5 
 
    P 28,977.8 P 30,478.3 P 26,723.9 P 28,278.3 
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Bills payable to banks represent peso borrowings from local banks (including BDO  
Unibank as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 – see Note 21), with annual interest rates 
ranging from 3.1% to 7.2% in 2018, 2.2% to 3.5% in 2017, and 2.2% to 3.3% in 2016.  As of 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, bills payable – others represent short-term notes issued to 
corporate investors, with annual interest rates ranging from 5.0% to 6.7%, 2.5% to 3.3% and 
2.3% to 2.7% in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.  These rates approximate prevailing market 
rates.  As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, bills payable amounting to P226.2 and P1,414.9, 
respectively, are secured by the Group’s financial assets at FVOCI (2018)/AFS Financial 
Assets (2017) with face amount of P1,232.1 and P1,912.1 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
respectively, and certain loans receivables with carrying value amounting to P268.5 and 
P1,045.7, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Notes 8 and 9). 
 
Interest and financing charges consist of interest on: 

    
        Note     2018     2017     2016  
 
Group 
 
Bills payable - banks      P 850.1   P 487.8   P 259.7 
Bills payable - others       314.5    356.7    408.6 
Amortization on lease deposits   16     5.6    3.8    3.3 

 Others           -      2.0    1.9 
         

             P 1,170.2   P 850.3   P 673.5 
 
Parent Company 
 
Bills payable - banks      P 758.9   P 424.9   P 206.4 
Bills payable - others       314.5    356.7    408.6 
Amortization on lease deposits   16     1.4    0.4    0.8 

 Others           -      2.0    1.9 
           

           P 1,074.8   P 784.0   P 617.7 
 

Presented below is the reconciliation of the liabilities arising from financing activities, which 
includes both cash and non-cash changes.   
 
     Group     Parent Company   
 

Balance as of January 1, 2018  P 30,478.3   P 28,278.3 
Cash flows from financing activities:   
 Repayments of bills payable (  174,115.4 ) (  161,900.3 ) 
 Additional borrowings   172,614.9    160,345.9   
    
Balance at December 31, 2018  P 28,977.8   P 26,723.9 
 
Balance as of January 1, 2017  P 27,268.1   P 25,312.1 
Cash flows from financing activities:   
 Additional borrowings   166,621.1    159,093.9   
 Repayments of bills payable (  163,410.9 ) (  156,127.7 ) 
    
Balance at December 31, 2017  P 30,478.3   P 28,278.3 
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15. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
  Accounts payable and other liabilities consist of the following: 
 
  Group     Parent Company  

     2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
Accounts payable  P 433.6   P 628.4   P  325.5   P  431.0 
Unapplied advance payments   74.0    133.5    69.6    131.7 
Accrued taxes and 
 other expenses   24.6    61.6    23.5    61.5 
Withholding taxes payable   22.7    26.0    21.7    24.0 
Other liabilities   32.2    28.4    32.3    23.8 

 
     P 587.1   P 877.9   P 472.6   P 672.0 

  
Accounts payable include amount payable to BDO Unibank of P8.7 as of  
December 31, 2018, representing the Group’s liability arising from the stock option  
plan offered to the Group’s employees.  There are no related payable arising from this 
transaction in 2017 [see Notes 2.18(e)]. 
 
Other liabilities include, among others, taxes, and insurance, mortgage and other fees. 
 
Accounts payable and other liabilities have maturities within one year.  Management 
considers the carrying amounts of accounts payable and other liabilities recognized in the 
statements of financial position to be reasonable approximation of their fair values due to 
their short duration. 

 
 
16. LEASE DEPOSITS 

 
This account represents deposits on: 
 

  Group     Parent Company  
  2018   2017   2018   2017  

    
 Finance leases  P 6,542.4   P 5,918.1   P 6,542.4   P 5,918.1 
 Operating leases   89.9    70.5    -     -  

 
     P 6,632.3   P 5,988.6   P 6,542.4   P 5,918.1 

   
The current and non-current portion of this account is shown below: 

 
  Group     Parent Company  
       

     2018   2017   2018   2017  
 
 Current     P 1,678.3 P 1,854.6 P  1,656.2 P 1,829.6 
 Non-current     4,954.0  4,134.0  4,886.2  4,088.5
           
    P 6,632.3 P 5,988.6 P 6,542.4 P 5,918.1 

 
Interest expense on lease deposits accrued using the effective interest method in the Group’s 
financial statements amounted to P5.6, P3.8 and P3.3 in 2018, 2017 and 2016 respectively, 
and P1.4, P0.4 and P0.8 in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, in the Parent Company’s 
financial statements (see Note 14).  These are included as part of Interest and Financing 
Charges under Operating Costs and Expenses in the Group and Parent Company’s 
statements of income. 
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17. EQUITY 
  

17.1 Capital Management Objectives, Policies and Procedures 
 
   The Group’s capital management objectives are: 

 
 to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products commensurately with 

the level of risk; and, 
 

 to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to its overall financing structure and the 
Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  In order to 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The Group’s capital and overall financing as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are shown 
below.  
     2018     2017  
  
  Total equity  P 5,343.0   P 5,442.3  
  Cash and cash equivalents (  274.6 ) (  457.7 ) 
  
  Net capital  P 5,068.4   P 4,984.6 
  

  Bills payable  P 28,977.8   P 30,478.3  
   Lease deposits   6,632.3    5,988.6  
   Total equity   5,343.0    5,442.3  
 
   Overall financing  P 40,953.1   P 41,909.2  
 
   Capital-to-overall financing ratio   0.12:1.00    0.12:1.00  
 
Under Republic Act No. 8556, the Group is required to maintain the following capital 
requirements: 
 
(a) Minimum paid-up capital of P10.0 million; and, 
 
(b) Additional capital requirements for each branch of P1.0 million for branches established 

in Metro Manila, P0.5 million for branches established in other classes of cities and 
P0.25 million for branches established in municipalities. 

 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group is in compliance with this minimum 
paid-up capital requirement. 
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17.2 Preferred Shares 
 

  The Parent Company has 200,000 authorized preferred shares at P100 par value a share with 
the following features: 

 
(a) Issued serially in blocks of not less than 100,000 shares; 
(b) No pre-emptive rights to any or all issues on other disposition of preferred shares; 
(c) Entitled to cumulative dividends at a rate not higher than 20% yearly; 
(d) Subject to call or with rights for their redemption, either mandatory at a fixed or 

determinable date after issue; and, 
(e) Non-voting, except in cases expressly provided for by law. 

 
  None of these authorized preferred shares have been issued as of December 31, 2018  

and 2017. 
 

17.3 Common Shares 
 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, out of the total authorized capital stock of 
3,400,000,000 common shares with par value of P1.00 per share, 2,162,475,312 common 
shares, net of treasury shares of 62,693,718, common shares amounting to P2,162.5 are 
issued and outstanding. 
 
17.4 Retained Earnings – Free  

 
On February 21, 2018, the BOD approved declaration of cash dividends at P0.10 per share 
amounting to P216.2.  The dividends were declared in favor of stockholders of record as of 
March 9, 2018 and were paid on March 27, 2018. 
 
On February 22, 2017, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends at P0.2 per share 
amounting to P432.5.  The dividends were declared in favor of stockholders of record as of 
March 10, 2017 and were paid on March 29, 2017. 
 
On February 24, 2016, the BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends at P0.2 per share 
amounting to P432.5.  The dividends were declared in favor of stockholders of record as of 
March 11, 2016 and were paid on March 30, 2016. 

 
The Group’s retained earnings are restricted to the extent of the cost of the treasury shares 
as of the end of the reporting periods. 
 
17.5 Retained Earnings – Reserves 

 
In compliance with the requirements of the BSP, the Bank appropriated P147.0 for general 
loan loss provision to meet the 1% minimum provisions on loans (see Notes 2.13 and 9) and 
is presented under Retained Earnings – Reserves account. 

 
17.6 Track Record of Registration of Securities 
 
On January 6, 1997, the Parent Company was listed with the PSE with 106,100,000 
additional common shares and 15,120,000 existing common shares with par value of  
P1.00 per share.  The listing was approved by the SEC in May 1996.  As of  
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company’s number of shares registered totaled 
3,400,000,000 with par value of P1.00 per share and closed at a price of P2.19 in 2018 and 
P3.82 in 2017 .  The total number of stockholders is 1,116 and 1,122 as of  
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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18. OTHER INCOME 
 
This account is composed of the following: 
    
         Group      

         Notes     2018     2017     2016   
 
Dividend income   8    P  206.0   P 215.2   P  150.3  
Gain on sale of property  
 and equipment and investment 
 properties   10, 11      42.2    65.1    20.2  
Day-one gains – net       13.2    4.8    2.5 
Miscellaneous – net   8, 12, 21     48.7    30.9    30.4  

            
            P 310.1   P 316.0   P 203.4  
 

         Parent Company  
         Notes     2018     2017     2016   
 
Dividend income   8    P 206.0   P 215.2   P 150.3 
Gain on sale of  
 investment properties   11      17.4    59.1    9.5  
Day-one gains – net        4.5    1.3    0.1  
Miscellaneous – net   8, 12, 21     36.8    48.3    108.6 

           
           P 264.7   P 323.9    P 268.5  

 
Dividend income pertains to income earned for investments in Smart Notes, SMC shares and 
First Gen shares (see Note 8). 
 
Day-one gains – net represent the fair value gains on initial recognition of lease deposits 
(representing excess of principal amount over fair value of leased deposits), net of the day 
one losses on initial recognition of the residual value receivables under finance lease. 

 
 
19. LEASES 

 

  The Group’s finance lease contracts generally have lease terms ranging from  
24 to 60 months. 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Group enters into various operating leases with lease 
terms ranging from 12 months to 15 years.  Operating lease income, presented under Rent 
account in the Group’s statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 
and 2016, amounted to P938.3, P922.2 and P890.2, respectively.  
 
Future minimum rental receivables under operating leases follow: 

 
            2018     2017     2016  
 
Within one year      P 747.5   P 831.4   P 804.5 
After one year but not more 
 than five years       792.9    924.7    883.5 
More than five years       79.3    87.7    100.3 

          
           P 1,619.7   P 1,843.8   P 1,788.3 
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20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 

20.1 Employee Benefits 
 

Expenses recognized for salaries and employee benefits for the Group and the Parent 
Company are presented below. 
 

            2018     2017     2016  
 
Salaries and wages      P 134.7   P 130.9   P 122.1 
Bonuses        48.6    42.2    43.9 
Retirement – defined benefit plan     18.1    17.1    14.1 
Fringe benefits       10.3    15.2    10.7 
Employee stock option plan      8.7    6.3    16.9 
Directors’ fee       5.5    5.5    5.5 
Social security costs       4.1    3.9    3.9 
Other benefits       5.7    5.9    3.6 

           
            P 235.7  P 227.0   P 220.7 

 
The Employee benefits expense account includes the expense arising from Employee Stock 
Option Plan [see Note 2.18(e)] recognized by the Parent Company over the vesting period.  
The outstanding payable arising from this transaction as of December 31, 2018 (nil in 2017) is 
presented as part of Accounts payable under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account 
in the statements of financial position (see Note 15). 

 
20.2 Post-employment Benefits 
 

(a) Characteristics of the Defined Benefit Plan 
 

The Group maintains a wholly-funded, tax-qualified, noncontributory and multi-employer 
retirement plan that is being administered by a trustee bank covering all regular full-time 
employees. 
 
The normal retirement age is 60 with a minimum of five years of credited service.  The 
plan also provides for an early retirement at age 50 with a minimum of 5 years of 
credited service and late retirement after age 60 but not beyond 65 years of age, both 
subject to the approval of the Group’s BOD. 
 

(b) Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Financial Statements 
 

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the post-employment benefit costs and 
the related amount of contributions.  All amounts presented below are based on the 
actuarial valuation report obtained from an independent actuary in 2018 and 2017. 
 
The amounts of retirement benefit asset (presented under Other Assets account  
(see Note 12) the Group and the Parent Company recognized in the statements of 
financial position are determined as follows: 

 
     2018     2017   
 

   Fair value of plan assets   P 274.3   P  279.4    
   Present value of the obligation ( 245.3) (   251.6)   
   Effect of asset ceiling  ( 2.7) (   2.0)    
 
    Balance at end of year    P 26.3   P  25.8    
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The movement in the fair value of plan assets is presented below. 

 
     2018     2017   
 

   Balance at beginning of year    P 279.4   P 264.0    
   Interest income      15.8    14.8    
   Contributions to the plan      18.8    12.2 
   Return on plan assets (excluding 
    amounts included in net interest)  ( 15.5 ) ( 9.5)   
   Benefits paid ( 24.2 ) ( 2.1)  
 
    Balance at end of year      P 274.3   P 279.4    
 

The movements in the present value of the retirement benefit obligation recognized in the 
books are as follows: 

 
     2018    2017  
 

   Balance at beginning of year   P 251.6   P 205.5  
   Current service cost     18.1    17.1  
   Interest expense     14.3    11.3  

   Benefits paid   (   24.2) ( 2.1) 
   Remeasurements:           
    Actuarial losses (gains) arising  
     from changes in: 

    - experience adjustments    23.8    72.6  
    - financial assumptions  (  20.6) ( 18.7) 
    - demographic assumptions  (  17.7) (  34.1) 
    

   Balance at end of year    P 245.3   P 251.6  
 

The composition of the fair value of plan assets at the end of the reporting period for 
each category and risk characteristics is shown below. 

 
     2018     2017  
 
   Cash and cash equivalents  P 11.7  P 31.4 
   Unit investment trust funds   58.9    61.4 
   Loans   16.7    12.6 
   Equity instruments   5.4    6.6 
   Real estate   3.7    2.8 
      96.4    114.8 
   Debt instruments:       
    Government bonds   27.3    90.9 
    Other bonds   151.2    57.8 
       178.5    148.7 
 
   Others (  0.6)    15.9 
    
     P 274.3  P 279.4 
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The retirement trust fund assets are valued by the fund manager at fair value using the 
mark-to-market valuation.  While no significant changes in asset allocation are expected 
in the next financial year, the retirement plan trustee may make changes at any time. 

 
Actual return on plan assets amounted P0.3 in 2018, P5.3 in 2017 and P11.2 in 2016.  
 
Except for certain shares of stock of the Parent Company, plan assets do not comprise 
any of the Parent Company’s own financial instruments or any of its assets occupied 
and/or used in its operations [see Note 21(i)].   
 
The components of amounts recognized in profit or loss and in other comprehensive 
income in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows: 

 
            2018   2017   2016  

 
  Reported in profit or loss: 

    Current service cost   P 18.1   P 17.1   P 14.1 
    Net interest income  ( 1.3 ) (  3.2 ) (  3.1 ) 
 
          P 16.8   P 13.9   P 11.0 
 
   Reported in other comprehensive income:             
    Actuarial losses (gains) arising from: 

- experience adjustments   P 23.8   P 72.6   P 8.6  
- changes in financial assumptions ( 20.6 ) (  18.7 )   2.1  
- demographic changes  ( 17.7 ) (  34.1 )   - 

 Return on plan assets (excluding 
  amounts included in net interest)   15.5    9.5    0.9  

   Effect of asset ceiling    0.6  (  5.1 ) (   2.1 ) 
 

          P 1.6   P 24.2   P 9.5  
 
Current service cost is presented as a part of Employee Benefits account.  The net interest 
income is included as part of Interest and Discounts account in the statements of income. 
 
Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income were included within items that will 
not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. 
 
In determining the amounts of the post-employment benefit obligation, the following 
significant actuarial assumptions were used: 

    
            2018     2017     2016  
 
   Discount rates       7.5%     5.7%     5.5% 
   Expected rate of salary increases     6%/7%/8%     6.0%/8.0%/     9.0% 
           9%/10%/11%    9.0%/10.0% 
 

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mortality 
tables.  The projected retirement date of the employees is at age 60 or at age of 50 with 
completion of 10 years of service, whichever is shorter.  These assumptions were 
developed by management with the assistance of an independent actuary.  Discount 
factors are determined close to the end of each reporting period by reference to the 
interest rates of a zero coupon government bond with terms to maturity approximating to 
the terms of the retirement obligation.  Other assumptions are based on current actuarial 
benchmarks and management’s historical experience. 
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(c) Risks Associated with the Retirement Plan 
 

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as investment risk, interest rate risk, 
longevity risk and salary risk. 
 
(i) Investment and Interest Risks 
 
The present value of the retirement benefit obligation is calculated using a discount rate 
determined by reference to market yields of government bonds.  Generally, a decrease in 
the interest rate of a reference government bond will increase the plan obligation.  
However, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s investments 
in debt securities and if the return on plan asset falls below this rate, it will create a deficit 
in the plan.  Currently, the plan asset is concentrated in debt instruments, unit investment 
trust funds, cash and cash equivalents and loans.  Due to the long-term nature of plan 
obligation, a level of continuing debt instruments is an appropriate element of the 
Group’s long-term strategy to manage the plans efficiently. 

 
(ii) Longevity and Salary Risks 
 
The present value of the retirement benefit obligation is calculated by reference to the 
best estimate of the mortality of the plan participants both during and after their 
employment and to their future salaries.  Consequently, increases in the life expectancy 
and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan obligation. 

 
(iii) Other Information 

 
The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial assumptions, 
the Group’s asset-liability matching strategy, and the timing and uncertainty of future cash 
flows related to the retirement plan are described as follows. 
 
(iv) Sensitivity Analysis 

 
The following table summarizes the effects of changes in the significant actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of the retirement benefit obligation as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017: 
 

     Impact on Retirement Benefit Obligation  
     Change in   Increase in   Decrease in 
      Assumption   Assumption   Assumption  
  
  December 31, 2018    
 
   Discount rate    +/-1.0%  (P 13.67 )  P            15.3 
   Salary growth rate   +/-1.0%    15.0   ( 13.6 ) 
 
  December 31, 2017     
 
   Discount rate    +/-1.0%  ( P 16.5 )   P           18.9 
   Salary growth rate   +/-1.0%    16.0   ( 14.4 ) 

 



 - 89 - 

The table of sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding all 
other assumptions constant.  This analysis may not be representative of the actual change 
in the retirement benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would 
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated.  
Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the present value of the 
retirement benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit credit method at 
the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating the 
retirement benefit obligation recognized in the statements of financial position.   
 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not 
change compared to the previous years. 
 
(i) Asset-liability Matching Strategy 
 
The retirement plan trustee has no specific matching strategy between the plan assets and 
the plan liabilities. 
 
(ii) Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions. 
 
The plan is currently overfunded by P26.3 as of December 31, 2018 based on the latest 
actuarial valuation.   

  
The Group expects to make contribution of P18.8 to the plan during the next financial 
year. 

 
The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefits payments from the plan for the 
next 10 years follows: 

  
     2018     2017  
 
   Within one year  P 55.6  P 55.8 
   More than one year to five years   124.8    74.9 
   More than five years to ten years   203.6    125.2 
    
     P 384.0  P 255.9 

 
 
21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Group’s and Parent Company’s related parties include BDO Unibank, related party 
under common ownership, key management personnel and the retirement benefit fund as 
described in the succeeding pages. 

 
The summary of the Group’s and Parent Company’s transactions with its related parties in 
2018, 2017 and 2016 and the related outstanding balances as of December 31, 2018 and 
2017 are shown in the succeeding pages: 
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            Amount of Transaction   
   Related Party Category    Notes     2018     2017     2016  
 
Ultimate parent company  
 (BDO Unibank) 
 Interest income on savings  
  and demand deposits   (a)    P     0.6   P 0.8   P 0.7 
 Interest expense on bills payable  (b)        120.6    141.5    38.0 
 Rent expense   (c)          13.6    12.3    10.5 
 Management fees   (d)          16.0    13.8    2.4 
    Service charges and fees   (e)     1.4    -     -  
 Service fees   (f)            0.1    -     - 

  Employee stock option plan   2.18, 20            8.7     6.3    16.9  
 

Subsidiary (BDO Rental) 
 Dividend income   (j)           35.0      120.0    60.0  
 Management fees   (d)            0.4    0.4    0.4 
 Rent income   (c)            0.1    0.1    0.4 
 
Under common ownership 
 Service and charges fees   (g), (k)            4.3    5.0    5.5 
 Interest expense on bills payable  (l)          145.0    94.1    -  

  Operating lease income (n)           47.1    - -  
  Insurance expense (m)           0.3    - - 

  
Key management personnel  
 Short-term benefits   (h)     58.6    47.5    50.4 
 Loans to officers   (h)            1.7    3.8    5.0 

    
      Outstanding Balance  

   Related Party Category   Notes    2018     2017  
 
 Ultimate parent company 
 (BDO Unibank)    
  Savings and demand deposits (a)  P   269.8   P     453.0 
  Bills payable (b)       2,146.0     4,782.9 
  Employee stock option plan 2.18, 20              8.7    -               
 

 Under common ownership 
  Accounts receivable (k)             0.8          0.8 
  Bills payable (l)        1,988.8             3,901.0  
  Unearned rental income (n)            -                     4.6 
 
 Key management personnel 
  Loans to officers (h)             5.1     7.5 
 
 Retirement benefit fund  
  Shares of stock (i)             1.1     2.0 

  
(a) The Group maintains savings and demand deposit accounts with BDO Unibank.  As of 

December 31, 2018 and 2017, savings and demand deposit accounts maintained with 
BDO Unibank are included under Cash and Cash Equivalents account in the statements 
of financial position (see Note 7).  These deposits generally earn interest at annual rates 
of 0.25% in 2018, 2017 and 2016.  Interest income earned on these deposits in 2018, 
2017 and 2016 is included as part of Interest and Discounts account under Revenues in 
the statements of income. 
 



 - 91 - 

(b) The Group obtains short-term bills payable from BDO Unibank with annual interest 
rates ranging from 2.2% to 6.5% in 2018, 2.2% to 3.5% in 2017 and 2.2% to 3.0% in 
2016.  Total bill availments and payments amounted to P34,050.6 and P36,715.7, 
respectively, in 2018, P33,288.2 and P31,087.9, respectively, in 2017, and P21,532.7 and 
P22,205.6, respectively, in 2016.  These bills payable are secured by certain financial 
assets at FVOCI with fair value of P1,240.1 and P2,066.6 as of December 31, 2018 and 
2017, respectively (see Note 8).  The amount outstanding from borrowings as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017 is presented under Bills Payable account in the statements 
of financial position (see Note 14).  Interest expense incurred on these bills payable in 
2018, 2017 and 2016 is included as part of Interest and Financing Charges account under 
Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.   

 
(c) The Parent Company leases its head office premises and certain branch offices from 

BDO Unibank for terms ranging from three to five years, renewable for such period and 
under such terms and conditions as may be agreed upon with the Parent Company and 
BDO Unibank.  Related rent expense incurred in 2018, 2017 and 2016 is presented as 
part of Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses account under Operating Costs and 
Expenses account in the statements of income.  On the other hand, the Parent Company 
charges BDO Rental for the spaces that the latter occupies in the head office premises. 
Rent charged to BDO Rental in 2018, 2017 and 2016 is presented as part of Other 
Income-net account in the Parent Company’s statements of income (see Note 18).  
There are no outstanding receivables and payables on these transactions as of the end of 
2018 and 2017. 
 

(d) In 2013, the Parent Company entered into a service level agreement with BDO Unibank 
wherein BDO Unibank will charge the Parent Company for certain management services 
that the former provides to the latter.  Management fees paid by the Parent Company to 
BDO Unibank are shown as part of Other Expenses account under Operating Costs and 
Expenses in the statements of income.  Also, the Parent Company charges BDO Rental 
for the management services it renders to BDO Rental.  This is presented as part of 
Other Income-net account in the Parent Company’s statements of income (see Note 18).  
There are no outstanding receivables and payables on these transactions as of the end of 
2018 and 2017. 

 
(e) In 2018, the Parent Company sold portion of its receivables to BDO Unibank.  The 

Parent Company charged BDO for service charges and fees which are presented as part 
of Other Income-net account in the statements of income.  There is no outstanding 
receivable and payable on these transactions as of the end of 2018.  

 
(f) In 2018, the Parent Company entered into an agreement with BDO Unibank on stock 

transfer where BDO Unibank will charge the Parent Company for stock transfer services.  
Service fees paid by the Parent Company to BDO Unibank are shown as part of Other 
Expenses account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  
There is no outstanding receivable and payable on these transactions as of the end of 
2018.    
 

(g) The Parent Company engaged the services of BDO Capital and Investment Corporation 
(BDO Capital), a wholly owned subsidiary of BDO Unibank for underwriting services 
related to the Parent Company’s issuance of short term commercial papers.  Service and 
charges fees paid by the Parent Company to BDO Capital amounting to P2.0 for 2018, 
P3.2 for 2017 and P4.0 for 2016 are included as part of Other Expenses account under 
Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income.  There are no outstanding 
payables on this transaction as of the end of 2018 and 2017. 
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(h) Compensation of key management personnel (covering officer positions starting from 
Assistant Vice President and up) is included as part of Employee Benefits under 
Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income of the Group and Parent 
Company.  Short-term employee benefits amounting to P58.6 in 2018, P47.5 in 2017 and 
P50.4 in 2016, include salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, profit sharing and 
bonuses, and non-monetary benefits.  On the other hand, retirements benefits expense 
amounted to P8.7 in 2018, P7.0 in 2017 and P5.7 in 2016. 

 
The Group also granted loans to officers, which are secured by mortgage on the 
property, bear interest with a range a 7.0% to 9.0% per annum and have terms ranging 
from 3 to 4 years.  Outstanding loans to officers are presented as part of Accounts 
receivable under Loans and Other Receivables account (see Note 9).  The Group 
assessed that these loans are not impaired as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.   
 

(i) The retirement fund holds, as an investment, 519,915 shares of stock of the Parent 
Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, which has a market value of P2.19 and 
P3.82 per share as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 20.2).  The 
retirement fund does not hold any shares of stock of BDO Unibank. 
 

(j) In 2018, 2017 and 2016, BDO Rental declared cash dividends amounting to P35.0 
(received in 2018) and P120.0 (received in 2017), and P60.0 (outstanding in 2016, 
received in 2017), respectively.  No outstanding receivable on this transaction as of the 
end of 2018 and 2017. 

 
(k) In 2016, the Parent Company earned from BDO Insurance Brokers, Inc.  

(BDO Insurance) service charges and fees for accounts referred and are included as part 
of Miscellaneous-net under Other Income-net account in the statements of income  
(see Note 18).  This resulted to the outstanding receivable of the Parent Company from 
BDO Insurance in 2018 and 2017, which is recorded as part of Accounts receivables 
under Loans, and Other Receivables account in the statements of financial position  
(see Note 9).  These are receivable in cash and normally collectible within 12 months 
after reporting period.  The Group assessed that such receivable is not impaired.   

 
(l) In 2017, the Parent Company obtains unsecured, short-term bills payable from BDO 

Strategic Holdings Inc. and SM Prime Holdings, Inc with annual interest rates ranging 
from 2.6% to 5.3% and 3.3% to 6.7%, respectively, in 2018, and 2.5% to 2.6% and 2.7% 
to 3.3%, respectively, in 2017.  Total bill availments and payments amounted to P4,244.2 
and P4,155.4, respectively, in 2018 and P3,902.4 and P2,991.7, respectively, in 2017 for 
BDO Strategic Holdings Inc.  Total bill availments and payments amounted to P18,000.0 
and P20,000.0, respectively, in 2018 and P21,000.0 and P18,000.0, respectively, in 2017 
for SM Prime Holdings, Inc.  The amount outstanding from borrowings is presented 
under Bills Payable account in the statements of financial position (see Note 14).  
Interest expense incurred on these bills payable is included as part of Interest and 
Financing Charges account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of 
income.   
 

(m) In 2018, the Parent Company paid BDO Life Assurance Company, Inc. for Group Life 
Insurance of the Parent Company’s employees.  Insurance paid by Parent Company is 
presented as part of Occupancy and Equipment Related Expense under Operating Costs 
and Expenses in the 2018 statement of income.  No outstanding receivable and payable 
on this transaction as of the end of 2018. 
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(n) In 2017, BDO Rental, entered into Operating Lease Agreement with BDO Nomura 
which will commence in 2018 (see Note 12.7).  Prepaid rental made by BDO Nomura is 
included as part of Other Liabilities under Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities account 
in the 2017 statement of financial position.  In 2018, BDO Rental, entered into Operating 
Lease Agreement with SM Prime Holdings, Inc. and Alfamart Trading Philippines, Inc.  
Operating lease income earned from these transactions is presented as part of Rent 
account in the Group’s statements of income.  No outstanding receivable on this 
transaction as of the end of 2018.  

 
 
22. TAXES 
 

22.1 Taxes and Licenses 
 

This account is composed of the following: 
 

                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016  
 
Documentary stamp tax      P  215.2   P 148.4   P 131.1 
Gross receipts tax       93.2    86.2    81.3 
Local taxes        20.2    19.9    16.5 
Others           16.6     14.4    16.6 

         
            P  345.2   P  268.9   P  245.5 

 
              Parent Company   

            2018     2017     2016  
      

Documentary stamp tax      P 199.4   P 137.6   P 118.5 
Gross receipts tax       93.2    86.2    81.3 
Local taxes        12.5    12.0    11.1 
Others          15.1    10.8    16.6 

               
           P  320.2   P  246.6   P  227.5 
 

22.2 Current and Deferred Taxes 
 

The components of tax expense for the years ended December 31 follow: 
 
                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016  
 

 Reported in statements of income 
 Current tax expense: 
  Regular corporate income 
   tax (RCIT) at 30%      P 86.5   P 192.9   P 207.1 
  Final tax at 20%         14.4    16.8    19.0 
  Minimum corporate income  
   tax (MCIT) at 2%        0.2    -     -  
             101.1    209.7    226.1 
 
 Deferred tax income relating to 
  origination and reversal of  
  temporary differences     (   11.5) (   60.9) (  45.4 ) 

 
           P 89.6   P 148.8   P 180.7  
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                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016  
 
Reported in statements of comprehensive income 
 Deferred tax income relating to   
  origination of temporary differences: 
   Financial assets at FVOCI     ( P  4.1)  P -    P -   
   Actuarial gains and losses     (   0.5) (  7.3 ) (   2.9 ) 
   AFS financial assets       -   (  0.1 ) (  0.6 )
  
          ( P  4.6) ( P  7.4 ) ( P 3.5 ) 
         

                 Parent Company   
            2018     2017     2016  

 
 Reported in statements of income 

 Current tax expense: 
  RCIT at 30%      P 86.5   P 183.6   P 172.2  
  Final tax at 20%         14.4    16.8    19.0  
             100.9    200.4    191.2 
 

 Deferred tax income 
  relating to origination and reversal 
  of temporary differences     (      11.5) (   60.9 ) (  45.4 ) 
 
           P 89.4   P 139.5   P 145.8  

               
Reported in statements of comprehensive income 
 Deferred tax income relating to 
  origination of temporary differences: 
  Financial assets at FVOCI     ( P  4.1)  P -    P -   
  Actuarial gains and losses     (   0.5) (   7.3 ) (   2.9 ) 
  AFS financial assets       -   (   0.1 ) (   0.6 ) 
 
          ( P  4.6) ( P  7.4 ) ( P 3.5 )
  

A reconciliation of tax on pretax profit computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax 
expense reported in the statements of income follows: 

 
                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016  
 

 Tax on pretax profit      P  126.1   P 215.8   P 225.2  
Adjustment for income subjected 
 to lower tax rate     (  7.2) (  8.4 ) (  9.5 )  
Tax effects of: 
 Non-taxable income     (  46.9) (  48.0 ) (  47.5 )  
 Non-deductible expense       18.5    42.0    35.9  
 Non-deductible interest expense      8.8    8.3    10.1 
 Reversal of deferred tax liability    (  7.2) (  43.7 ) (   33.5 ) 
 Deductible temporary differences 
  not recognized     (  6.9) (  17.2 )   -  
 Unrecognized deferred tax assets on: 
  Net operating loss carry-over      4.2    -     - 
       MCIT        0.2    -      -  

 
           P 89.6   P 148.8   P 180.7  
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                Parent Company   
            2018     2017     2016  

 
Tax on pretax profit      P 126.0   P 213.0   P 214.7 
Adjustment for income subjected  
 to lower tax rate     (   7.2) (  8.4 ) (  9.5 ) 
Tax effects of: 
 Non-taxable income     (  44.3) (  53.1 ) (  71.2 ) 
 Non-deductible expense       21.3    40.4    35.9 
 Non-deductible interest expense       7.7     8.5     9.4 
 Deductible temporary differences 
  not recognized     (  6.9) (  17.2 )   -  

  Reversal of deferred tax liability    (  7.2) (  43.7 ) (   33.5 ) 
 

           P 89.4   P 139.5   P 145.8 
 

The components of net deferred tax assets (see Note 12) as of December 31, 2018 and  
2017 follow: 

 
  Statements of Financial Position  
  Group     Parent Company  

  2018   2017   2018   2017  
    

 Deferred tax assets: 
  Allowance for  
   impairment on: 
    Loans and discounts  P 93.5   P 87.9   P 93.5   P 87.9  
    Investment properties 
     and non-current assets  
     held-for-sale   7.9    9.3    7.9    9.3  
    Accounts receivable   9.1    7.9    9.1    7.9  
  Retirement benefit obligation  22.2    22.5     22.2    22.5  
 

   132.7    127.6    132.7    127.6  
 
Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Unrealized fair value gains  
   on financial assets at  
   FVOCI (  6.2 )   -   (  6.2)   -   
  Unrealized fair value gains  
   on AFS financial assets   -   (  10.3 )   -   (  10.3 ) 
  Lease income differential   -   (  7.2 )   -   (  7.2 ) 
  Others (  0.3 )   -   (   0.3)   -   
    (  6.5 ) (  17.5 ) (  6.5) (  17.5 ) 

 
  Net deferred tax assets  P 126.2   P 110.1   P 126.2   P 110.1  
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The components of deferred tax income in profit and loss and in other comprehensive 
income for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 follow: 
 
                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016  
 
In profit or loss: 
 

 Deferred tax assets: 
  Allowance for impairment on:  
   Loans and discounts      P  5.6   P 16.0   P 9.8  
   Accounts receivable       1.2    5.3    1.4  
   Investment properties and  
    non-current assets held-for-sale   (   1.4) (   4.3 ) (  1.1 ) 
  Retirement benefit obligation     (  0.8) (  0.1 )   1.8  
              4.6       16.9    11.9  
 
 Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Lease income differential       7.2     43.7     33.5 
  Others      (  0.3)    0.3    -   
             6.9    44.0    33.5 
  
 Net deferred tax income      P 11.5   P 60.9   P 45.4  

            
                Parent Company   
            2018     2017     2016  
  

In profit or loss: 
 

 Deferred tax assets: 
  Allowance for impairment on:  
   Loans and discounts      P 5.6   P  16.0   P 9.8  
   Accounts receivable        1.2     5.3     1.4 
   Investment properties and  
    non-current assets held-for-sale   (   1.4)  (  4.3 ) (  1.1 ) 
  Retirement benefit obligation     (   0.8)  ( 0.1 )   1.8  

 
             4.6        16.9    11.9  

 
 Deferred tax liabilities: 
  Lease income differential         7.2      43.7     33.5 
  Others      (   0.3)    0.3    -  
   
             6.9     44.0    33.5 
  
 Net deferred tax income      P  11.5   P  60.9   P  45.4 
 

             Group/Parent Company   
            2018     2017     2016  
 
In other comprehensive income: 

 
 Deferred tax income on:  
  Net actuarial losses       P  0.5   P  7.3   P  2.9  
  Unrealized fair value gains on    
   financial assets at FVOCI       4.1    -     -   
  Unrealized fair value gains on    
   AFS financial assets       -      0.1     0.6 
      
 Net deferred tax income      P  4.6   P 7.4   P  3.5  
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The Group is subject to MCIT, which is computed at 2% of gross income, as defined under 
tax regulations or RCIT, whichever is higher.  In 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Group claimed 
itemized deductions in computing for its income tax due. 
 
The Group has not recognized deferred tax assets on certain temporary differences, 
NOLCO and other tax credits since management believes that the future income tax 
benefits will not be realized within the availment period, as defined under tax regulations. 
 
The Subsidiary’s NOLCO can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income within 
three years from the year the taxable loss was incurred.  Also, the Subsidiary’s MCIT can be 
applied against RCIT for the next three consecutive years after the MCIT was incurred. 

 
22.3 Supplementary Information Required Under Revenue Regulation 

(RR) No. 15-2010  
 

The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued RR No. 15-2010 which required certain 
supplementary information to be disclosed as part of the notes to financial statements.  The 
supplementary information is, however, not a required part of the basic financial statements 
prepared in accordance with PFRS; it is neither a required disclosure under the SEC rules and 
regulations covering the form and content of financial statements under the Securities 
Regulation Code Rule 68, as amended. 
 
The Parent Company presented this tax information required by the BIR as a supplementary 
schedule filed separately from the basic financial statements. 

 
 
23. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
  Basic earnings per share were computed as follows: 

 
                 Group       
            2018     2017     2016   

 
 Net profit       P 330.7   P 570.5   P 570.0 
 Divided by the weighted average number 

 of outstanding common shares – net*      2,162.0    2,162.0    2,162.0  
       

Basic earnings per share      P 0.15   P 0.26   P 0.26  
 
                Parent Company   
            2018     2017     2016   
 
Net profit       P 330.7   P 570.5   P 570.0 
Divided by the weighted average number 
 of outstanding common shares – net*      2,162.0    2,162.0    2,162.0 

          
Basic earnings per share      P 0.15   P 0.26   P 0.26 
  

  * net of treasury shares 
 

There were no outstanding dilutive potential common shares as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017. 
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24. SELECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

The following are some of the financial performance indicators of the Group and the Parent 
Company: 
 

        2018   2017  
  
  Current ratio     41.96%     38.11% 
  Debt-to-equity ratio    677.47%     687.20% 
  Return on equity    6.13%     10.57% 
  Return on assets    0.78%     1.40% 
  Loans-to-assets     82.70%     80.12% 

 
 

25. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
25.1 Operating Lease Commitments – Group as Lessee 

 
The Group leases the head office and certain branch offices from BDO Unibank.   
Total lease payments presented as part of Occupancy and Equipment-related Expenses 
account under Operating Costs and Expenses in the statements of income amounted to 
P13.6 in 2018, P13.6 in 2017 and P19.6 in 2016.  

   
Future minimum lease payments under these operating leases follow: 

 
             2018     2017     2016  
  
Within one year      P 14.2   P 12.5   P 12.5 
After one year but not more 
 than five years       28.8   42.6    42.4 
More than five years       -     0.2    -  

        
             P 43.0  P 55.3   P 54.9 
 

25.2 Others 
 

  In addition to those already mentioned in the preceding notes, in the ordinary course of 
business, the Group incurs contingent liabilities and commitments arising from normal 
business transactions which are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements.   
As of December 31, 2018, management does not anticipate significant losses from these 
contingencies and commitments that would adversely affect the Group’s financial position 
and results of operations. 
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Appendix I

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for 
Dividend Declaration at Beginning of Year  2,626.8  P                     

Prior Year’s Outstanding Reconciling Items , net of tax
Deferred tax income 127.6 )(  P             
Share in net profit of subsidiary and an associate 20.5 )(                   
Net interest income on retirement benefit asset 3.2 )(                     

Day-one gain 1.3 )(                     152.5 )(                            

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for 
Dividend Declaration at Beginning of Year, as Adjusted  2,474.2                          

Net Profit Per Audited Financial Statements  330.7                            

Non -actual/unrealized income, net of tax
Deferred tax income 11.5 )(                   
Impairment reversal 10.4 )(                   
Net interest income on retirement benefit asset 1.3 )(                     

Day-one gain 4.5 )(                     
Unrealized foreign exchange gain 0.9 )(                     28.6 )(                              

Net income actually earned during the year  302.1                            

Other Transaction During the Year
Dividend declared 216.2 )(                 
Appropriation of retained earnings 4.4 )(                     220.6 )(                            

Unappropriated Retained Earnings Available for
Dividend Declaration at End of Year  2,555.8  P                     

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc.
(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

 Reconciliation of Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration
December 31, 2018

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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Adopted Not 
Adopted

Not 
Applicable

a

a

a

First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards a

a

Amendments to PFRS 1: Limited Exemption from Comparative PFRS 7 Disclosures for 
First-time Adopters  a

Amendments to PFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Date for 
First-time Adopters  a

Amendments to PFRS 1: Government Loans a
Amendments to PFRS 1: Deletion of Short-term Exemptions a
Share-based Payment a
Amendments to PFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations a
Amendments to PFRS 2: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions a
Amendments to PFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment 
Transactions a

Business Combinations a
Amendment to PFRS 3: Remeasurement of Previously Held Interests in a Joint Operation 
(effective January 1, 2019) a

Insurance Contracts a
Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 4: Financial Guarantee Contracts a
Amendments to PFRS 4: Applying PFRS 9, Financial Instruments , with PFRS 4, Insurance 
Contracts a

PFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations a
PFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources a

Financial Instruments: Disclosures a
Amendments to PFRS 7: Transition a
Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial Assets a
Amendments to PAS 39 and PFRS 7: Reclassification of Financial Assets - Effective Date 
and Transition a

Amendments to PFRS 7: Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments a
Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets a

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities a

Amendments to PFRS 7: Mandatory Effective Date of PFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures a

PFRS 8 Operating Segments a
Financial Instruments (2014) a
Amendments to PFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation* 
(effective January 1, 2019) a

Consolidated Financial Statements a
Amendments to PFRS 10: Transition Guidance a
Amendments to PFRS 10: Investment Entities a
Amendments to PFRS 10: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture* (effective date deferred indefinitely) a

Amendments to PFRS 10: Investment Entities – Applying the Consolidation Exception a
Joint Arrangements a
Amendments to PFRS 11: Transition Guidance a
Amendments to PFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations a
Amendment to PFRS 11: Remeasurement of Previously Held Interests in a Joint Operation 
(effective January 1, 2019) a

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities a
Amendments to PFRS 12: Transition Guidance a
Amendments to PFRS 12: Investment Entities a
Amendments to PFRS 10: Investment Entities – Applying the Consolidation Exception a

Financial Reporting Standards Council as of December 31, 2018

Appendix II
BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC.

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)
Schedule of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations

Adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 

PFRS 10 

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements 
Conceptual Framework Phase A: Objectives and Qualitative Characteristics 
Practice Statement Management Commentary

Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS)

PFRS 1 
(Revised) 

Amendments to PFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters

PFRS 2 

PFRS 3 
(Revised) 

PFRS 4 

PFRS 7

PFRS 9 

PFRS 11 

PFRS 12

-11-



PFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement a
PFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts a
PFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers a
PFRS 16 Leases* (effective January 1, 2019) a
PFRS 17 Insurance Contracts* (effective January 1, 2021) a

Presentation of Financial Statements a
Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 
Arising on Liquidation a

Amendments to PAS 1: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income a
Amendments to PAS 1: Disclosure Initiative a

PAS 2 Inventories a
Statement of Cash Flows a
Amendments to PAS 7: Disclosure Initiative a

PAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors a

PAS 10 Events After the Reporting Period a

Income Taxes a
Amendments to PAS 12 - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets a
Amendments to PAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses a
Amendment to PAS 12 - Tax Consequences of Dividends* (effective January 1, 2019) a
Property, Plant and Equipment a
Amendments to PAS 16: Bearer Plants a
Amendments to PAS 16: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortization a

PAS 17 Leases a
Employee Benefits a
Amendments to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans - Employee Contributions a

PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance a
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates a
Amendments: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation a
Borrowing Costs a
Amendment to PAS 23: Eligibility for Capitalization a

PAS 24 
(Revised) Related Party Disclosures a

PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans a

Separate Financial Statements a

Amendments to PAS 27: Investment Entities a
Amendments to PAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements a

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures a

Amendments to PFRS 10: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture* (effective date deferred indefinitely) a

Amendments to PAS 28: Investment Entities - Applying the Consolidation Exception a
Amendment to PAS 28: Measurement of Investment in Associates at Fair Value through 
Profit or Loss a

Amendment to PAS 28:  Long-term Interest in Associates and Joint Venture ( effective 
January 1, 2019 ) a

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies a
Financial Instruments: Presentation a
Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 
Arising on Liquidation a

Amendments to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues a
Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities a

PAS 33 Earnings Per Share a
PAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting a

Impairment of Assets a
Amendment to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets a

PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets a

PAS 28 
(Revised) 

Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS)

PAS 1 
(Revised) 

PAS 7 

PAS 12 

PAS 16 

PAS 19 
(Revised) 

PAS 21 

PAS 23 
(Revised) 

PAS 27 
(Revised) 

PAS 32 

PAS 36 
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Intangible Assets a
Amendments to PAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortization a

Investment Property a
Amendment to PAS 40: Reclassification to and from Investment Property a
Agriculture a
Amendments to PAS 41: Bearer Plants a

IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities a
IFRIC 2 Members' Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments a
IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease a

IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental 

Rehabilitation Funds a

IFRIC 6 Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic 

Equipment a

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29, Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies a

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives** a

Amendments to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC–9 and PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives** a

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment a
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements a

PAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their 

Interaction a

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC - 14, Prepayments of a Minimum 

Funding Requirement and their Interaction** a

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation a
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners** a
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments** a
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine a
IFRIC 21 Levies a
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration** a
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (effective January 1, 2019 ) a

SIC-7 Introduction of the Euro a
SIC-10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities a
SIC-13 Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers a
SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives a
SIC-25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders** a
SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease a
SIC-29 Service Concession Arrangements: Disclosures a
SIC-31 Revenue - Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services** a
SIC-32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs** a

*   These standards will be effective for periods subsequent to 2018 and are not early adopted by the Company. 

**  These standards have been adopted in the preparation of financial statements but the Company has no significant transactions covered 

      in both years presented. 

Philippine Interpretations - International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IFRIC 9 

IFRIC 14 

Philippine Interpretations - Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)

PAS 38 

PAS 40 

PAS 41 
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Appendix III

2018 2017 2018 2017

I. Current/liquidity ratios

Current ratio

12,347.8                  12,590.0                   0.42 0.38

29,427.3                  33,145.5                   

Quick ratio

12,195.7                  12,387.5                   0.41 0.37

29,427.3                  33,145.5                   

II. Solvency ratios; debt-to-equity ratios

Solvency ratio

1,212.2                    1,406.7                    0.03                       0.04                      
36,197.2                  37,399.3                   

Debt-to-equity ratio

36,197.2                  37,399.3                   6.77                       6.87                      
5,343.0                    5,442.3                    

III. Asset-to-equity ratio

Asset-to-equity ratio

41,540.2                  42,841.6                   7.77                       7.87                      
5,343.0                    5,442.3                    

IV. Interest coverage ratio

Interest coverage ratio

1,590.5                    1,567.7                    1.36                       1.85                      

1,170.2                    847.9                       

V. Profitability ratios

Net profit margin

330.7                      570.5                       10.28% 18.07%
3,215.5                    3,156.5                    

Return on equity

330.7                      570.5                       6.13% 10.57%
5,392.7                    5,395.9                    

Return on assets

330.7                      570.5                       0.78% 1.40%
42,190.9                  40,871.0                   Average assets

Average equity

Net profit

Total liabilities

Total liabilities
Total equity

Total assets
Total equity

Earnings before interest and taxes

Interest expense

Net Profit
Interest income + Other operating income

Net profit

Total current liabilities

Quick assets

Total current liabilities

(After tax net profit + Depreciation)

BDO Leasing and Finance, Inc. and Subsidiary
Financial Ratios

December 31, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts in Millions of Philippine Pesos)

Total current assets
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VI. Others

Total real estate investments to Assets

354.5                      354.4                       0.85% 0.83%
41,540.2                  42,841.6                   

Loans to Assets

34,352.6                  34,324.7                   82.70% 80.12%
41,540.2                  42,841.6                   

DOSRI to Net worth

5.1                          10.1                         0.10% 0.19%
5,343.0                    5,442.3                    

Amount of receivable from a single corporation to
Total receivables

882.3                      1,287.0                    2.57% 3.75%
34,352.6                  34,324.7                   

Loan to a single corporation
Total loans and other receivables

Total investment properties
Total assets

Total loans and other receivables
Total assets

Receivables from Directors, Officers, 
Stakeholders and Related Interests

Total equity
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Express Padala
(HK) Ltd.2/ 100% 

SM INVESTMENTS CORPORATION

BDO UNIBANK, INC. 
44.7% 1/

BDO Capital & 
Investment 

Corporation 2/

99.8760%

BDO Remit Limited 2/

(100%)

BDO Securities 
Corporation 2/

100%

BDO Remit 
(Macau) Ltd.2/

100%

BDO Strategic 
Holdings Inc. 2/

100%

BDO Life Assurance 
Company (formerly 
Generali Pilipinas Life 
Assurance Co., Inc.) 2/

BDO-97.0%, BDO 
Capital-3.0%

BDO Nomura 
Securities, Inc.2/

51%

BDO Private Bank, 
Inc.2/ 100%

BDO Remit 
(USA), Inc. 2/

100%

BDO Insurance 
Brokers, Inc.3/

100%
Equimark-NFC 
Development 
Corp.3/ 60%

SM Keppel Land, 
Inc.3/ 50%

Armstrong 
Securities, Inc. 2/

80% (b)

BDO Rental, Inc.2/

100%

BDO Remit (Italia) 
S.p.A.2/ 100% (a)

Taal Land, Inc.
33.33% 3/ (b)

Northpine Land, 
Inc.3/ 20%

NLEX Corporation 
(formerly Manila 
North Tollways
Corp.) 3/ 12.4%

(a) For dissolution
(b) For sale

- SMIC’s Subsidiaries/Affiliates
- Stockholder of BDO
- Subsidiary
- Affiliate
- Other Related Party

SY GROUP
Henry Sy Sr., Felicidad Sy, Teresita Sy, Hans Sy, Herbert Sy, Henry Sy Jr., Harley Sy, Elizabeth Sy

Unicorn First 
Properties, Inc. 

35% 3/ (a)

Venture Industry 
for Business 

Enterprises 2/ 24% 
(a)

BDO Unibank, Inc. Group Map
As of December 31, 2018

BDORO Europe 
Ltd.3/ 100%

BDO Remit 
International 

Holdings B.V.2/

(formerly CBN Grupo
International Holdings 

B.V.) 96.32%

Averon Holdings, 
Corporation 2/

100%

1/ SMIC Group’s effective ownership interest (includes direct &  indirect 
ownership)

2/ Financial entities
3/ Non-Financial entities

BDO Remit 
(Canada) Ltd.2/

100%

BDO Remit 
(Japan) Ltd. 2/

100%

One Network Bank, 
Inc. (A Rural Bank 

of BDO) 2/

99.8550%

BDO Leasing 
and Finance, 

Inc.2/

BDO-87.43%, 
BDO Capital-1.11%

MMPC Auto 
Financial  Services 

Corporation 2/

40%

BDO Remit 
(UK) Ltd. 2/

(formerly CBN 
London Ltd.)

100%

CBN 
Remittance 

Center S. A.2/

99.99%

CBN Greece 2/

S.A.2/ 99.92%
(a)

BDO Remit 
(Ireland) 

Designated 
Activity 

Company 2/

(formerly C.B.N. 
Ireland 

Remittance 
Centre 

Designated 
Activity Company) 

100%

RETAIL

SM Prime Holdings, 
Inc.  50% 1/

SM Retail
77% 1/

SM Stores

SM Supermarket

SM Hypermarket

Savemore

BANKING

China Banking 
Corporation 20% 1/

PROPERTY

Malls

Residential

Commercial

Hotels & 
Conventions



Appendix V

Gross/ Net Proceeds as disclosed in Final Prospectus

Existing  Commercial Paper Placements 12,194,200,000.00        
Payment of Maturing Obligation 2,107,000,000.00          
For Relending 687,241,375.00             
Issuance and Distribution Expense 11,558,625.00               

15,000,000,000.00        

Actual Proceeds - December 31, 2018

Gross Proceeds 3,399,500,000.00          
Net Proceeds 3,362,936,512.00          

Expenditures

Rollover 2,894,557,661.00          
Relending 24,693,454.00               
PN Payment 443,685,397.00             

Balance - December 31, 2018 11,600,500,000.00        

BDO LEASING AND FINANCE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

(A Subsidiary of BDO Unibank, Inc.)

Use of Proceeds

December 31, 2018

(Amount in Philippine Pesos)
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